
24 July 2019

Cabinet

Wednesday 24 July 2019 at 10.00 am

Cabinet Suite - Shire Hall, Gloucester

AGENDA

Item Discussion Portfolio

1 Apologies 

To note any apologies for absence.

Leader of Council 

2 Minutes (Pages 1 - 22)

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 19 June 2019 (minutes 
attached).

Leader of Council 

3 Declarations of Interest 

To  declare any pecuniary or personal interests relating to specific 
matters on the agenda.

Please see information note (1) at the end of the agenda

Leader of Council 

4 Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

Up to 30 minutes is allowed for this item.

Written questions 

To answer any written questions from a County Councillor, (or any 
person living or working in the county, or is affected by the work of the 
County Council), about any matter which relates to any item on the 
agenda for this meeting. 

The closing date for the receipt of written questions is 4.00 pm on 
Thursday 18 July 2019

A written answer will be provided for each written question and 
presented to the questioner and to Cabinet Members in advance of the 
meeting. The questions and answers will be taken as read at the 
meeting and need not be read out. At the discretion of the Leader of 
Council, each questioner in attendance at the meeting will be allowed to 

Leader of Council 



24 July 2019

ask one supplementary question in response to the answer to the 
original question. 

A copy of all written questions and written answers circulated at the 
meeting will be attached to the signed copy of the minutes of the 
meeting.

Please email questions for the attention of 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Urgent questions

An urgent written question may be asked by a member of the public 
about any item on the Cabinet agenda for that meeting which the 
Chairperson considers could not have been reasonably submitted by the 
deadline for the receipt of written questions, provided he or she gives 
notice of the question to the Chief Executive by 12 noon the day before 
the meeting.

KEY DECISIONS

5 Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20 (Pages 23 - 36)

To receive an update on the year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets. 

Finance and 
Change 

6 To Consider the Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire 
and the Relevant Consultation (Pages 37 - 164)

To seek Cabinet approval to close Southfield Care Home, Stroud and 
Wyatt House Care Home, Stroud and to consult with residents and their 
families on the impact of the closures.

Audit Social Care 

7 Delivery of Structural Maintenance Works 2020-2022 (Pages 165 - 
172)

To seek approval to procure and award a contract for the delivery of 
structural maintenance works for 2 years from April 2020 to 2022. 

Highways and Flood 

8 Children and Families Capital Programme Update (Pages 173 - 180)

To approve changes to the approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme

Economy, 
Education and Skills 

9 Targeted Family Support in Children and Family Centre Contract 
Extension (Pages 181 - 302)

To seek approval to exercise the contractual option to extend the 
existing contracts for the provision of targeted family support services in 
children and families centres in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and 

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years 

mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


24 July 2019

Stroud and Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities from 1 April 2020 to 
31 March 2022.

10 Establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System for the Procurement of 
Transport Contracts (Pages 303 - 322)

To seek approval to conclude the establishment of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for Transport Services.

Environment and 
Planning 

11 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic 
Purchasing System for Transport (Pages 323 - 334)

To seek approval to use the Transport Dynamic Purchasing System to 
procure and award passenger transport contracts and to provide 
feedback on progress in implementing passenger transport contract 
related decisions as agreed by Cabinet in July 2018.

Environment and 
Planning 

12 Commissioning of a Positive Behaviour Support Service for 
Children and Young People with a Learning Disability/Autism 
(Pages 335 - 356)

To seek approval to tender for the provision of an intensive Positive 
Behaviour Service for Children and Young People with learning 
disabilities and/or autism.  

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years 

13 A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal 
Improvements (Contract Procurement and Ancillary Orders) (Pages 
357 - 368)

To authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority, to receive 
funds from Highways England (via Cotswold Canal Trust) for the 
proposes of procuring a contract for works in respect of the proposed 
A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements 

Highways and Flood 

INFORMATION REPORT

14 Responding to the Climate Emergency: Draft Climate Change 
Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25 (Pages 369 - 384)

An information report from Cllr Nigel Moor 

Environment and 
Planning 

CABINET
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE, Cllr Richard Boyles, Cllr Tim Harman, Cllr Patrick Molyneux, 
Cllr Nigel Moor, Cllr David Norman MBE, Cllr Vernon Smith, Cllr Lynden Stowe, Cllr Kathy Williams 
and Cllr Roger Wilson



24 July 2019

NOTES

1. DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST – Members requiring advice or clarification about whether to 
make a declaration of interest are invited to contact the Monitoring Officer (Jane Burns 01452 
328472 /fax: 425149 e-mail: jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk) prior to the start of the meeting.

2. INSPECTION OF PAPERS AND GENERAL QUERIES - If you wish to inspect minutes or reports 
relating to any item on this agenda or have any other general queries about the meeting, please 
contact: Jo Moore, Senior Democratic Services Adviser :01452 324196/fax: 425240/e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk

3. DEFINITION OF A KEY DECISION - A ‘Key Decision’ is one that is, if implemented, is likely to
 Result in significant additional expenditure or savings to the value of £500,000 or more, or
 Be significant in terms of its effect on communities in two or more electoral divisions.

4.

5. 

GENERAL ARRANGEMENTS - Members are required to sign the attendance list.

PHOTOGRAPHY, FILMING AND AUDIO RECORDING OF COUNCIL MEETINGS is permitted 
subject to the Local Government Access to Information provisions. Please contact Democratic 
Services (01452 324202) to make the necessary arrangements ahead of the meeting. If you are 
a member of the public and do not wish to be photographed or filmed please inform the 
Democratic Services Officer on duty at the meeting.  

EVACUATION PROCEDURE - in the event of the fire alarms sounding during the meeting please 
leave as directed in a calm and orderly manner and go to the assembly point located outside the 
main entrance to Shire Hall in Westgate Street.  Please remain there and await further 
instructions.

mailto:jane.burns@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


MINUTES of meeting of the Cabinet

Held on WEDNESDAY 19 JUNE 2019

PETER BUNGARD
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 1 -

CABINET MINUTES

19 June 2019

Gloucestershire
County
Council

Present:
Cllr Mark Hawthorne MBE Leader of Council 
Cllr Richard Boyles Deputy Leader/Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years 
Cllr Tim Harman Public Health 
Cllr Patrick Molyneux Economy, Education and Skills
Cllr Nigel Moor Environment and Planning 
Cllr Vernon Smith Highways and Flood
Cllr Lynden Stowe Finance and Change 
Cllr Roger Wilson Adult Social Care Commissioning
1. Apologies 

Apologies were received from Cllr Dave Norman (Cabinet Member: Public 
Protection, Parking and Libraries) and from Cllr Kathy Williams (Cabinet Member: 
Adult Social Care Delivery). 

2. Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 24 April 2019 were confirmed and signed as a 
true record of that meeting. 

3. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were made at the meeting.

4. Questions at Cabinet Meetings 

A total of 9 (public) questions and 13 member questions were submitted for 
consideration prior to the meeting.
 
Please refer to the link below to view the responses to the questions: -

http://192.168.220.171:9071/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=9228&Ver=4    

If unable to access the document at the link above, please go to the link below and 
select the ‘Cabinet Questions and Answers’ PDF document at the top of the web 
page: - 

Page 2



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 2 -

http://192.168.220.171:9071/documents/b15591/Cabinet%20Questions%20and%2
0Answers%20Wednesday%2019-Jun-2019%2010.00%20Cabinet.pdf?T=9  

The following supplementary questions were asked at the meeting.

Public Questions: 

Question 1: Cllr David Willingham (Cheltenham Borough Councillor) 
 
Agenda Item 14: Gloucestershire Child Safeguarding Arrangements: Working 
Together (2018)
 
Cllr Willingham stated that the answer to his question had suggested that the 
statutory minimum stipulated by government guidance on safeguarding 
arrangements was ‘good enough’. Cllr Willingham questioned whether the council 
had learned lessons from Rotherham Borough Council and asked if Cllr Boyles 
would include ‘Safeguarding through Licensing’ in the council’s proposed Working 
Together document and arrangements for safeguarding children. 
 
Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People)
 
Cllr Boyles explained that, during the past couple of years, the council had been in 
recovery from the Ofsted inspection, with lots of examples of where Gloucestershire 
had created its own interpretations of guidance, which had not always turned out to 
been helpful. Cllr Boyles believed it was important to stick to the guidance provided 
in respect of Working Together and unnecessary to confuse people by considering 
alterations to the arrangements.  
 
Question 3: Cllr David Willingham (Cheltenham Borough Councillor)
 
Agenda Item 14: Gloucestershire Child Safeguarding Arrangements: Working 
Together (2018)

Cllr Willingham questioned why, if service level agreements and quality assurance 
processes agreed with other authorities for the issuing of licenses were being 
adhered to, why did child safeguarding situations arise? 

Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People)

Cllr Boyles stated that the council had clear data sharing policies for the 
safeguarding and protection of children and followed clear guidance for working 
with multi agency partners. Cllr Boyles stressed the importance of working together 
for the safeguarding of children and confirmed that the council had mechanisms in 
place for the sharing of data with other authorities. He informed Cllr Willingham that 
several offers had been made to Cheltenham Borough Council to meet to discuss 
and assist with any issues, but that this had not been taken up. Cllr Boyles assured 
Cllr Willingham the council had clear protocols in place for the sharing of data. 

Page 3



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 3 -

Question 4:Cllr David Willingham (Cheltenham Borough Councillor)
 
Agenda Item 14: Gloucestershire Child Safeguarding Arrangements: Working 
Together (2018)
 
Cllr Willingham suggested that the protocol for the sharing of data was not working 
effectively and that on two occasions the process had been unacceptable. Cllr 
Willingham requested that Cllr Boyles set up a cabinet working group or a cross 
party task and finish group to consider the issues he had expressed concern about, 
involving everyone. 
 
Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children and Young 
People)
 
Cllr Boyles confirmed that the Director for Children’s Services at Gloucestershire 
County Council was committed, as required, to ensuring all District Authorities 
worked together. Endorsing Cllr Willingham’s comments that it was important for 
local authorities to work together, Cllr Boyles stated that offers had been made to 
other authorities to work together using a homogenised approach. He stated that he 
was satisfied that the approach the council was using and the procedures that had 
been put in place were the right ones. 
 
Question 7: Tim Davies 
 
Agenda Item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Mr Davies suggested it would be helpful if future descriptions of transfers could be 
explicit about the source and destination of each transfer. This would avoid any 
ambiguity. Based on the £1.534m underspend in 2018/19, Mr Smith asked Cllr 
Stowe to explain the reasons for the underspend for the residual waste project 
budget 2018/19?

Response by: Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member for Finance and Change)
 
Cllr Stowe agreed to provide a written response to the question after the meeting.  

Question 8: Tim Davies
 
Agenda Item 6: Procurement and Award of Contracts for the Bulking, Haulage 
and Treatment of Garden Waste. 

Mr Smith said it was good criteria that was attached to the procurement. Mr Smith 
asked the cabinet member to confirm whether or not the principles committed to in 
2017 had been adhered to and had been applied as a standard part of the 
procurement process? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Page 4



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 4 -

Cllr Moor confirmed the matter was included in a decision report to be considered 
later in the meeting and as part of the council’s review of its protocols and 
procedures.

Question 9: Tim Davies
 
Agenda Item 13: Food Waste Collection and Delivery Agreements 

Mr Davies supported the proposition that there was no reason to suspect that a 
reduction of £300k to cash-strapped district authorities would lead to cuts in food 
waste collection.

Reiterating part b) of his question, Mr Davies asked whether cuts to food waste 
incentives would lead to a rise in residual waste and if this would result in cost 
savings or higher costs on the Council as waste disposal authority? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Cllr Moor referred to a very constructive discussion that had taken place at the Joint 
Waste Committee work planning meeting the previous day, involving nearly all 
district authorities.  Cllr Moor confirmed that discussions with district councils would 
continue, with the aim of seeking a revised and fairer system of payment for food 
waste collections. Cllr Moor was, however, unable to speculate on the outcome of 
the discussions. 

Member Questions 
 
Question 1: Cllr Iain Dobie 

Agenda item 11: Commissioning for Residential and Nursing Care Home 
Provision in Gloucestershire 

Cllr Dobie asked if Cllr Wilson would consider opening the report up to the public 
and asked what date this might be? 

Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning)

Cllr Wilson advised that no date had been set. Dependent on the outcome of the 
decision at today’s meeting, there was no reason to delay setting a date. 

Question 2: Cllr Kate Haigh 

Agenda item 11: Commissioning for Residential and Nursing Care Home 
Provision in Gloucestershire 

Cllr Haigh expressed concern that the decision today was being made based on 
aspirations and feelings, and questioned how a decision could be made on this 
basis? 

Page 5



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 5 -

Response by: Cllr Roger Wilson (Cabinet Member - Adult Social Care: 
Commissioning)

Cllr Wilson outlined the background to the decision, including 2 years of intensive 
investigations and consideration of two major reports. Clarifying that the decision 
had involved a huge amount of consultation, Cllr Wilson believed this was the right 
decision.  

Question 3: Cllr Kate Haigh 

Agenda item 13: Food Waste Collection and Delivery Agreements 

Cllr Haigh expressed concern about the impact of the proposed decision on the 
district councils and asked if Cllr Moor knew what the anticipated savings might be 
from the proposed scheme? 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Cllr Moor advised he had a broad indication of anticipated savings and following 
conversations at the Joint Waste Committee meeting held the day before (involving 
most District Authorities) it was anticipated some authorities might benefit from the 
scheme. At this stage, however, it was not explicit what savings might be 
anticipated. Discussions would continue with the shared aim of seeking a fairer 
system. 

Question 4: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Hodgkinson questioned the impact the shortfall in achieving savings in Public 
Health, Mental Health and Children’s Services would have on delivering mental 
health and children’s services and asked if a review of the situation would result in a 
reduction of these vital services? 

Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years)

Cllr Boyles explained that the review of children’s services included a review of 
service contracts with the aim of realigning contracts with the outcomes of the 
review. Cllr Boyles stated that the intention was to review children’s services as a 
whole, which would give the council time to ensure service delivery in the future. 

Question 5: Cllr Paul Hodgkinson 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Hodgkinson questioned the measures in place to avoid further overspends in 
the Children’s Services Budget. He suggested that the overspend in the Children’s 

Page 6



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 6 -

Services Budget would be unsustainable in the long term and noted that the 
outcomes of the recent Ofsted monitoring visits had identified slow progress. Cllr 
Hodgkinson asked how confident the authority was in avoiding a third inadequate 
Ofsted rating? 

Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years)

Cllr Boyles outlined some of the work that had been put in place to address the 
outcomes of the Ofsted Inspection in 2017. One of the measures included a High 
Cost Placement Panel, introduced to review places early and to ensure a reduction 
in costs from planned moves. It was explained that the intention was to review the 
council’s spending on agency social workers and to undertake further reviews of 
care leaver costs. Cllr Boyles reported that the number of high spend agency 
employees had reduced from 47 to 37 during the past year. Additional measures to 
recruit and retain social workers included 12 month contracts to ensure continuity of 
service and bonus payments. 

Cllr Boyles reiterated that a wide range of measures had been introduced to 
address the challenges of an increasing number of children in care in 
Gloucestershire, (increasing to 714 children at the time of the meeting). Cllr Boyles 
hoped the council’s rating would be in a much better position at the time of the next 
Ofsted inspection. 

Question 6: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Stating he was pleased the Strategic Waste Reserve Fund would not be topped any 
further, Cllr Hilton asked what payments were scheduled to be made from the 
reserve (to UBB) during the current financial year?

Response by: Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member for Finance and Change)

Cllr Stowe agreed to provide a written response to the question after the meeting.  

Question 7: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Hilton noted the date of the next community engagement event on the future of 
Trevone House, (20 August 2019), and said that, as the local councillor, he would 
appreciate seeing the plans ahead of the public meeting.

Cllr Hilton enquired into the timeline for the award of the contract for the future 
management of Trevone House and asked if the cabinet decision to award the 
contract was subject to the council’s call-in rules?

Page 7



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 7 -

Response by: Cllr Richard Boyles (Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding 
and Early Years)

Cllr Boyles agreed to provide a written response to the question after the meeting. 

Question 8: Cllr Jeremy Hilton 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Hilton referred to the number of electric charging points planned for the County 
and said, currently, there were none in the City of Gloucester at this time. 

Expressing concern about the impact on the capacity of the streets of Gloucester, 
Cllr Hilton asked the cabinet member to confirm if he intended to coordinate the 
work for this project with officers in readiness for a review of the residents parking 
permit scheme in Gloucester and Cheltenham, (the review to commence in October 
2019 for a year)?

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Cllr Moor welcomed advance notice of the review of residents parking schemes in 
Gloucester and Cheltenham and informed Cllr Hilton that the council aimed to 
exceed the anticipated 100 electric charging points for the County. 

Question 11: Cllr Klara Sudbury 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Sudbury expressed concern about the mitigation measures and the additional 
budgetary costs associated with the Cheltenham Transport Plan in respect of 
changes agreed by the Traffic Regulation Order Committee and Cheltenham 
Borough Council. 

Referring to a question submitted to council on a previous occasion, (where Cllr 
Sudbury had been informed that the costs of implementing changes to the 
Cheltenham Transport Plan would be covered by the budget), Cllr Sudbury asked 
why this council had not satisfactorily budgeted for the costs. 

Response by: Cllr Lynden Stowe (Cabinet Member for Finance and Change)

Cllr Stowe agreed to liaise with Cllr Nigel Moor, (as Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning), before providing a written response to the question 
after the meeting.  

Question 12: Cllr Klara Sudbury 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Page 8



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 8 -

Cllr Sudbury asked the cabinet member to elaborate on the proposal to review food 
waste collection and delivery arrangements and if Cheltenham Borough Council 
would receive more money from the decision. 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Cllr Moor confirmed that discussions at the Joint Waste Committee meeting held 
the previous day (involving most District Authorities) had been encouraging but, at 
this stage, he couldn’t anticipate what the outcomes of the discussions would be. 
The perimeters for the scheme had been set, the outcomes of which would be 
presented to Cabinet at a later date. 

Question 13: Cllr Klara Sudbury 

Agenda item 5: Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018-19

Cllr Sudbury asked the cabinet member if he was confident the review of food 
waste collection and delivery arrangements would not threaten food waste 
collections at district councils. 

Response by: Cllr Nigel Moor (Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning)

Cllr Moor said that he was confident. 

5. Revenue and Capital Expenditure 2018/19 

Cllr Lynden Stowe presented the Council’s outturn expenditure for 2018/19 and 
proposed changes to the Capital Programme 2019/20.  

Cllr Stowe confirmed the final year end position for the end of 2018/19 as showing 
an underspend of £2.905 million, (on a net revenue budget of £418.081 million), 
and proposed that the underspend be transferred £2.855 million to the council’s 
Transformation Reserve for transformation initiatives and £0.05 million to a Vision 
2050 working fund.

It was explained that this overall position included a number of significant variances, 
with the areas of major revenue risk continuing to relate to the care of vulnerable 
children and adults. Cllr Stowe stated that these demand-led budget areas 
continued to be subject to significant volatility due to the changes in client numbers 
and care needs and would need to be closely monitored and controlled in the new 
financial year.

Summarising some of the detail included in the report, Cllr Stowe confirmed the 
following information: 

Meeting the Challenge (MTC) Savings: the 2018/19 budget included £18.686 
million of savings. Overall £18.345 million or 98.2% of the target savings had been 
achieved in year, with the £0.341 million shortfall being covered by one-off savings 

Page 9



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 9 -

and underspends.  The shortfall to roll forward, for which updates will be reported 
alongside agreed MTFS savings targets for 2019/20.

Transfers to Reserves - the outturn position included recommended transfers to 
reserves totalling £11.078 million (please refer to the report for details).

Carry forward approvals - as part of 2018/19 budget setting process, £6.303 
million of one-off investments had been approved. The unspent elements of the 
investments had already been committed in 2019/20. On this basis, Cllr Stowe 
recommended that a total of £1.934 million be carried forward. 

Acknowledging the impact of ongoing financial pressures and challenges on the 
Council, Cllr Stowe congratulated members and officers for their work in achieving 
£18m savings in 2018/19, including the £11m savings in Adult Social Care. Cllr 
Stowe also commended the Leader and Chief Executive of the Council for their 
successful lobbying of funding. He confirmed there was clearly more to do and 
thanked partners and Gloucestershire First Local Enterprise Partnership (Gfirst 
LEP) for their work in helping to deliver the council’s budget. 

Leader of the Council, Cllr Mark Hawthorne, echoed Cllr Stowe’s sentiments before 
expressing personal appreciation for the work involved in delivering the council 
budget, particularly when faced with the uncertainties surrounding the 
Government’s Annual Financial Settlement announcement each December. Cllr 
Hawthorne emphasised the benefits a comprehensive spending review from 
Government. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Note the overall 2018/19 revenue budget underspend of £2.905 million and 
approve the following transfers.

1.1. Transfer £1.824 million to the Vulnerable Adults Reserve.  This funding 
will be used to progress projects and investment in community based 
provision that supports the Adult Single Programme in 2019/20 and to 
manage demand pressures.

1.2. Approve the carry forward of £0.386 million to 2019/20 to complete two 
year projects within Children’s Services which were originally funded by 
additional “one off” budget allocations in 2017/18. The initial start of these 
projects was delayed. 

Page 10



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 10 -

1.3. Approve a revenue contribution of £0.120 million to the Trevone House 
capital refurbishment project as a result of additional slippage in the IRIS 
Project in 2018/19. 

1.4. Approve the transfer of the £0.35 million Public Health underspend to the 
Public Health Reserve.

1.5. Transfer £1.534 million to the Strategic Waste Reserve to fund the EFW 
(Energy from Waste) smoothing requirement. 

1.6. Transfer £0.438 million to the C&I Reserve for the carry forward of one off 
funding for the Electric Vehicle Infrastructure Improvement Project 

1.7. Transfer £0.496 million to the C&I Reserve for the carry forward of 
Highways Local funding

1.8. Transfer £0.025 million to Economic Stimulus Reserve for the Joint 
Strategic Rail Strategy between GCC, LEP and partners to inform future 
policy and investment decisions.

1.9. Transfer £0.150 million to the C&I Reserve which relates to income from 
Boots Corner camera enforcement to cover future costs of Cheltenham 
Transport Plan including Boots Corner experimental changes and related 
measures.

1.10. Transfer £0.09 million of the surplus generated by Traded Services to the 
Traded Services Reserve 

1.11. Transfer £0.440 million to the Transformation Reserve from the Technical 
& Corporate Budget.to enable implementation of the a new payment 
system 

1.12. Transfer £0.800 from the corporate insurance reserves to the 
Transformation Reserve to support future transformation initiatives.

1.13. Transfer £3.83 million to the Business Rates Retention Reserve in 
relation to the GCC share of the additional surplus on the 100% Business 
Rates Pilot (this includes £2.23 million already earmarked for Children 
Services within the 2019/20 budget approved by Full Council in February 
2019). In addition approve a transfer of £3.44 million to the Strategic 
Economic Development Fund also as a result of the 100% Business 
Rates Pilot, and.

Page 11



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 11 -

1.14. Other technical reserve movements for 2018/19 set out in Annex 1.

2. Approve the transfer of the overall £2.905 million revenue budget underspend to 
the Transformation Reserve (£2.855 million) and to the Vision 2050 Working 
Fund (£0.050 million).

3. Note the capital budget position for 2018/19 is £93.235 million, giving in year 
slippage of £8.152 million. 

4. Approve increases to the Capital Programme totalling £1.301 million for 2018/19 
and future years made up of:

4.1. £0.441 million for Adults schemes funded from an increased in the 
Disabled Facilities Grant allocation.

4.2. £0.439 million for Highway schemes reflecting a decreased Department 
for Transport (DfT) grant £0.023 million, also additional funding of £0.130 
million of developer contributions and Highways Locals revenue 
contributions of £0.332 million.

4.3. £0.190 million in the Archives capital budget, funded from a revenue 
contribution towards the Alvin Street Extension - For the Record scheme.

4.4. £0.020 million in the AMPS capital budget, funded from a revenue 
contribution towards the College Yard Gloucester Contact Centre 
scheme.

4.5. £0.211 million in property works before sale, funded from capital receipts.

6. Procurement and Award of Contracts for the Bulking, Haulage and Treatment 
of Garden Waste 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, sought approval of 
a procurement strategy and the award of contracts for the bulking, haulage and 
treatment of garden waste. 

Cllr Moor proposed that the council undertake a competitive procurement process 
to obtain tenders and for the award of contracts for the continuation of garden 
waste composting services. The proposed service requirement to specify bidders 
provide one or more composting treatment facilities. Where facilities are located 
some distance outside any of the collection areas, (thereby making direct delivery 
impractical), the bidder to offer bulking and transfer within that collection area. 

To assist this aim, the contracts to be evaluated and awarded in 4 geographic lots, 
comprising: 

Page 12



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 12 -

 Forest of Dean District 
 Cotswold District 
 Cheltenham and Tewkesbury Borough (combined), and
 Gloucester and Stroud District (combined)

To minimise risk increase, the contracts to be awarded for 7 years, with an option to 
extend for 3 years. It was explained that, due to the use of geographic lots, the 
contracts would be let to more than one provider, if able to offer the best value 
solution.

The new service to commence from January 2020. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

1. Approve the procurement strategy set out in the published decision report 
(attached to the agenda) to deliver bulking, haulage and treatment for 
Gloucestershire’s separately collected garden waste.

2. Authorise the Head of Joint Waste Management, following consultation with 
the Chief Executive and the Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning to:

a) Conduct a legally compliant competitive procurement process for the 
purpose of awarding contract(s) of 7 years plus an extension of 3 years for the 
provision of bulking, haulage and treatment in respect of Gloucestershire’s 
separately collected garden waste, and 

b) Award such contract(s) (following the conclusion of the said procurement 
process) to the highest scoring tender(s) or, in the event that they are either 
unable or unwilling to enter into the proposed contract(s), to award such 
contract(s) to the next highest scoring tenderer(s).

7. Gloucestershire Health & Social Care Framework 2020-24 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care – Commissioning,   
sought approval to conduct a tender process for the establishment of a multi-
provider framework for the procurement of community based support services and 
the procurement of buildings and community based day opportunities for people 
with disabilities and mental conditions and older people.

Cllr Wilson explained that the County Council, the NHS Gloucestershire Clinical 
Commissioning Group and the 2Gether NHS Foundation Trust had various joint 
commission systems in place for the provision of community-based support 
services for people with learning disabilities, physical disabilities and mental health 

Page 13



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 13 -

conditions. He stated it was a strategic goal of the Adult Social Care team to align 
the timeframe and format of the systems with the award of a 4 year multi provider 
framework for community based buildings and day opportunity services. 

The development of a framework structure for these areas will be consistent with 
the creation of frameworks in other areas of social care, notably in services for 
vulnerable people. Cllr Wilson explained that this would enable commissioners to 
maintain maximum flexibility in managing and awarding contracts with providers, 
whilst ensuring closer working and stronger relationships. 

The tender process to begin in September 2019, with the new frameworks 
commencing  on 1 April 2020. 

The integrated commissioning approach for delivering health and social care and 
the consistencies within the council’s processes, contractual terms, pricing and 
quality of service to continue under the new frameworks. By creating frameworks to 
encompass community-based support services for all service user groups, the aim 
is to further integrate procurement processes, avoid duplication and encourage 
providers in the local market to diversify.

Encouraging members to support the recommendations, Cllr Wilson confirmed 
there would be no financial impact from the proposals where current levels of 
demand remained the main influencing factor.  

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 
Authorise the Commissioning Director (Adults and DASS) to:

1. Conduct EU and legally compliant tender processes for the award of:

(a) A 4-year multi-provider framework for community based support 
services for people with disabilities, autism and/or a mental condition 
and/or older people; and

(b) A 4-year multi-provider framework for the procurement of buildings 
and community based day opportunities services for people with 
disabilities, autism and/or a mental condition and older people, 

both commencing on 1st April 2020; and
2. Upon conclusion of the tender processes, to enter into a contract with the 

providers who have been evaluated as achieving the requisite score against 
the relevant evaluation criteria, in each case as set by the Council.

8. Extension of Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) Contracts to General 
Practices 

Page 14



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 14 -

Cllr Tim Harman, Cabinet Member for Public Health and Communities, sought 
approval to extend the council’s Public Health Enhanced Services (PHES) contracts 
to general practices for a further three years and to seek additional funding to cover 
projected increases in activity levels. 

He explained that, in July 2017, Cabinet had approved the direct award of the 
current PHES contracts to General Practices for five years (2018-2023). The 
contracts had an initial fixed term of two years, and included the option to extend for 
a further three years. The initial two year fixed term contract will end on 31 March 
2020. 

On this basis, Cllr Harman was seeking approval to exercise the contractual option 
to:  

a) Extend the contracts for a further three years; 
b) Increase the budget allocation by up to £60K per annum to cover a projected 

increase in the Long Acting Reversible Contraception (LARC) service in 
general practice. 

This equated to an additional £180K above the allocation originally approved by 
Cabinet in July 2017.

Cllr Harman clarified that the decision sought to ‘roll forward’ the existing contract, 
combined with seeking funding for additional contraception needs. Noting the 
challenges of demand led services on existing budgets, Cllr Harman believed the 
proposals offered good value for money. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: 

Authorise the Director of Public Health, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for 
Public Health and Communities to:

a) Extend the current contracts the Council has with General Practices for the 
delivery of the Public Health Enhanced Services as detailed in this Report, 
which together have an estimated contract value of up to £4,644,000 
(including recommendation d) over the contract extension period; 

b) Ensure that that the contracts referred to at point (a) shall be for a maximum 
extension period of three years, commencing on the 1st April 2020; 

c) Ensure that notice, in accordance with the contract terms, is served in 
sufficient time to entitle the Council to extend the current contract terms; and 
retain the right to terminate on a no fault basis by giving no less than three 
months written notice to providers; and 

Page 15



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 15 -

d) Due to increases in the prescribing of Long Acting Reversible Contraception 
(LARC), to allocate an additional and necessary £180K to be utilised across 
the balance of the contact extension. 

9. Enhanced Independence Offer – Reablement Services 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care: Commissioning, sought 
to develop and agree, (with Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust), a new 
reablement service in Gloucestershire to support people and thereby allowing them 
to remain independent in their own homes. 

Cllr Wilson stated that the reconfiguration of reablement services was a key part of 
the council’s Adult Single Programme. Today’s decision would be to seek approval 
of a new model of working to ensure better pathways for patients requiring 
assistance to re-adjust to normal living after leaving hospital, and to free up vital 
hospital bed spaces. 

It was proposed that the Council work with Gloucestershire Care Services as the 
preferred single lead provider for the reconfiguration and expansion of the home 
based components of the reablement service, including the establishment of a 
Home First offer to support patients discharge from hospital. Cllr Wilson explained 
that the Home First offer formed part of the whole reablement offer which, under the 
requirements of the Care Act 2014, needed to be completed within 6 weeks of 
discharge from hospital.   

The decision also sought approval for the implementation of additional staffing for 
Home First, (at no extra cost), achieved via the deployment of existing personnel in 
conjunction with Gloucestershire Care Services, and the creation of ring based 
beds in existing units across the County.

Cllr Wilson advised members that the proposal would assist in ensuring better use 
of council expenditure and help generate savings within Adult Social Care Services.  

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to authorise: 

1. The Director of Integration, in consultation with the Cabinet Members for Adult 
Social Care Commissioning and Adult Social Care Delivery, to work 
with Gloucestershire Care Services NHS Trust (GCS) as the preferred single 
lead provider in reconfiguring and expanding the Home Based components of 
the Reablement Service; including the establishment of a Home First offer that 
supports discharge from hospital.

2. The continued utilisation of Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) employed 
reablement workers (currently managed by GCS under existing Section 113 

Page 16



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 16 -

arrangements) as the core staff that will deliver the higher levels of home-based 
reablement activity including the proposed new Home First service. 

3. The implementation of additional staffing capacity to deliver the Home-Based 
activity described in paragraph 1 of the published decision report, to be 
achieved through recruitment to currently established GCC roles (with potential 
additional capacity to be commissioned by GCS under Lead Provider 
arrangements). 

4. To adopt the Enhanced Independence Offer Operating Model outlined in section 
3.3 of the published decision report (‘the Model) to enable people to remain 
independent for longer in their own homes.  This will enable the reconfiguration 
of short-term bed capacity, under existing contracts with third party suppliers, 
into ring fenced units that will provide capacity across the County. This will be 
optimised for the predicted reduction in reablement and assessment activity as 
more people receive support at home. Provision at Great Western Court will 
continue alongside the Enhanced Independence Offer Operating Model outlined 
in section 3.3 of the report (the “Model”).

5. The targeting of existing GCC reablement services and funding in support of the 
proposed Model, whilst noting that the final configuration of reablement services 
will be determined by the Joint Commissioning Partnership Board, once NHS as 
well as GCC’s Adult Social Care demand and benefits are taken into account.  

10. Libraries - Mobile Library Service Strategy 

Cllr Tim Harman, (presenting on behalf of Cllr Dave Norman, Cabinet Member for 
Public Protection, Parking and Libraries), sought authorisation to purchase a small 
delivery vehicle for community pick up and drop off services.  

Cllr Harman informed members that as former cabinet portfolio holder for libraries, 
he was acquainted with this particular issue. He explained that, following the 
decommissioning of the council’s public mobile library vehicle, (due to excessive 
repair costs and ensuring best use of limited council budgets), it had been 
necessary to look at existing service user needs and how best to provide an 
alternative provision, including providing a service to users living in rural areas. 

The options outlined in the report included the proposal to invest in a small delivery 
vehicle to provide community drop off and pick up points. It was recommended that 
a new small hybrid or electric delivery vehicle be purchased.  Collections to either 
be ordered online by customers able to do so or selected by library staff based on 
customer preference. It was suggested that the preferred option, (option 3), offered 
the more cost effective and environmentally efficient vehicle to provide the new 
service. 

Cllr Harman emphasised it was not the intention to withdraw the mobile library 
service. Working closely with local communities and existing users, the council 
intended to review service user needs and address current issues. 

Page 17



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 17 -

Cabinet members representing constituents living in rural areas welcomed the 
proposal to consider the needs of service users living in hard to reach locations. It 
was noted that consideration of the investment required to invest in electric car 
charging points in rural areas would need to be addressed. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to purchase a new small hybrid or electric vehicle, (rather than a new 
mobile library vehicle), to be used to deliver collections to customers and to 
community pick up and drop off points.

11. Commissioning for Residential and Nursing Care Home Provision in 
Gloucestershire 

Cllr Roger Wilson, Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care; Commissioning, sought 
authorisation for the adoption of the Council’s Strategy for the Commissioning of 
Residential and Nursing Care Provision in Gloucestershire and the development of 
District Locality Commissioning Plans for care homes.

Cllr Wilson referred to the Cabinet decision agreed in June 2018, to consider ways 
of encouraging residents in need of Adult Social Care to remain in their homes for 
as long as possible, rather than going into long-term residential care. He stated, 
that following on from that decision, officers had been requested to undertake 
consultation with care home providers, older people and care home residents to 
comment on the Council’s Draft Strategy for the Commissioning of Residential and 
Nursing Care Provision in Gloucestershire. 

The report presented at this meeting included the outcomes of a consultation on the 
Draft Strategy, (carried out by Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Evolving 
Communities).  

Reading out the key issues identified by the consultation, Cllr Wilson stated that the 
Council proposed to develop locality plans for each of the key communities in 
Gloucestershire which would set out the Council and the Clinical Commissioning 
Group’s (CCG’s) key commissioning priorities for care home requirements over the 
next 5- 10 years. The locality plans will provide care home providers with a clear 
understanding of the commissioning needs of the Council and the CCG. It was 
reported that the plans would need to reflect the current care home market supply 
position and the need for more specialist and short term care home placements. 
The plans to be developed in partnership with care home providers at local level.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: - 

Page 18



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 18 -

(1) Adopt the council’s strategy for the commissioning of residential and nursing 
care provision in Gloucestershire, as set out in Appendix (1), and 

(2) Authorise the Director of Integration, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning, to develop District Locality 
Commissioning Plans for care homes.   

   

12. A4173 Safer Roads Fund; Pitchcombe Junction Improvement – £640K 
Contract Procurement 

Cllr Vernon Smith, Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, sought approval to 
conduct a tender process and award a contract in respect of the A4173 Safer 
Roads Fund, (Pitchcombe Junction Improvement Scheme), 

This Report is presented to Cabinet with the request to authorise the contract 
procurement and the making of any necessary ancillary orders for the A4173 Safer 
Roads Fund; Pitchcombe Junction Improvement Scheme.

Cllr Smith recalled that in 2018, the County Council had been successful in bidding 
for a funding package of just over £2m for safety improvements along the A4173 
from the Department for Transport’s (DfT) Road Safety Foundation. This would be 
used to support the Council’s ongoing £150m investment in Gloucestershire 
Highways. 

The proposed scheme was the final phase of a wider package of safety 
improvement works along the A4173 corridor between Pitchcombe and Gloucester. 
Previous works included route treatment over 7km encompassing drainage repairs, 
vegetation clearance, safety improvements and new crossing facilities. The focus of 
the final phase of works was to improve forward visibility for all users approaching 
the Pitchcombe junction and to simplify the layout making it easier to manoeuvre.

With cabinet approval, it was proposed that the scheme be tendered immediately, 
with the management and governance of the scheme overseen by the Major 
Projects Team.

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: - 

Authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:

(1) Conduct a compliant competitive tender process for the award of a contract 
to a single supplier for the construction of the A4173 Safer Roads Fund; 
Pitchcombe Junction Improvement Scheme, and  

Page 19



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 19 -

(2) Upon conclusion of the competitive tender process, and in consultation with 
the Cabinet Member for Highways and Flood, to enter into a contract with the 
preferred provider evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for 
delivery of the services.  In the event that the preferred provider for the 
contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract with the 
Council, then the officer is authorised to enter into such contract with the next 
willing highest placed suitably qualified provider. 

13. Food Waste Collection and Delivery Agreements 

Cllr Nigel Moor, Cabinet Member for Environment and Planning, sought to serve 12 
months notice on each of the Gloucestershire Waste Collection Authorities to 
terminate their current food waste collection and delivery arrangements with 
Gloucestershire County Council and to conduct discussions with each authority with 
a view to entering new arrangements.

He explained that a key objective of the Gloucestershire Joint Waste Strategy was 
to widen the range of materials collected for recycling by the District Waste 
Collection Authorities, including food waste. 

Each of the Gloucestershire Districts undertake food waste collection services in 
line with this Strategy, with each authority collecting food waste for treatment 
separately from residual waste. Each authority has an individual food waste 
collection and delivery agreement with the County Council, reflecting a commitment 
by each of the parties to develop and maintain a high level of service performance. 

Each authority work from a mechanism by which a performance-based payment is 
made by the County Council to each district. This payment is based upon the 
principle of sharing the savings resulting from reduced landfill, and recognises the 
investment made by these authorities in collecting food waste. Such payment is 
discretionary under the Environmental Protection Act.

It was reported that, based on this arrangement, differences had arisen between 
the individual agreements in terms of the performance targets set and the level of 
payments made, effectively rewarding each authority with a different level of 
payment per tonne of food waste collected.

The recommendation within the report was to serve the necessary 12 months 
notice to terminate current agreements and to establish new agreements containing 
an incentive payment model which would continue to reward the district councils 
based upon performance levels. 

The new agreements, to be established in discussion with district waste collection 
authorities, included a more equitable incentive payment model that would be fairer 
to all parties, ensuring lower-performing authorities received the support they 
needed to increase food waste collections whilst, at the same time, contributing 
savings to the County Council’s waste management budget.

Cllr Moor read out each of the recommendations at the meeting. 

Page 20



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 20 -

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to authorise that the Head of Joint Waste Management:
(1) Serve 12 months’ notice on each of the Gloucestershire WCAs to terminate 

their existing Food Waste Collection and Delivery Agreements with GCC in 
accordance with the terms of those agreements.

(2) Conduct discussions, in consultation with the Chief Executive, with each of 
the Gloucestershire WCAs with a view to entering into new Food Waste 
Collection and Delivery Agreements on terms to be agreed PROVIDED that 
such new agreements will not be entered into until a further key decision has 
been taken.

14. Gloucestershire Child Safeguarding Arrangements: Working Together (2018) 

Cllr Richard Boyles, Deputy Leader and Cabinet Member for Children’s 
Safeguarding and Early Years, sought Cabinet endorsement for the child 
safeguarding arrangements set out in the Working Together: Gloucestershire Multi-
agency Arrangements to Safeguard Children prior to full implementation of the 
arrangements in July 2019. 

Cllr Boyles confirmed that there would be no extra financial implications relating to 
this report.  All costs would be met within existing budgets. He confirmed that the 
proposals outlined the changes required under the Working Together requirements 
of 2018

Outlining a brief history of the background to the proposals, Cllr Boyles advised 
that, after a number of disappointing inspections, the requirement for a local 
safeguarding children’s board had been replaced in 2017 by the requirement for the 
council to work with key local partners, including the Police Authority and Health. 

Members were advised that proposed new arrangements would see the formation 
of a new body called the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children Executive, which 
proposed to take responsibility from the Gloucestershire Safeguarding Children’s 
Board by 15 July 2019.

The board to consist of 4 areas, including: - 

a) Child safeguarding executive group

b) A children’s safeguarding delivery board

c) Independent scrutiny

d) A range of safeguarding subgroups 

Page 21



Minutes subject to their acceptance as a 
correct record at the next meeting

- 21 -

Task and finish groups would be used for any emerging challenges 

The new arrangements to ensure equal responsibility between GCC health and the 
police in overseeing children’s safeguarding, and providing leadership to local 
partners, whilst at the same time, linking directly with the Gloucestershire Health 
and Wellbeing Board and Safer Gloucestershire to better protect children.

Final publication of the new arrangements would need to be made by 29 June 
2019. 

Having considered all of the information, including known proposals, alternative 
options and reasons for recommendations, Cabinet noted the report and, 

RESOLVED to: -

a) Endorse the safeguarding children arrangements set out in the Working 
Together: Gloucestershire’s Multi-Agency Arrangements to Safeguard 
Children - April 2019 (please refer to Appendix1); and,

b) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to make any final 
changes, in consultation with the statutory safeguarding partners, prior to full 
implementation of the new arrangements in July 2019.

Leader of Council

Meeting concluded at 11.35am 

Page 22



1

FINANCIAL MONITORING REPORT: 2019/20

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Finance and 
Change Cllr Lynden Stowe 

Key Decision Yes

Other Documents MTFS Report to 13th February 2019 County Council. 

Main Consultees Corporate Management Team, Senior Officers, Cabinet Members.

Planned Dates Not applicable

Divisional 
Councillor

County Wide

Officers Paul Blacker, Director of Finance (01452) 328999 
paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Jayne Fuller, Corporate Finance Manager (01452) 328926
jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To provide an update on the year-end forecast for the 2019/20 County 
Council’s Revenue and Capital Budgets

Key 
Recommendations

That the Cabinet:

1. Notes the forecast revenue year end position as at the end of May 2019 
for the 2019/20 financial year of a net £2.956 million overspend against 
the revenue budget of £429.661 million.

2. Notes the one off transfer of £0.028 million to GFRS from the 
Transformation Reserve to subsidise travel on a targeted basis for key 
stage 2 and 3 children across Gloucestershire.

3. Notes the forecast capital year end position as at the end of May 2019 of 
£1.147million overspend against the current budget of £121.537 million

4. Approves the addition of £1.147 million to the Highways capital budget 
funded from a variety of sources as outlined in the body of the report.

5. Notes the allocation of £1.209 million from the approved carriageway 
resurfacing budget to specific schemes as outlined in the body of the 
report.

 Resource 
Implications These are detailed within the report

Page 23

Agenda Item 5

mailto:paul.blacker@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:jayne.fuller@gloucestershire.gov.uk


2

Revenue Expenditure 2019/20

A. Revenue Forecast  Outturn Position 2019/20

1. The current forecast of the year end revenue position against the revenue budget of 
£429.661 million, based on actual expenditure at the end of May 2019 and forecasts 
made in June 2019 is a £2.956 million overspend, 0.69% of the budget.

2. Details of the forecast year end position, analysed by service area is provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows.

Directorate Breakdown for Cabinet Report - Position as at the end of May 2019

Variance

%

£000 £000 £000 %

Adults 148,155 148,155 0 0.0%

Prevention & Wellbeing 33,342 33,348 6 0.0%

Children & Families 113,851 121,278 7,427 6.5%

Communities & 
Infrastructure

72,305 72,615 310 0.4%

GFRS and Regulatory 
Services

18,245 18,458 213 1.2%

Business Support Services 32,763 32,763 0 0.0%

Support Services 
Recharges

-32,763 -32,763 0 0.0%

Total for Services 385,898 393,854 7,956 2.1%

Technical & Corporate 43,763 38,763 -5,000 -11.4%

Total 429,661 432,617 2,956 0.69%

Service Area
2019/20 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
Position

Forecast 
Outturn 

Variance

Page 24



3

Adult Social Care

3. Adult Social Care is reporting a balanced position.  This forecast includes £2.530 
million of Additional Social Care "Winter Pressures" funding and is achieved by 
using £2.482 million from Adult Care Reserves.  There is no formal request being 
made to Cabinet to use any of the Adults reserves at this stage - this will be done 
if and when there is greater certainty about the amount of reserve required to 
support the 2019/20 budget.

4. Adult Social Care reserves currently stand at £6.416 million. It should be noted 
that only £2.654 million of this total is held purely as a Vulnerable Adults 
Reserve.  The balance is specifically set aside for the backdated element of new 
Ordinary Residence cases and additional commitments relating to the National 
Living Wage and the Care Act.   

5. MTFS savings targets of £10.498 million for all client groups are integrated under 
the Adults Single Programme (ASP). For Older People (OP), Physical Disabilities 
(PD) and Learning Disabilities (LD) External Care budgets the impact on 
operational budgets and performance is managed by the Head of Social Care, 
working with Commissioning and Support Service colleagues.  All savings are 
currently treated as being fully achievable – although there are risks around a 
number of these proposals. 

6. LD External Care is forecasting a £0.956 million overspend. The overspend 
relates to increased demand and increased complexity of cases.

7. OP and PD External Care is projecting a £1.420 million overspend.  The split of 
the overspend across individual service budgets shows the OP position as 
£0.848 million and PD £0.572 million. The overspend mainly relates to increased 
care needs for existing cases, ‘voids’ and other additional costs relating to 
externally provided residential homes.

8. The Mental Health forecast is a £1.499 million overspend, of which £0.664 
million is as calculated by the 2Gether NHSFT Finance Team, net of unallocated 
MTFS growth and savings held by the Lead Commissioner.  The budget includes 
MTFS funding for 2019/20 growth and fee increases.  

9. The Community Equipment Service (CES) / Telecare budgets are reporting a 
balanced budget position.    

10.Other Services comprise of all staffing budgets for Adult Social Care, as well as 
a number of specific commissioned contracts.  The forecast position for these 
services nets to a £1.388 million underspend including:

a. £0.949 million significant overspends: £0.826 million MTFS 
Prevention Unallocated due to the reablement saving allocation 

Page 25



4

not yet addressed; £0.061 million Proud to Care due to 
permanent funding not identified; £0.062 million Disabilities Hub.

b. £2.239 million significant underspends: £0.118 million LD 
Assessment, Support Planning & Management mainly due to 
vacancies; £0.052 million LD other commissioned services 
relating to employment service budgets; £0.149 million under 
Hospital Care Navigators due to vacancies; £0.567 million 
OP/PD Integrated Social Care Management (ISCM) due largely 
to vacancies; £0.121 million Integrated Brokerage due to 
vacancies; £0.066 million Administration Finance due to a 
vacancy; £0.115 million for the Advocacy contract; £0.208 million 
Contact Centre due to vacancies and £0.842 million for the 
OP/PD Reablement Service managed by Gloucestershire Care 
Services due to vacancies. 

c. a number of smaller variances netting to a £0.098 million 
underspend. 

11.Other Services (Unallocated) are reported as balanced. 

Prevention and Wellbeing 

12.Services within this area include Public Health, Supporting People and a number 
of smaller budgets covering the prevention hub team and grants.

13.The current forecast of the year end revenue position is an overspend of £0.006 
million and is due to additional staffing and ICT costs within the prevention hub.

14.Public Health is reporting a balanced position. Services are funded by a ring-
fenced grant, which if unspent is required to be carried forward in a specific 
reserve. The in-year forecast for Public Health is an under-spend of £0.057 
million due to lower commitments against the healthy lifestyles contract.

15.The grant from MHLG for the Rapid Rehousing Pathway has been confirmed as 
£0.710 million for 2019/20. Through our strong local relationships with 
community organisations this funding will be used to rapidly deliver new services 
to reduce rough sleeping, increase the sustainment of tenancy outcomes and 
increase the evidence base for the effectiveness of the Somewhere Safe to Stay 
model. 

Children & Families

16.The current forecast of the year end revenue position as at June 2019 for non-
DSG funded services is an overspend of £7.427 million (6.52% of budget). As in 

Page 26



5

2018/19 the overspend is due to higher than expected number of external 
placements and the cost of agency social work staff covering vacancies. 

 
17.At the end of May 2019 children in care numbers were 722 compared to 669 at 

the end of May 2018. This continues to cause significant budgetary pressures on 
children’s services and in particular against the external placement and 
safeguarding staff budgets resulting in the overspend. An efficiency plan is in 
place to reduce the forecast over-spend by £2.427 million down to below £5 
million by the year end. Cost pressures and proposals to achieve this reduction 
in over-spend are set out below.

18.The current forecast over-spend against the external placement budget is £4.015 
million (18.5% above budget) which includes a contingency of £3.1 million for 
new cases in-year allowing for additional placements to replace existing care 
commitments or allowing for higher number of placements. The overspend is due 
to a higher number of external placements than anticipated with a current 
average unit cost of £89,500 per annum. There are currently 315 external 
placements, of which 82 are residential and 62 supported living placements. 

19.The review of all high cost placements is continuing on a regular basis as part of 
the wider improvement work ensuring decisions around placement change and 
permanence are executed in timely child centred manner. This will continue to 
reduce the cost of external placements where appropriate including reducing unit 
costs.  Improving social care practice to divert children from care at an earlier 
point and achieve permanence at the earliest opportunity will reduce numbers of 
children in care costs in the longer term. 

20.Against safeguarding staffing budgets there is a forecast overspend of £2.676 
million which is due to the use of agency staff covering for staff vacancies or 
where caseloads remain high. Changes have been made to improve processes 
for recruitment, put in place more effective advertising as well as the launch of 
the social work academy to support the training and development of social 
workers and to improve retention. Turnover of staff has stayed around 17% over 
the last three months and at the end of May there were 148 agency workers in 
post compared to over 180 at times in 2018/19. As newly qualified staff start over 
the next few months and gain experience the number of agency staff will reduce 
resulting in a lower over-spend position.  

21.A higher level of activity is also causing an overspend of £0.463 million in section 
17 and discretionary payments for foster carers. A resource panel is now in place 
to review and agree all significant payments and ensure consistency across 
teams and signpost to other services.

22. In addition to this young peoples support are forecasting a £0.515 million over-
spend due to a number of complex cases and the additional cost of agency staff 
covering vacancies where the cost will reduce as permanent staff are recruited. 

Page 27



6

23.There are a number of offsetting variances which include services for children 
with disabilities and education support services that are forecast to under-spend 
by £0.282 million across a number of services.

Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) position

24.Dedicated Schools Grant (DSG) funded services are forecast to be over-spent 
by £4.842 million in 2019/20 which includes the deficit carry forward of £2.884 
million in the high needs block. As reported last year the cost pressures are in 
the High Needs Block (forecast over-spend for the block in 2019/20 is £2.518 
million) with over-spends against Independent Special Schools (£1million), top 
ups for primary schools to support Education, Health and Care plans (EHCP) 
(£0.2 million) as well as a deficit in-year budget of £1.192 million; these are all 
caused by increases to activity and reflects the national picture. 

25.The High Needs Strategy approved by Cabinet in January 2019 includes eight 
core activities to address the continuing cost pressures. Working with schools 
and the School Forum, these activities will include focusing on a new approach 
to exclusions and improvement of the graduated pathway and EHCP process. 
The specialist commissioning team are also continuing to work to reduce the 
cost of placements where appropriate. The budget pressures that 
Gloucestershire is facing reflects the national picture with significant deficits in 
DSG high needs being held in many Local Authorities with lobbying continuing 
for additional funding. Without additional funding it is unlikely that the DSG ring 
fenced grant can be brought back into balance in the near future resulting 
potentially in a financial risk to the Council. A 5 year recovery plan is being 
developed. 

Communities & Infrastructure 

26.Communities and Infrastructure are currently reporting a forecast of £0.310 
million overspend (0.4% of total budget). 

27.Waste are forecasting an net overspend of £0.357 million in total which is made 
up from £0.412 million overspend against recycling credit payments, £0.047 
million HRC overspend, £0.090 million of increased income and £0.012 million 
underspend - as summarised in the following two paragraphs.

28.Recycling tonnages are growing at a faster rate than anticipated and each tonne 
of additional recycling attracts a recycling credit payment which results in a 
forecast overspend against the credit payment budget.  If recycling tonnages 
reduced this would reduce the value of recycling credit payments but would 
increase the amount of residual waste that has to be processed which costs 

Page 28



7

more per tonne than the recycling credit payment. In the medium term the 
Council is looking at options to reduce demand by renegotiating the incentives 
payment levels and reviewing payments to third parties. The payment of general 
recycling credits to waste collection authorities will continue to be subject to 
statutory and tonnage based growth.  

29.There has been a £0.047 million overspend against the Household Recycling 
Centres due to unexpected costs that incurred during 18/19 being invoiced in this 
financial year.  The overspend has been offset by £0.090 million of additional 
income forecasted against landfill royalty payments and £0.012 million of 
underspend on other waste areas

30.Highways Commissioning are reporting a £0.033 million underspend position 
which is made up of various small underspends over a number of areas.  Parking 
is currently reporting a balanced position however income is being closely 
monitored to manage the risk of a year end variance.

31.All other areas – Libraries, Registrars, Integrated Transport Unit (ITU),  and 
Strategic Infrastructure are reporting a break even position however it should be 
noted that ITU continues to monitor new contract prices in order to manage the 
risk of an overspend. There is a small underspend position of £0.014 million 
reported in the corporate area relating to staff vacancies.

 
32.Following on from Cabinets decision in June 2018 to join the Western Gateway 

Shadow Sub-National Transport Body (WGSSTB) the Council has taken the role 
of the Lead Authority which has Accountable Body responsibilities.  The lead 
authority are able to recoup administration costs and the resource required has 
been identified within existing resources for the majority of the work and any 
specialist resources required will be funded from the partnership.

Gloucestershire Fire & Rescue Service & Regulatory Services

33.  The Fire and Rescue Service shows a forecast overspend of £0.213 million.  
The overspend is mainly a result of changes to employer’s superannuation on 
fire pension schemes where contributions increased from 21.7% to 37.3% for 
1992 scheme and 14.3% to 28.8% on the 2015 scheme.  A grant has been 
received but only covers 90% of the costs.  

34.A 3% pay award has been budgeted for although the actual increase has not yet 
been agreed.

35.Trading Standards and the Coroner’s Service are anticipating an on target 
position.

Page 29



8

36.At the full council meeting of 26th June 2019 members unanimously supported 
the motion to fund the transportation costs for key stage 2 and 3 children to 
attend SkillZONE.  Prior to 2016 SkillZONE received funding to subsidise the 
transport costs for children to attend the centre - this resulted in over 16,000 
children attending the centre and 500 ‘New Journey’ ambassadors being trained 
who went on to educate 3000 year 7 students in safe travel as they transitioned 
to secondary school.  Numbers of children attending have reduced significantly 
since this funding was withdrawn - last year only 4500 children attended which is 
predominantly due to the travel costs to get them to the centre.  In order to 
improve the safety of primary school and year 7 children and to maximise the 
potential capacity of SkillZONE it is proposed that subsidised travel be 
reintroduced, on a targeted basis, to transport 5000 primary school and 600 year 
8 children per year to the centre to directly receive training and to become New 
Journey travel ambassadors to educate a further 3500 year 7 children across 
Gloucestershire in a full year.  The cost of this is £0.040 million to subsidise 
travel for 5000 children and £0.008 million to train 600 ambassadors to educate 
a further 3500 children in a full year. It is therefore proposed to allocate £0.028 
million to GFRS from the Transformation Reserve to fund the part year impact 
(September 2019 to March 2020) in the current financial year. Please refer to 
Appendix A of the report for more details. 

Business Support Services

37.The forecast outturn for Business Support Services is a balanced position. 

38.Strategy & Challenge are forecasting a balanced position. This position takes 
into account the risk around income targets which are being actively managed. 
Extraordinary legal child protection cases, where demand continues to increase, 
will continue to be funded corporately. A strategy to actively manage the 
recruitment and retention of suitably qualified and experienced Child Protection 
Lawyers is in place. 

Technical and Cross Cutting

39.The forecast outturn position for Technical and Corporate budgets is a £5.0 
million underspend (11.43% of budget). The main areas of variance relate to:-

40.Positive interest rate credits on cash balances totalling £2.22 million, reflecting 
better diversification of investments and longer term deposits.

41.When the 2019/20 Budget was agreed in February 2019 a number of 
government funding streams had not been finalised due to the timings of 
announcements.  These funding streams have now been confirmed and have 
resulted in slightly more central funding than originally estimated.  In total, £2.78 

Page 30



9

million more will be received from s31 grants as a result of changes that central 
government have made to business rates, known as Business Rates Autumn 
Statement Grant for 2019/20.  These changes to funding are managed within the 
Technical and Corporate budgets for the Council.

B.  Capital Expenditure

Current Spend 2019/20

42.The capital budget for 2019/20 is £121.537 million.  Actual spend against the 
capital programme as at the end of May 2019 is £6.045 million. 

Budget and Capital Forecast Outturn Position 2019/20

43.The forecast outturn position for 2019/20 is £122.684 million giving an in year 
overspend position of £1.147 million.

44.Details of the budgets, forecast year end position, analysed by service area, and 
key factors considered in producing this forecast position are provided in the 
table below and the narrative that follows. 

 
CAPITAL EXPENDITURE 2019/20

Service Area

Reprofiled 
Budget 
2019/20

Current 
Year 

Spend 
2019/20

% Current 
Year 

Spend 
against 

Reprofiled 
Budget

Forecast 
Outturn 
2019/20

Forecast 
Year-end 
Variance

£000 £000 % £000 £000
Capital Receipts Works Before Sale 0 0 0 0

Adults 7,090 744 10 7,090 0

Children & Families 27,824 2,679 10 27,824 0

Communities
Highways 53,807 1,994 4 54,954 1,147
Strategic Infrastructure 2,125 58 3 2,125 0
Waste Disposal 1,228 41 3 1,228 0
Libraries 909 2 0 909 0
Fire & Rescue 600 0 0 600 0
Business Support
AMPS 17,570 100 1 17,570 0
ICT projects 8,380 155 2 8,380 0
Business Service Centre 631 0 0 631 0
Archives & Information Management 739 266 36 739 0
Customer 634 6 1 634 0

Total 121,537 6,045 5 122,684 1,147

Page 31



10

Highways Capital Programme

45.Highways schemes are forecast to spend £54.954 million in 2019/20 against the 
current budget of £53.807 million, giving a forecast overspend of £1.147 million.    
This forecast overspend will be funded by the proposed increase in funding 
detailed below.

Other Services Capital Programmes

46.All other services are forecast to spend in line with the current budgets.

Changes to the Capital Programme in 2019/20 and future years

Children and Families 

47.Details of a proposed increase of £0.206 million to the Children and Families 
Capital Programme are included in the Children & Families Capital Programme 
2019/20 Update report presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this agenda.

Highways

48.Details of a proposed increase of £4.5 million to the Highways Capital 
Programme are included in the A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and 
Canal Improvements report presented to Cabinet elsewhere on this agenda.

49. It is proposed that Cabinet support an increase of £1.147 million in the Highways 
capital budget, funded by the following additional resources: 

 £0.993 million additional DfT Pothole Fund Grant. 
 A reduction of £0.023 million as the DfT Incentive Fund Grant allocation was 

slightly less than anticipated despite getting maximum score.
 £0.150 million transfer from the C&I reserve which relates to income from 

Boots Corner camera enforcement to cover 2018/19 overspends on 
Cheltenham Transport Plan.  

 £0.024 million developer contribution towards RTPI at Cam and Dursley 
Station and other stops in Cam. 

 £0.003 million developer contribution towards cycle parking at Cam and 
Dursley.

50. It is proposed that Cabinet support the following budget allocations from the 
existing approved budget for carriageway resurfacing:

 £0.455 million towards a new scheme to resurface the A435 Evesham 
Road, Gotherington to Pamington Road Junction.

Page 32



11

 £0.304 million towards a new scheme to resurface Speech House Road to 
the junction of Fancy Road.

 £0.450 million increase in the A4019 Uckington to Stoke Road scheme, 
increasing the budget from £0.250 million to £0.700 million. This increase is 
necessary as in-year deterioration means that we have to do both sides of 
the dual carriageway and address an identified SCRIM site (SCRIM is poor 
surface friction meaning the road had become polished).

Overall

51.As a result of the above changes, the overall capital programme will increase by 
£1.353 million.

Page 33



This page is intentionally left blank



Financial Monitoring Report

Cabinet: 24 July 2019

Appendix A: Financial support for subsidised admission and travel for school 
children to attend SkillZone from September 2019 (for information) 

Cabinet Member: Cllr Dave Norman 

Portfolio: Public Protection, Parking and Libraries 

Background 

The County Council considered a Motion (842) on 26 June 2019 relating to the 
financial support it provides to school children attending the SkillZONE. 

The Council made a unanimous decision at the meeting to ask Cabinet to explore 
opportunities to reintroduce the scheme to cover the admission  and transportation 
costs for all identified schools wishing to send key stage 2 and 3 children to the 
SkillZONE for road safety education from September 2019.  

This Appendix sets out the Cabinet’s proposed financial support to such children in 
response to the Council’s decision.

1. In the two financial years up to 2016, SkillZONE received a total of £85,000 to offer 
free admission for all year 5 pupils and to subsidise the transport costs for identified 
schools. The funding also created ‘New Journey’ which is a project to train students 
to become safe travel ambassadors in Year 9. 

2. An impact of the funding was that 16,400 primary school children attended 
SkillZONE during the period when Gloucestershire County Council subsidised 
admission and transport; and 500 year 9 students went on to support up to 3000 
new year 7 children as they made the transition to secondary school. 

3. Following the withdrawal of the funding there has been a year on year reduction in 
visitor numbers. During the period 2017-2019, 10,230 primary school children 
attended a SkillZONE life skills session from a high of approximately 9000 in 2015 to 
a low of 4500 last year. 

4. It is important to note that a free session for every key stage 2 and 3 child in 
Gloucestershire cannot be delivered in one year as there are too many schools and 
too many children for the SkillZONE capacity.  

Options

1. Continue to offer places to schools who must arrange their own travel:

This has been identified as a key barrier to attendance as school budgets have 
reduced.

Page 35



2. Seek alternative funding routes to subsidise travel:

This will be an ongoing option which SkillZONE will pursue. However, to take this 
option will not allocate funding to the base budget which results in a year by year 
approach to offering this training and creates a further barrier to schools accessing 
the facility as they cannot plan far enough in advance.

3. Reintroduce subsidised travel, on a targeted basis:

a) This will support transportation of 5000 primary school and 600 year 8 
children per year to the centre to directly receive training and to become New 
Journey travel ambassadors to educate a further 3500 year 7 children across 
Gloucestershire.  The cost of this is £40,000 to subsidise travel for 5000 
children and £8000 to train 600 ambassadors to educate a further 3500 
children.  

b) As this is an in year request the pro-rata amount required to fund the 
remainder of the financial year will be £28,000.

Officer Advice

1. It is proposed that subsidised travel be reintroduced, on a targeted basis, to transport 
primary and secondary school children to the centre to directly receive training 
across Gloucestershire.   

2. The cost of this is £28,000 (pro-rata) to subsidise travel.

Summary 

1. At the full council meeting on 26 June 2019, members unanimously supported 
Motion 842 – SkillZONE, relating to admission and transportation costs for key stage 
2 and 3 children to attend the centre.  

2. SkillZONE and Gloucestershire Fire and Rescue Service (GFRS) officers will 
continue to work through the Safer Gloucestershire Partnership and other relevant 
routes to secure funding which supports the attendance of children to the SkillZONE 
centre to receive training in the valuable life skills, including road safety that the 
centre offers.  

3. The recommendation in the overarching Financial Monitoring Report makes 
provision for this additional funding to enable the release of £28,000, in year, from 
the transformation reserve to fund key stage 2 and 3 attendance at SkillZONE.

Page 36



TO CONSIDER THE FUTURE PROVISION OF CARE HOMES IN GLOUCESTERSHIRE 

AND THE RELEVANT CONSULTATION

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Adult Social Care 
Commissioning

Adult Social Care 
Delivery

Councillor Roger Wilson 

Councillor Kathy Williams 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Older People Care Home Strategy

“Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for 
Adults”

 
Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

 Draft Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for 
Adults

 Older People Care Home Strategy

Main Consultees Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, 
Stroud, care home providers in Stroud, employees of The Orders of St John 
Care Trust (OSJCT) who work at Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, 
Stroud.

Planned Dates It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 1st 2019 to 1st 
November 2019 regarding the impact on residents and their families and the 
arrangements to provide alternative accommodation for residents.  The 
consultation will be jointly led by the Council and The Orders of St John 
Care Trust.

Divisional 
Councillor

Stroud Central

Officer Kim Forey, Director of Integration.
Tel. 0300 421 1628
kimforey@nhs.net

Purpose of Report To seek Cabinet approval to close Southfield and Wyatt House, Stroud and 
to consult with residents and their families on the impact of the care home 
closures.

Recommendations

The Cabinet

1. Approves the closure of Southfield care home, Stroud.

 2. Agrees that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of Southfield 
care home will be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in 

Page 37

Agenda Item 6

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090733/draft-procedure-for-managing-the-closure-of-a-care-home-providing-services-for-adults-gloucestershire.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090733/draft-procedure-for-managing-the-closure-of-a-care-home-providing-services-for-adults-gloucestershire.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2090734/care-home-strategyjune5.pdf


the County.

3. Delegates authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:   
                  
i) Consults with residents and their families of Southfield care home on the 
impact of and arrangements for the closure of the care homes.

ii) Facilitates moving the residents to an alternative home that meets their 
needs.

4. Approves the closure of Wyatt House Care home.

5. Agrees that any capital receipts arising from the disposal of the 
properties will be ring-fenced for future developments for older people in the 
County.

6.Delegates authority to the Director of Integration, in consultation with the 
Cabinet Member for Adult Social Care Commissioning to:   
                  
i) Consult with residents and their families of Wyatt House on the impact of 
and arrangements for the closure of the care homes.

ii) Facilitates moving the residents to an alternative home that meets their 
needs.

Reasons for 
recommendations

To ensure that residents and their families are engaged and understand the 
potential impact of the closure of the two care homes.

Supports the key issues identified in the Older People Care Home Strategy.

Deliver on the Council’s priorities outlined in “Looking to the Future.”

•A Magnet county - A growing working age population, with more 18-40 
year olds with high level qualifications choosing to live and work in the 
county.

•An Innovative county - More businesses starting up, growing and investing 
in research and innovation.

•A Skilled county - More people with high-level skills and jobs in skilled 
occupations.

•A Prosperous county - Rising productivity and household incomes offering 
higher living standards.

•An Inclusive county - The economic and social benefits of growth to be felt 
by all.

Page 38



•A Healthy county - People to have a good work/life balance and improved 
health and wellbeing.

•A Connected county - Improved transport and internet connections so that 
people and businesses can connect with each other more easily.

•A Sustainable county - More efficient use of resources and more use of 
sustainable energy.

•A Resilient county - Active, resilient local communities that keep people 
safe, provide them with support and help them to make a positive 
contribution.

Southfield is no longer financially viable and provides residential care only, 
the demand for which is declining and likely to reduce further.

Wyatt House is not fit for the future and cannot be refurbished to meet 
modern standards.

Resource 
Implications

Within existing budgets.

The costs associated with the closure of each care home are estimated to 
be £200,000. This figure is based on the costs associated with the closure of 
Townsend House and Trevone House, including the costs associated with 
the consultation process referred to in this report.

Page 39



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background. 

The Council entered into a contract with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in April 2005 

for the running of the former Council older person care homes. The contract has a term 

of 35 years. The contract essentially covers:

(i) The provision of care services by Gloucestershire Care Partnership in 

Gloucestershire.

(ii) The lease of properties where such care will be provided.

(iii) Arrangements for the development of those and provision of new properties 

where such care will be provided.

(iv) Arrangements addressing the transition of care services from the current 

provider when the Council entered into the contract in April 2005 to 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership is a joint venture company set up by The Orders of St 

John Care Trust and Bedford Pilgrim Housing Association for the purposes of provision 

of care services. 

At the outset of the contract Gloucestershire Care Partnership was providing care for 21 

care homes within Gloucestershire, 10 of those homes have closed and 4 new homes 

have been built. Annex 1 – Map of Gloucestershire Care Partnership care homes in 

Gloucestershire.

Within the contract, the Council has agreed to purchase a guaranteed minimum number 

(60%) of care home beds across the contracted homes in each District within 

Gloucestershire. The Council has to pay for the minimum level of care home beds 

regardless of whether they are occupied by customers funded by the Council or not, 

unless Gloucestershire Care Partnership is able to sell the care home beds to people 

who fund their own care. 

Within the contract an Estates Committee was established to manage the development 

of an Estates Strategy for the development of services for older people in 

Gloucestershire, which covers issues such as:

Page 40



(i) Development proposals for new homes.

(ii) Consider and propose for the Council minor refurbishments for the care homes.

(iii) When individual homes should be considered for closure, refurbishment or 

consideration as part of a Proposal within the Estates Strategy.

The long term contractual arrangements between the Council and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership are similar to those introduced by other Local Authorities in the early 2000s. 

Within adjacent Local Authority areas Oxfordshire and Wiltshire have similar long term 

contractual arrangements.

2. Introduction.

At the time of the agreement with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in 2005 the health 

and social care environment was very different to the current situation. In 2005 older 

people’s aspirations, social care solutions and the financial environment encouraged 

the development and provision of care homes to support people with lower level 

residential care needs. Since 2005, older people are living longer with more complex 

needs and the financial pressures on local government and people who fund their own 

care have changed.

The Government introduced the Care Act 2014 that sets out how people’s care and 

support needs should be met and introduced the right to an assessment for anyone, 

including carers and people who fund their own care.

The Care Act sets out the Council’s duty to ensure people’s well being is at the centre 

of all it does. 

The Council’s Older People Care Home Strategy in Gloucestershire recognises the 

changing nature of health and care for older people in the county. The strategy 

highlighted the following key commissioning intentions: 

 The numbers of people placed in residential care will reduce as the

Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group work with the market to

           develop alternative options for people to remain in their own homes and

           communities, for as long as possible. This is likely to mean the number of

           care homes that only provide residential care are likely to reduce.

Page 41



 The Council will discuss with residents and their families the closure

           of residential only care homes and care homes that cannot provide

           appropriate built environment to meet the care needs of older people.

 The Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group will utilise and support

            the market to deliver care that meets high end needs especially for those

            living with dementia where other options are no longer possible.

 The Council and the Clinical Commissioning Group will look to purchase

            more short term assessment beds to provide an environment in which we can 

develop solutions which will allow as many people as possible to return home

 with a personalised support package.

 The Council will discuss with the care home market the changing commissioning 

care home needs and the potential implications for care providers.

 The Council will work with the market to provide quality outcomes and ensure 

there is sufficient capacity in the Care Sector workforce to support older people 

in Gloucestershire.

3. Gloucestershire Care Partnership Discussions. 

The contractual arrangements with GCP confirm that if the Council’s demand for care 

home beds in any care home falls below the minimum levels and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership consider that the care home, in their reasonable opinion, is becoming 

economically unviable, then the care home shall become a priority for consideration by 

the Estates Committee for closure, refurbishment or for consideration as part of a 

Proposal within the Estates Strategy.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has been discussing with the Council a refreshed 

Estates Strategy. The Strategy will reflect the commissioning intentions of the council 

as set out in the strategy for Older People’s Care Homes.

Discussions with Gloucestershire Care Partnership have included the short and 

medium term future for Southfield and Wyatt House care homes.  The following 

Page 42



provides a summary of the key aspects of each home, including the current demand 

within the homes and the financial position.

Southfield Care Home

Southfield is a 34 room care home providing residential care only, built in 1960s. 

Since January 2019 Southfield’s occupancy has varied from 76 % to 84%. For the last 

24 months there has been a consistent picture of new residents at the care home, 1 

person, on average, per month funded by the Council moving into Southfield.   

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 27 residents at Southfield, 17 people funded by the 

Council and 10 people who fund their own care home costs. 

The Council is contracted to purchase 60% of care home rooms from Gloucestershire 

Care Partnership for the Stroud district, which is:

 The Elms

 Henlow Court

 Southfield

 Wyatt House

The Council is purchasing 57% of the total rooms in Southfield.

The Care Quality Commission rating for Southfield is “Good”, the latest report form the 

Care Quality Commission is annex 2.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for 2019/20 Southfield 

is forecast to make a loss of £107,000 and if occupancy levels continue at current 

figures a loss of £118,000 in 2020/21 and £133,000 in 2021/22. 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that there are £600,000 

capital building works required to ensure the care home can operate until April 2025, 

with the majority of these building works needing to be completed within the next 2 

years. Examples of the work required include corridor lighting and bedroom upgrades. 

This would not make the home economically viable and this would not resolve the issue 

Page 43



of oversupply and hence the level of vacant beds at Southfield and other care homes in 

the Stroud area.

To finance any capital investment in the home Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council that the home would need to be generating profits sufficient to pay 

for the investment or alternatively  the Council would need to fund the works if it wished 

to keep the home open.

Wyatt House

Wyatt House is a 30 bed room care home providing residential and nursing dementia 

care, built in 1970.

Wyatt House occupancy has fluctuated an average monthly occupancy of between 

90% and 97% since January 2019, but with some individual days dropping to 86%.

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 28 residents at Wyatt House, 24 people funded by 

the Council and 4 people who fund their own care home costs.

The Council is currently purchasing 71% of the total rooms in Wyatt House.

The Care Quality Commission rating for Wyatt House is “Requires Improvement”, the 

latest report form the Care Quality Commission is annex 3.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for 2019/20 Wyatt 

House is forecast to make a loss of £195,000 and if occupancy levels continue at 

current figures a loss of £212,000 in 2020/21 and £232,000 in 2021/22.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that there are £784,000 

capital building works required at the home, the majority of these building works need to 

be completed within the next 2 years. Examples of the work required include corridor 

lighting and bedroom upgrades. These works would not make the home economically 

viable.

To finance any capital investment in the home Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council that the home would need to be generating profits sufficient to pay 

for the investment or alternatively  the Council would need to fund the works if it wished 

to keep the home open.   

Page 44



Gloucestershire Care Partnership and the Council agree that Wyatt House is no longer 

fit for purpose to support the needs of dementia residents. Specifically:

 Whilst a lovely garden, it is considered as having limited external space for the 

number of residents with noise potentially causing disorientation. More 

importantly the significant level changes make it unsafe and inaccessible for 

people in wheelchairs and there is no option to create any other external space. 

The importance of being able to go outside is widely documented as benefiting 

an individual’s physical and mental health. 

 The small number of communal areas and break out spaces mean that this can 

sometimes cause distress due to noise generation.

 There are narrow corridors (in places down to 0.85 m and up to a max of 1.30 

metres) whereas the ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair users and semi-

ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

 Whilst the circular design allows people to walk freely, this layout means that 

staff cannot see long distances meaning that residents cannot be easily 

observed.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

There is significant research on design to support individuals with dementia. For the last 

twenty-five years the University of Stirling (i) has championed the importance of design 

in creating spaces which actively support and enable people with dementia. Stirling has 

promoted the identification and dissemination of good practice both through the work of 

its renowned Dementia Services Development Centre (DSDC) (ii) and through rigorous 

applied academic research. They have published a Good Practice in Design for 

Dementia and Sight Loss (iii)  as well as a Virtual Care Home  with design ideas.  

(i) https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design 

Page 45



(ii)  https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design/good-practice-design-dementia-and-sight-loss

(iii) https://dementia.stir.ac.uk/design/virtual-environments/virtual-care-home

  

4. Officer Actions.

Advice was sought from the Consultation Institute regarding how discussion with 

residents, families and employees of The Orders of St John Care Trust should be 

undertaken to explain the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House care 

homes.

The Consultation Institute advised that the Council should commence a short 

engagement with residents, families and employees of The Orders of St John Care 

Trust, setting out the reasons for the possible closure of Southfield and Wyatt House, 

and seek their views on alternative options the Council could consider and the 

possible impact on them if the two care homes were closed.

Discussions with the Consultation Institute advised that the engagement with 

residents and families should be undertaken independently from the Council.

The Consultation Institute also advised the Council should seek some independent 

view on the care market in Stroud.

Following the advice from the Consultation Institute the following actions have been 

taken:

Resident and Family Engagement

The Council commissioned ASV, who employed Andy Wright, an Associate of the 

Consultation Institute to discuss with residents and families the possible closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House. Meetings occurred on 26th June 2019. The report from ASV is 

attached as Annex 4. The key findings from the report are summarised below.

Conclusions for Consideration Council Response

Overwhelming opinion from both care 

home settings, irrespective of the 

 The Council recognises the views of 

residents and families regarding the 

Page 46



condition of the building, the difference 

being at either Southfield or Wyatt is the 

care provided by the staff of The Orders of 

St John. It is also important to note that 

this group are not ‘novice’ buyers; 

generally they report trying between three 

and five care homes before choosing the 

current residents of their loved ones. 

Various factors cited including the overall 

hygiene and cleanliness, the atmosphere, 

most importantly the consistency of 

relationship with the staff. OSJ staff are 

viewed as being invariably friendly, 

irrespective of their role, providing 

consistent and excellent care.

This perception of care compares poorly 

when considered against other homes 

where participants report rapid 

changeover of staff, perceptions of 

difficulties in maintaining relationships with 

staff and a very high reliance on agency 

staff, of course this must be recognised as 

anecdotal but because of the consistency 

of its expression in both groups it is a 

factor that many worry will be impossible 

to replicate if residents are moved to other 

care home beds. In summary, leadership 

and management from The Orders of St 

John is viewed as outstanding leading to 

continuity of staff and consequential care, 

people are concerned that this will no 

longer be available to them, despite 

assurances in the briefing that other OSJ 

quality of care provided at Southfield and 

Wyatt House.

The proposal to close the two care homes 

is not about the quality of care being 

provided by The Orders of St John Care 

Trust.

Page 47



care beds would be considered as an 

alternative placement. One resident spoke 

of the staff as…

‘…angels without wings…our friends, or 

family.…’

In terms of the engagement process itself, 

there was overwhelming consensus 24 

hours is not a long enough period of notice 

for the meetings called to discuss these 

proposals with residents, families and 

carers. In addition, there was widespread 

criticism of the briefing letter provided to 

call the meeting. The view expressed 

being that not enough information is 

provided as the basis of discussion and in 

addition it was neither clear nor 

comprehensive leading to confusion 

during discussions.

A balance had to be struck with ensuring 

residents, families and employees of The 

Order of St John Care Trust were made 

aware of the proposals to enable them to 

give us their views before the Council 

considered whether to close the homes 

whilst avoiding a lengthy engagement 

exercise which would have resulted in a 

period of greater anxiety in the care home.

 Consultation meetings regarding the 

impact of the closure of Southfield and 

Wyatt House will be held during the day, in 

the evening and at weekends. Notice for 

these meetings will be circulated following 

the Cabinet meeting on 24th July. If 

Cabinet accept the recommendation 

provisional dates for meetings between 1st 

and 5th August 2019 are proposed.

The briefings provided gave an overview 

of the proposals. The key issues for the 

two care homes are:

Southfield – is a care home that only 

provides residential care and has had low 

Page 48



occupancy, which impacts on the financial 

viability of the care home. The occupancy 

figures are not improving and there are a 

number of other care homes in Stroud with 

empty rooms.

Wyatt House – is a care home built in 

1970 and Gloucestershire Care 

Partnership and the Council agree that 

Wyatt House is no longer fit for purpose to 

support the needs of dementia residents. 

Wyatt House is also forecast to lose 

£195,000 in 19/20 and similar figures in 

the next two years if occupancy and fee 

levels remain at current figures. 

Overall, the feeling was that the quality of 

care has not been considered as one of 

the criteria on which these proposed 

discussions are being discussed. Based 

on the information provided in the briefing 

document, the process overlooks CQC 

scores and more importantly the levels of 

pastoral care delivered in the GCP care 

homes. Participants in the groups were 

very concerned that their choice would be 

significantly limited because the other care 

home beds available in the Stroud district 

are in settings that CQC do not require 

improvement against at least one of the 

areas Safe, Effective, Caring, Responsive, 

and Well-led.

The Council recognises the quality of care 

being provided at both care homes and 

other Gloucestershire Care Partnership 

care homes.

There are 25 older people care homes in 

the Stroud district. The Care Quality 

Commission at the last inspection for each 

home have concluded the following:

Good – 21 care homes.

Requires Improvement - 3 care homes.

No Inspection Yet – 1 care home.

Serious concerns were expressed over the 

impact on residents through breaking up 

Both homes provide accommodation for 

adults who require nursing or personal 

Page 49



friendship networks and resident-to-

resident support built up over many 

months and years. This extended to 

concern over disrupting the environments 

of frail and elderly people many of whom 

have dementia and in the case of Wyatt 

House has very complex needs and 

comorbidities. The anecdotal view from 

those present at meetings of both 

locations, based on personal experience 

with other relatives, was that moving 

people will lead to earlier death. This 

extended to the impact on resident’s 

family, many of whom felt that any change 

in location would remove the remaining 

connections to their ‘old’ life and social 

networks.

care. Because of the age, physical and 

mental disabilities and other care and 

support needs of the individuals 

concerned, any move would need to be 

managed sensitively. We do not 

underestimate the anxiety and concern 

that may be felt by residents and their 

families by this proposal. Our engagement 

and consultation with residents and their 

families will help us to better understand 

any negative impact based on the 

protected characteristics that the 

proposals may have and how we may 

mitigate this. 

The Council will also try to ensure that any 

moves to new care homes are planned so 

that friends can move to the same new 

care home.

The view of most is that the council is not 

making an effective case for the closures. 

People generally accepted there may be a 

valid business case for considering 

closures the closures. However, with the 

information provided at short notice the 

council had not made that case and 

people were largely unconvinced.

Likewise any arguments about the 

unsuitability of the fabric of the buildings, 

particularly Wyatt House, were not seen to 

have been made conclusively. Relatives 

and carers were more than happy to offer 

their services on a voluntary basis to 

This Cabinet report sets out the key 

reasons why Southfield and Wyatt House 

have been considered for closure. 

Page 50



address many of the issues with the 

building, for instance to level the garden at 

Wyatt House to make it safe for residents.

In addition the case made was thought to 

significantly overlook likely increases in 

dementia cases and the growing demand 

on care homes from an ageing population, 

without providing adequate information on 

the alternatives for care at home 

participants in the meeting remained 

unconvinced that in the medium term 

Stroud was oversupplied with beds.

Participants were keen to offer alternatives

▪ Increased marketing and publicity activity 

to increase the bed occupancy Southfield;

▪Closing Wyatt house and moving 

residents into Southfield which has a 

higher CQC rating; and

▪ Utilising volunteers to address issues 

with the buildings through applications of 

their skills and labour.

It was clear that these suggestions where 

offered from ‘front of mind’ thinking with 

participants not having sufficient time to 

formulate any clear alternatives. However, 

the groups were very keen to be provided 

with the opportunity to further explore e 

alternative options to closure with the 

council.

Page 51



In terms of the final decision and 

recommendations to Gloucestershire 

County Council cabinet there was an 

overwhelming feeling that any decision 

needed to involve decision-makers in 

seeing the conditions at each of the care 

homes. The tangible but incredibly 

important elements such as atmosphere, 

staff attitudes and residents interaction 

cannot, in the groups’ views, be judged 

solely on statistics and the paper report.

The two Cabinet Members for Adult Social 

Care have been fully briefed on the key 

issues affecting both care homes and are 

aware of the condition and limitations of 

both care homes.

Finally, the groups - while recognising that 

their own loved ones where at the stage at 

which care at home was no longer 

practical expressed significant 

reservations over the current capability of 

the social care system to provide 

adequate services in this area. In their 

view three 15 minute visits per day to look 

after frail and elderly people was 

inadequate.

The Council does not commission “15 

minute” care visits. The Council works with 

domiciliary care providers to ensure that 

people’s outcomes drive the care 

provided.

The Council commissioned Evolving Communities to understand the potential equality 

impact issues for residents and families. Evolving Communities is an independent and 

impartial community interest company who are experts in health and social care. They offer 

a professional consultancy service specialising in research, evaluation and public 

engagement that combines top academic research and service evaluation. They also run 

three local Healthwatch services in Gloucestershire, Somerset and Dorset.

Page 52



The Evolving Communities report “An Independent consultation on the potential closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House, Stroud: A resident and relatives / representatives viewpoint of 

the likely impact” is attached as Annex 5 and the key findings are summarised below.

Key Findings / Recommendations Council Response

Cabinet Members should consider the 

emotional and physical impact on both 

residents and their relatives or 

representatives, both now and in the 

future of any potential closure.

This is recognised and the 

recommendation recognises that a full 

consultation with those residents and their 

families about the impact which the 

proposed closure is likely to have.  This 

will involve appropriate support being 

provided to relatives and their relatives or 

representatives during the period the care 

homes are closing and after people move 

to new care homes. 

The Council has developed a “Procedure 

for Managing the Closure of a Care Home 

Providing Services for Adults” which has 

been developed by examining best 

practice from the social care sector.

Cabinet Members should acknowledge 

what residents and their relatives have 

said about the potential closure through 

this report

The full report from Evolving Communities 

and the ASV Report set out in Annexes 4 

and 5 set out a summary of the residents, 

relatives and staff views. The views of 

residents have been considered in 

exploring the options available for 

Southfield and Wyatt House as set out in 

this report. 

If the Cabinet accept the recommendation 

there will be a consultation exercise to 

further assess the impact of the proposed 

closures and to ensure the Council follows 

Page 53



best practice in supporting residents 

through the changes.

Cabinet members should consider visiting 

both the homes in person.

The two Cabinet Members for Adult Social 

Care have been fully briefed on the key 

issues affecting both care homes and are 

aware of the condition and limitations  of 

both care homes.

GCC should include CQC reports and 

resident reviews in any further decision-

making process.

This report includes details of the most 

recent CQC reports.

Residents and families will be provided 

access to CQC reports and resident 

reviews as part of the process to choose a 

new care home. 

GCC should provide residents and their 

relatives or representatives clearer 

information regarding the exact reasons 

and rationale for the potential closures.

The Council recognise the views of 

residents and their relatives and 

representatives. The Cabinet report sets 

out in detail the options considered and 

why Southfield and Wyatt House are being 

recommended for closure.

GCC should provide residents and 

relatives and representatives with a cost 

comparison between other available care 

options and Wyatt and Southfield House.

Residents and relatives or representatives 

will be provided with the information on the 

potential cost of alternative care home 

placements as part of the formal process. 

Residents and families will be able to meet 

officers from Adult Social Care to discuss 

the options for alternative care homes and 

the potentials costs. 

In the event that closures are agreed, 

GCC should consider and take into 

account current friendships and 

The Council will look to ensure that where 

people want to move to the same care 

home as a friend this is arranged.

Page 54



relationships between residents and staff 

in any relocation decision.

Each resident will have a care home 

movement plan.

The Council will follow the “Procedure for 

Managing the Closure of a Care Home 

Providing Services for Adults” which has 

been developed by examining best 

practice from the social care sector.

Decisions regarding relocation of staff will 

be an individual decision for employees of 

The Orders of St John Care Trust. 

In the event that closures are agreed, 

GCC should carry out a detailed risk 

assessment, undertake appropriate 

planning and offer training to staff to help 

residents adjust.

If the Cabinet accept the recommendation 

there will be a further consultation 

exercise to further assess the impact of 

the proposed closures and The Council 

will follow the “Procedure for Managing the 

Closure of a Care Home Providing 

Services for Adults” which has been 

developed by examining best practice 

from the social care sector.

Individual advocacy support will be 

provided to residents and families. 

Each resident will have a care home 

movement plan.

GCC should strongly consider giving 

residents and relatives or representatives 

substantial notice before any future 

consultation meetings are held. It would 

be preferable if meetings could also be 

held on weekends or evenings.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

engagement and consultation meetings.

Consultation meetings regarding the 

impact of the closure of Southfield and 

Wyatt House will be held during the day 

Page 55



and in the evening.

Ensure that any communication about 

potential closures is handled in a timely 

and sensitive manner, and with clear and 

detailed information.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

communication.

Engage with all residents and relatives or 

representatives in the consultation 

process; this may mean using different 

engagement methods to contact them.

The Council will consider this 

recommendation for any future 

consultation meetings.

Residents and families have been offered opportunities to meet with officers, either in 

the care home or at peoples’ homes to discuss the potential closure of the two care 

homes and to explain the potential impact on them in advance of the Cabinet meeting.  

Issues raised by residents and families not covered in the reports from ASV and 

Evolving Communities were:

Issue Response

The Council should consider working with 

more not for profit care home providers, 

similar to The Orders of St John Care 

Trust rather than private care home 

providers owned by shareholders.

The Council has a long term contract with 

The Orders of St John Care Trust, who 

manages 19 care homes in the County. 

The Council need to promote and 

encourage care provision from across the 

market and welcome further involvement 

of charity and third sector care home 

providers.

The latest Care Quality Commission report 

for Wyatt House does not state the care 

home cannot meet the care needs people 

The Care Quality Commission inspection 

report is focused on the quality of care and 

leadership of the care home. Comments 

made by CQC regarding the use of the 

Page 56



with dementia. garden are positive but only make 

reference to a limited area of the garden. 

Residents are not able to utilise all 

aspects of the garden due to the gradient 

of the paths and different levels in the 

garden.

Employees of The Orders of St John Care Trust Engagement

The Orders of St John Care Trust met with their employees on 26th June 2019. The 

meetings were attended by officers of the Council. The meetings explained the reasons 

for the possible closure of the two care homes and advised that employees would have 

an opportunity to express their views to the Council through a survey.

The key messages in The Orders of St John Care Trust employee survey are 

summarised below:

 General disagreement and sadness with the possible closure of the two care 

homes.

 It feels like the Council are making a money decision before considering the 

needs of older and vulnerable people.

 Feel the residents have been forgotten.

 Staff will lose their “family”, residents, their families and colleagues. 

 The impact on some of the older people if they have to move could be awful.

 Staff will be made redundant as there are no local Orders of St John Care Trust 

homes. 

 Staff feel let down by senior officers in The Orders of St John Care Trust.

 Why cannot the Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust invest in the 

buildings – is it not cheaper to repair the existing building?

 Why is the Council closing a specialist dementia care home?

Page 57



 Could the Council build a new care home and then close Wyatt House?

 The Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust should encourage more 

people to choose Southfield care home. Why cannot people who are in hospital 

not move to Southfield to free up a hospital bed or open up a day centre to 

demonstrate the benefits of living in a care home.

 Can The Orders of St John Care Trust buy Southfield and combine it with Wyatt 

House?

 Refurbish Southfield care home to offer placements for people with nursing and 

dementia needs.

 Spend money on Southfield to make it more attractive to future residents.

Stroud Care Home Market

The Council met with Gloucestershire Care Providers Association on 4th July to discuss 

the Stroud Care Home Market and to understand the impact of the possible decision to 

close the two care homes on the Stroud Care Market.

There are 25 care homes in the Stroud district, which are set out in Annex 6.

It is difficult to ascertain exactly how much oversupply there is in Stroud care home 

market as generally care providers consider information regarding people who fund 

their own care to be commercially sensitive and not usually disclosed to the Council. 

From the information provided by care homes in the Stroud district during the week 

ending 26th June 2019 there were 77 empty rooms. The care home vacancy data for 

Stroud shows:

 Within 6 miles of both care homes there are 55 vacancies.

 Under 2.5 miles of both care homes there are 21 vacancies.

 Between 2.5 miles and 3.5 of both care homes there are 4 vacancies.

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association provided the following information and 

advice:

Page 58



 For some care homes there would be no impact as they do not tend to take 

people funded by the Council but they do have empty rooms and would be 

willing to take people who fund their own care.

 Many care homes saw the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House 

would have a positive impact as they have empty rooms and work with Council.

 Data on vacant rooms was similar to the Council but some care homes indicated 

to Gloucestershire Care Providers Association that they had more vacant rooms 

than what had been declared to the Council. 

When Townsend House, Forest of Dean was closed by the Council and 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership in September 2018 most people moved to Westbury 

care home. These two care homes are 5 miles apart, shortest route or 6.6 miles apart 

on an A road.

5. Options Considered.

The Council has considered a range of options regarding the future of both the homes, 

including proposed options suggested by residents, their families and staff as part of 

the engagement process.  An assessment of the options is set out below:

Southfield Care Home 

5.1. Keep the care home open as a residential care home only.

Southfield is a 34 room care home providing residential care only.   Since January 2019 

Southfield’s occupancy has varied from 76 % to 84%.  For the last 24 months there has 

been 1 person, on average, per month funded by the Council moving into Southfield.  .

There are currently (as at 07/07/19) 27 residents at Southfield, 17 people funded by the 

Council and 10 people who fund their own care home costs.

People have a right under the Care Act 2014 to choose between different care 

providers providing that:

 the accommodation is suitable to meet the person’s assessed needs

 the accommodation is available

Page 59



 the provider of the accommodation is willing to enter into a contract with 

the Local Authority to provide care at the rate to meet the person needs.

Consequently the Council cannot request people to move to Southfield to ensure 

occupancy of the home improves.

The Council could consider covering the projected deficit forecast for future years until 

April 2025. As an example, based on the projected loss for 2019/20 of £107,000 for 

Southfield House and the current Council funded occupancy levels of 17 residents, this 

would mean an increase on the weekly bed price, if all factors stay the same, of 

£121.04.

If the Council considered covering the project deficit, then other care home providers 

would expect to be treated in a similar way, with an increase in their care home fees.

5.2. Keep the care home open and support people with residential and nursing 
care needs.

There is a national and local shortage of qualified nursing staff who wish to work in the 

care home sector. The Orders of St John Care Trust, like other larger providers, are 

concentrating their nursing care provision in fewer homes.  If the Council agreed to 

keep Southfield open and offer nursing the Estates Committee of GCP and the Council 

with The Orders of St John Care Trust would have to review whether nursing care was 

provided at Southfield or the Elms, because it would not be economic based on current 

demand to have both. The Elms has a similar “good” Care Quality Commission rating 

as Southfield, however it has more rooms than Southfield. The Council, GCP and The 

Orders of St John Care Trust would support retaining the Elms as a nursing home, 

rather than developing Southfield, subject to financial viability decisions.

5.3. Keep the care home open and provide specialist dementia care.

Southfield could not meet the complex needs of people with dementia. The key issues 

that limit Southfield ability to support people with dementia are:

Page 60



 There are not enough  communal areas or break out spaces to support people 

with challenging behaviour who can sometimes cause distress and anxiety to 

other residents.

 There are narrow corridors.  The ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair 

users and semi-ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

 The care home is not designed to support people with dementia, for example a 

dementia care home requires a layout for people to walk freely.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

5.4 Take back Southfield Care Home from Gloucestershire Care Partnership and 
the Council take on the management and provision of care. 

The Council can manage a residential care home. If the Council took back 

management of Southfield then the care home would need to operate in a financially 

viable manner.  Due to the low occupancy levels for Southfield, the forecast capital 

building works and the supply of residential care by other providers within Stroud a 

financially viable care home could not be provided.

5.5 Take back the Care Homes and re-procure to a new provider. 

A new care provider would want to ensure that the care homes were able to deliver a 

financial return. Due to the older style nature of the care homes, over supply of 

residential care home rooms, as evidenced in our care home strategy, resulting in  low 

occupancy levels this would not be achieved on the current care home fee levels within 

Stroud. If the Council was to increase care home fees to provide a financial viable 

model for Southfield then this would have a significant impact for the Council and on the 

care market in Stroud and throughout Gloucestershire. 

5.6. Partially Close the Care Homes.

The Council has considered keeping part of Southfield open but due to the layout and 

the care standards set by the Care Quality Commission the care home would still be 

Page 61



projecting significant financial losses as it would generate less income to cover the fixed 

costs.

Conclusion

The following key issues have been considered:

 The views of resident and families and their responses explaining the impact on 

them if Southfield is closed.

 The views of staff and their views on the impact on them if Southfield is closed.

 The care market in Stroud, the availability of care home rooms and the views of 

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association.

 The revenue financial forecast for Southfield – including the impact on the wider 

care market if the Council considered additional financial support to the care 

home.

 The historical and forecast occupancy and the impact on the financial viability of 

Southfield.

 The need to ensure that nursing care home provision is provided at The Elms 

through the contract with Gloucestershire Care Partnership in the Stroud 

locality.

 The capital building works required at Southfield and the duty of the Council to 

make best use of public monies.

In the original agreement of 2005 there was mention of developing The Elms at 

Stonehouse.  In our discussions with GCP and The Orders of St John Care Trust about 

Southfield we have agreed to revisit this as a potential development in line with our 

strategy.

 
Wyatt House

5.7 Retain Wyatt house care home.

The Council could consider covering the projected deficit forecast for future years until 

April 2025. As an example, based on the projected loss for 2019/20 of £195,000 for 

Page 62



Wyatt House and the current Council funded occupancy levels of 24 residents, this 

would mean an increase on the weekly bed price, if all factors stay the same, of 

£156.25.   

If the Council considered covering the project deficit, then other care home providers 

would expect to be treated in a similar way, with an increase in their care home fees.

Wyatt House care home Care Quality Commission rating is “Requires Improvement “.

The Gloucestershire Care Partnership has informed the Council that for Wyatt House to 

remain open until April 2025 the home requires capital investment of £784,000. This 

investment would still not result in the home being one that is purposely designed and 

fit for purpose to support the dependencies of dementia residents today.

 As the care home is forecast to make a deficit, Gloucestershire Care Partnership has 

informed the Council they would not be able to invest in the projected capital figures 

outlined above and would require the Council to provide this funding, but more 

importantly whilst this investment may elongate the life of the building it would not result 

in an environment that was fit for purpose for dementia residents for the future.

Gloucestershire Care Partnership and the Council agree that Wyatt House is no longer 

fit for purpose to support the needs of dementia residents. Specifically:

 Whilst a lovely garden it is considered as having limited external space for the 

number of residents with noise potentially causing disorientation but more 

importantly the significant physical angle of the garden makes it unsafe and 

inaccessible for people in wheelchairs and there is no option to create any other 

external space. The importance of being able to go outside is widely 

documented as benefiting an individual’s physical and mental health. 

 The small number of communal areas or break out spaces mean that this can 

sometimes cause distress due to noise generation.

 There are narrow corridors (in places down to 0.85 m and up to a max of 1.30 

metres) whereas the ideal is 1.90 metres to allow for wheelchair users and semi-

ambulant individuals with walking frames to pass.

Page 63



 Whilst the circular design allows people to walk freely, this layout means that 

staff cannot see long distances meaning that residents cannot be easily 

observed.

 Common issues with a building of this age include corrosion of metal 

reinforcements, poor ventilation, poor thermal qualities and damp and are 

uneconomic to rectify.

The Council is working with developers and providers to facilitate the development of 

Extra Care Housing schemes.

  

The Stroud MP David Drew has indicated that Stroud requires new affordable Extra 

Care Housing and the Wyatt House site could be suitable for such a development.  This 

would also meet the ambition of the Council’s strategy. 

5.8 Take back Wyatt House Care Home from Gloucestershire Care Partnership 
and the Council take on the management and provision of care. 

The Council cannot manage a nursing home because it cannot employ nurses.  If the 

Council took back management of Wyatt House it could only support people with 

residential care support needs. Wyatt House would need to be financially viable.  Due 

to the lower demand for residential care, the forecast capital building works and the 

supply of residential care by other providers within Stroud a financially viable care home 

could not be provided.

5.9 Take back the Care Homes and re-procure a new provider. 

A new care provider would want to ensure that the care home was able to meet the 

needs of residents. A change of care home provider would not change the 

inadequacies of the building to meet the needs with people with dementia.

Conclusion

The following key issues have been considered:

Page 64



 The views of residents and families and their views on the impact on them if 

Wyatt House is closed.

 The views of staff and the forecast impact on them if Wyatt House is closed.

 The care market in Stroud, the availability of care home rooms and the views of 

Gloucestershire Care Providers Association.

 The revenue financial forecast for Wyatt House – including the impact on the 

wider care market if the Council considered financially supporting the care home.

 The inadequacies of Wyatt House to support people with dementia, supported by 

Gloucestershire Care Partnership.

6. Consultation.

The Council will consult with residents, families and employees of The Orders of St 

John Care Trust on the impact of the closure of Southfield and Wyatt House.  Under the 

principle of ‘fairness’, the Council will need to ensure  that people have been consulted 

about the impact of the care home closure – i.e. which residents are moved to which 

new homes; timescales; degrees of choice of new location; criteria for distance from 

current location to new location; criteria for judging most urgent transfers etc. These 

options will be developed through engagement with residents and their families.

The Consultation Institute suggested that the consultation on the impact of the care 

home closure should not turn into a long, drawn-out process. Such moves are very 

unsettling for both residents and their families (and the effects on elderly people of 

moving from one environment to another can be profound) and a lengthy process will 

prolong the uncertainty and worry.  In this respect, the Council needs to balance best 

practice consultation with its duty of care and make the process as quick as possible. 

Following advice from The Consultation Institute in 2018 the Council has developed a 

“Procedure for Managing the Closure of a Care Home Providing Services for Adults” 

which has been developed by examining best practice from the social care sector.

It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 1st 2019 to 1st November 

2019 regarding the impact on residents and their families and the arrangements to 

provide alternative accommodation for residents.  The consultation will be jointly led by 

the Council and The Orders of St John Care Trust.

Page 65



The consultation will involve:

 Meetings on an individual basis or with a group of residents and families for each 

care home – these meetings will explain the reasons for the closure of the care 

home, the options available to move to an alternative care home, likely timescale 

for the potential closure and to understand the potential impact for each resident.

 Meetings with The Orders of St John Care Trust employees - these meetings will 

explain the reasons for the closure of the care home and the likely timescale for 

the closure.  Employment matters will be between The Orders of St John Care 

Trust and their staff.

 Briefings for local Councillors - these meetings will explain the reasons for the 

closure of the care homes, the options available for residents to move to an 

alternative care home, the timescale for the  closure and the wider care home 

issues for their constituents.

 Care Providers – these meetings will discuss the wider care home strategy and 

implications and opportunities for local care providers as a consequence of the 

care home closures.

7. Risk Assessment. 

The key risk for the Council is associated with the impact which the potential closure of 

the two care homes will have on residents and their families. 

Both homes provide accommodation for adults who require nursing or personal care. 

Because of the age, physical and mental disabilities and other care and support needs 

of the individuals concerned, any move would need to be managed sensitively. We do 

not underestimate the anxiety and concern that may be felt by residents and their 

families by this proposal. Our engagement and consultation with residents and their 

families will help us to better understand any negative impact based on the protected 

characteristics that the proposals may have and how we may mitigate this. 

In addition, the Council is mindful that reasonable adjustment and support and 

assistance will be required to enable residents to engage in the consultation process.  

The Due Regard Statement identifies that where necessary Independent Advocacy will 

be offered to ensure they are able to participate in the consultation.

Page 66



If the proposal to close either care home is not agreed by Cabinet the Council will need 

to discuss with Gloucestershire Care Partnership how the care homes will be able to 

operate as they are both forecasting a significant financial loss for the next 3 years. 

8.  Officer Advice.

The Commissioning Director, Adults and DASS’s professional opinion based on all 

available evidence and subsequent analysis is that the Cabinet approve the closure of 

Southfield and Wyatt House care homes and consult with residents and the families 

affected regarding the impact of the home closures.

9.  Equalities considerations.

In developing the proposal to close Southfield and Wyatt House, the service has 

referred to available demographic data and completed a Due Regard statement to 

accompany the report.   The Evolving Communities report referred to in section 

“Resident and Family Engagement” provides an independent assessment of the 

impacts which the proposed closure might have on those with the protected 

characteristics and has been taken into account in completing the due regard 

statement.

The consultation programme will also ensure that any issues identified in the Due 

Regard statement are addressed.

The people affected by the potential closure of Southfield and Wyatt House are:

 Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House.

 Staff employed by The Orders of St John Care Trust at Southfield and Wyatt 

House.

 People who in the future may require an older persons care home in Stroud.

 Care home providers operating in Stroud. 

Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 

satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

6.  Consultation Feedback.

Page 67



 The Consultation process is outlined above. On completion, there will be careful 

consideration of the comments and observations made to ensure that residents 

and families are appropriately supported to move to an alternative care home.

7.  Performance Management and Follow-up. 

7.1 Oversight during consultation with residents and their families.

To maintain the necessary levels of oversight and scrutiny, it is intended that there will 

be weekly briefings for the Cabinet member for Adult Care Commissioning, Councillor 

Roger Wilson on feedback from discussions with residents and their families.

7.2 Post implementation.

A report will be discussed with the Gloucestershire Joint Commissioning Executive and 

Board on the outcome of the care home closures and the impact on residents and 

families. The report will identify the key impact on residents and families and how the 

impacts have been managed. Any learning from the consultation on the impact on 

residents and familes will be considered for any  future consultation exercises.

Page 68



Report Title
To consider the future provision of care homes in 
Gloucestershire and the relevant consultation

Statutory Authority The Care Act 2014.

Relevant County Council 
policy

The Council’s Older People Care Home Strategy.

 

Resource Implications
Within existing budgets.

The costs associated with the closure of each care home are 
estimated to be £200,000. This figure is based on the costs 
associated with the closure of Townsend House and Trevone 
House, including the costs associated with the consultation 
process referred to in this report.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships There will be extensive consultation with care home providers 
and various NHS stakeholders.  

Decision Making and 
Involvement

A formal decision is required of the Cabinet regarding the 
closure of the two care homes.

The CCG Governing Body will need to consider the 
implications of the closure of the two care homes.

The Council will undertake extensive consultation with 
residents and their families regarding the impact of the closure 
of the two care homes.

Economy and Employment A sustainable older peoples’ care home market will provide 
employment opportunities across Gloucestershire.

Caring for people A sustainable older peoples’ care home market will support the 
needs of older people.

Social Value A vibrant and sustainable care home is an essential part of 
local communities.

Built Environment Consideration will need to be given to the future use of the two 
care homes sites, particularly in respect of Extra Care Housing.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

N/A

Page 69



Education and Information The consultation sessions with residents and their families will 
provide an understanding for the reasons for the closure of the 
two care homes.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? / Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? / Maybe

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes.
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report.

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications Public Authorities have a duty under the Human Rights Act 
1998 not to act incompatibly with rights under the European 
Convention for the Protection of Fundamental Rights and 
Freedoms ( the Convention) when they are carrying out 
‘functions of a public nature.

The implementation of the decision should not result in the 
violation of any person’s rights under the European
Convention on Human Rights. Three Articles of the European 
Convention are capable of being relevant to any decision to 
close a residential care home and relocate residents. These 
are 

 Article 2 which provides that everyone’s right to life will 
be protected by law, 

 Article 3 which provides that that no one shall be 
subjected to torture or inhuman or degrading treatment 
and 

 Article 8 under which everyone has the right to respect 
for his family life and his home. Article 8 rights are not 
absolute and can be justified by public interest 
considerations including economic factors. 

The report explains the balance which has had to be struck 
between the overall rationale for the closures, including the 
economic factors, against the potential impact on individual 
residents in proceeding to close the homes and consult on the 
impact.  Best Practice will be followed during the relocation of 
residents, including consultation on any impacts which the 
changes might have on residents and their families, so that the 

Page 70

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


risks of any breach of human rights to residents are minimised.  

Consultation 
Arrangements

Residents and families living at Southfield and Wyatt House 
care homes, Stroud, care home providers in Stroud, employees 
of The Orders of St John Care Trust ( OSJCT) who work at 
Southfield and Wyatt House care homes, Stroud.

 It is proposed that there is a consultation period from August 
1st 2019 to 1st November 2019 regarding the impact on 
residents and their families and the arrangements to provide 
alternative accommodation for residents.  The consultation will 
be jointly led by the Council and The Orders of St John Care 
Trust.

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Contract Estate
Orchard House

45 rooms

Grevill and 

Ashley

50rooms & 15  

Intermediate 

care rooms

Monkscroft

80 rooms

Jubilee

60 rooms and 14 

Intermediate 

Care rooms

Southfield

34 rooms

Paternoster

40 rooms

Wyatt House

30 rooms
The Elms

45 rooms

Millbrook

80 rooms

Henlow Court

40 rooms
Rodley House

42 rooms

The Coombs

37 rooms

Westbury Court

42 rooms

Chestnut Court

80 rooms
Bohanam

39 rooms 

Older Home

Modern Home

Annex 

1

P
age 73



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

The Orders Of St. John Care Trust

OSJCT Southfield House
Inspection report

Woolram Wygate
Spalding
Lincolnshire
PE11 1PS

Tel: 01775724612
Website: www.osjct.co.uk

Date of inspection visit:
31 August 2017

Date of publication:
11 October 2017

Overall rating for this service Good  

Is the service safe? Good     

Is the service effective? Good     

Is the service caring? Good     

Is the service responsive? Good     

Is the service well-led? Good     

Ratings

Page 75



2 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

Summary of findings

Overall summary

OSJCT Southfield House is registered to provide accommodation and care for 32 older people and/or 
people who live with dementia. There were 29 people living in the service at the time of our inspection. 

The service was run by a company that was the registered provider. At this inspection the company was 
represented by two of their area operations managers. There was a registered manager in post. A registered 
manager is a person who has registered with the Care Quality Commission to manage the service. Like 
registered providers, they are 'registered persons'. Registered persons have legal responsibility for meeting 
the requirements in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and associated regulations about how the service is
run. In this report when we speak about both the company (as represented by the area operations 
managers) and the registered manager we refer to them as being, 'the registered persons'. 

At the last inspection on 28 May 2015 the service was rated Good.  

At this inspection we found the service remained Good. 

This inspection was unannounced and was carried out on 31 August 2017. 

Care staff knew how to keep people safe from the risk of abuse including financial mistreatment. People had
been helped to avoid preventable accidents and medicines were safely managed. There were enough care 
staff on duty and background checks had been completed before new care staff had been appointed. 

Although some care staff had not received all of the training the registered persons said they needed, in 
practice they knew how to care for people in the right way. People enjoyed their meals and were helped to 
eat and drink enough. They had also been supported to obtain all of the healthcare assistance they needed. 

People were supported to have maximum choice and control of their lives and care staff supported them in 
the least restrictive way possible. Policies and systems in the service supported this practice. 

People were treated with compassion, respect and courtesy. Care staff recognised people's right to privacy 
and promoted their dignity. Confidential information was kept private. 

People had been consulted about the care they wanted to receive and had been given all of the assistance 
they needed. As part of this care staff had promoted positive outcomes for people who lived with dementia. 
In addition, people had been supported to pursue their hobbies and interests. There was a system for 
quickly and fairly resolving complaints.

People had been consulted about the development of their home and quality checks had been completed 
to ensure that people received safe care. Care staff were supported to speak out if they had any concerns 

Page 76



3 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

and good team work was promoted.  

Further information is in the detailed findings below.

Page 77



4 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

The five questions we ask about services and what we found

We always ask the following five questions of services.

Is the service safe? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service effective? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service caring? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service responsive? Good  

The service remained Good.

Is the service well-led? Good  

The service remained Good.

Page 78



5 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 

OSJCT Southfield House
Detailed findings

Background to this inspection
We carried out this inspection under Section 60 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 as part of our 
regulatory functions. This inspection was planned to check whether the registered persons continued to 
meet the legal requirements and regulations associated with the Health and Social Care Act 2008, to look at 
the overall quality of the service and to provide a rating for the service under the Care Act 2014. 

Before the inspection, the registered persons completed a Provider Information Return (PIR). This is a form 
that asks them to give some key information about the service, what the service does well and 
improvements they plan to make. We also examined other information we held about the service. This 
included notifications of incidents that the registered persons had sent us since our last inspection. These 
are events that happened in the service that the registered persons are required to tell us about. We also 
invited feedback from the local authority who contributed to the cost of some of the people who lived in the 
service. We did this so that they could tell us their views about how well the service was meeting people's 
needs and wishes. 

We visited the service on 31 August 2017 and the inspection was unannounced. The inspection team 
consisted of an inspector and an expert by experience.  An expert by experience is a person who has 
personal experience of using this type of service.

During the inspection we spoke with 13 people who lived in the service and with six relatives. We also spoke 
with two senior care workers, two care workers, the activities coordinator, the chef and the head of 
housekeeping. In addition, we met with the registered manager and two of the company's area operations 
managers. We observed care that was provided in communal areas and looked at the care records for five 
people who lived in the service. We also looked at records that related to how the service was managed 
including staffing, training and quality assurance. 

In addition, we used the Short Observational Framework for Inspection (SOFI). SOFI is a way of observing 
care to help us understand the experience of people who could not speak with us.

After our inspection visit we spoke by telephone with a further three relatives.

Page 79



6 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service safe?

Our findings  
People told us that they felt safe living in the service. One of them said, "I'm very settled here now and it was 
the right decision for me to move into here'. Another person who lived with dementia and who had special 
communication needs smiled appreciatively when we pointed towards a member of care staff who was 
nearby. Relatives were confident that their family members were safe. One of them remarked, "I consider 
this to be a very safe place indeed – I know my family member is as safe as they possibly can be."

Records showed that care staff had completed training and had received guidance in how to keep people 
safe from situations in which they might experience abuse. We found that care staff knew how to recognise 
and report abuse so that they could take action if they were concerned that a person was at risk. They told 
us they were confident that people were treated with kindness and they had not seen anyone being placed 
at risk of harm. In addition, we noted that care staff followed robust and transparent systems when assisting 
people to manage their personal spending money. 

Measures were in place to help people avoid preventable accidents. These included hot water being 
temperature controlled and radiators being guarded to reduce the risk of scalds and burns. In addition, 
people were provided with equipment such as walking frames and raised toilet seats to reduce the risk of 
falls. We also noted that suitable arrangements had been made to enable people to be assisted to quickly 
move to a safe place in the event of a fire or other emergency.

We found that there were reliable arrangements for ordering, administering and disposing of medicines. 
There was a sufficient supply of medicines and senior care staff who administered medicines had received 
training. We saw them correctly following the registered persons' written guidance to make sure that people 
were given the right medicines at the right times. Records showed that in the 12 months preceding our 
inspection visit there had been four occasions when a medicine had not been administered in the correct 
way. The registered manager said that the people concerned had not suffered any direct harm as a result of 
the mistakes. In addition, we saw that in each case the registered manager had been taken action to help 
prevent the same oversight from happening again. 

Records showed that a small number of care staff shifts had not been filled in the month preceding our 
inspection visit. However, we concluded that in practice there had been and were enough care staff on duty 
to provide people with the assistance they needed. This was because we were assured that the registered 
manager and other members of staff worked flexibly either to provide care themselves or to relieve care staff
from having to undertake non-essential duties. In addition, during the course of our inspection visit we saw 
people promptly receiving all of the care they needed and wanted. 

We examined records of the background checks that the registered persons had completed when 
appointing two new care staff. We found that in relation to both people all of the necessary checks had been
completed. These had been done to establish the applicants' previous good conduct and to confirm that 
they were suitable people to be employed in the service.

Good

Page 80



7 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service effective?

Our findings  
People were confident that care staff had the knowledge and skills they needed. They also told us that care 
staff had their best interests at heart. One of them remarked, "I like the staff because they're gentle and kind 
and never mind when I ask them for help." Relatives were also confident about this matter. One of them 
said, "Although on some days they're rushed in general the staff work together well as a team and my family 
member gets all of the attention they need."

Records showed that new care staff had received introductory training before they provided people with 
care. Although some care staff had not then received all of the on-going refresher training the registered 
persons said they needed, we found that in practice care staff knew how to care for people in the right way. 
Examples of this were care staff knowing how to correctly assist people who experienced reduced mobility. 
Another example was care staff knowing how best to help people to keep their skin healthy. This included 
knowing how to prevent people from developing sore skin and the action to take if this occurred. 

People told us that they enjoyed their meals with one of them remarking, "The food's okay here and 
certainly we get more than enough." We were present at lunch and we noted that the meal time was a 
relaxed and pleasant occasion. There was a choice of main dish and there was a very attractively presented 
sweet trolley that offered people a choice of seven options.  

We found that people were being supported to have enough nutrition and hydration. People had been 
offered the opportunity to have their body weight regularly checked so that any significant changes could be
brought to the attention of a healthcare professional. We also noted that care staff were making sure that 
people were eating and drinking enough to keep their strength up. This included assisting some people to 
eat their meals and gently encouraging others to have plenty of drinks. In addition, the registered manager 
had arranged for some people who were at risk of choking to have their food specially prepared so that it 
was easier to swallow.   

Records confirmed that people had received all of the help they needed to see their doctor and other 
healthcare professionals such as dentists, opticians and dietitians. Speaking about this a relative remarked, 
"I know if anything needs medical attention the staff are straight on the case and get the doctor involved."

The registered manager and care staff were following the Mental Capacity Act 2005 by supporting people to 
make decisions for themselves. They had consulted with people who lived in the service, explained 
information to them and sought their informed consent.  Records showed that when people lacked mental 
capacity the registered persons had ensured that decisions were taken in people's best interests. An 
example of this was the registered manager liaising with relatives and healthcare professionals when a 
person needed to have their bed lowered to the floor. This was in their best interests because previously the 
person had fallen when getting out of bed. 

People can only be deprived of their liberty in order to receive care and treatment when this is in their best 
interests and legally authorised under the Mental Capacity Act 2005. The application procedures for this in 

Good

Page 81



8 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

care homes and hospitals are called the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). Records showed that the 
registered persons had made the necessary applications for DoLS authorisations so that people who lived in
the service only received lawful care. 

Page 82



9 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service caring?

Our findings  
People were positive about the care they received. One of them commented, "I find the staff to be very kind 
and helpful." Relatives were also confident that their family members were treated with  compassion and 
kindness. One of them remarked, "I call to the service quite regularly and I've never seen anything other than
people being treated with kindness." Another visitor told us, "My friend is happy enough, safe, and has put 
on weight. They are taking their medication now which was a worry. Everything has been marvellous for 
them since they came in – the staff have made them feel so welcome."

We saw that care staff were informal, friendly and discreet when caring for people. They took the time to 
speak with people and we witnessed a lot of positive conversations that promoted people's wellbeing. An 
example of this occurred when a person became upset because they could not decide in which lounge they 
wanted to sit. A member of care staff noticed them becoming anxious and quietly reminded them about 
where they usually preferred to sit and the reasons for their choice. Shortly afterwards we saw the person 
happily sitting in the usual armchair and waving to the passers-by they liked to see. 

Care staff were considerate and we saw them making a special effort to welcome people when they first 
moved into the service so that the experience was positive and not too daunting. We also noticed that care 
staff had sensitively asked people how they wished to be addressed and had established what times they 
would like to be assisted to get up and go to bed. Another example was care staff consulting with people 
about how they wished to be checked at night. Speaking about this a person remarked, "I'm quite a light 
sleeper and so the staff know just to pop their head around the door and not to come in." 

We noted care staff recognised the importance of not intruding into people's private space. Bedroom, 
bathroom and toilet doors could be locked when the rooms were in use. In addition, people had their own 
bedroom that they had been encouraged to make into their own personal space. We also saw care staff 
knocking and waiting for permission before going into bedrooms, toilets and bathrooms. 

Documents showed that the registered manager had developed links with local lay advocacy services. Lay 
advocates are independent both of the service and the local authority and can support people to make 
decisions and to communicate their wishes. 

We found that people could speak with relatives and meet with health and social care professionals in 
private if this was their wish. In addition, care staff assisted people to keep in touch with their relatives by 
post and telephone. 

Written records that contained private information were stored securely. In addition, computer records were
password protected so that they could only be accessed by authorised staff. 

Good

Page 83



10 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service responsive?

Our findings  
People said that care staff provided them with all of the assistance they needed. One of them remarked, "I 
get all of the help I need and the staff are around all the time which is what I like to see." Relatives were also 
positive about the amount of help their family members received. One of them commented, "I think that the 
care is very good and I'd soon know if my family member wasn't getting the right assistance because they 
wouldn't be right in themselves."  

Records showed that care staff had carefully consulted with each person about the assistance they wanted 
to receive and had recorded the results in an individual care plan. These care plans were being regularly 
reviewed to make sure that they accurately reflected people's changing wishes. Records also confirmed that 
each person was receiving the care they needed as described in their individual care plan. This included 
help with washing and dressing, promoting their continence and managing routine medical conditions. 

We saw that care staff were able to provide reassurance for people who lived with dementia when they 
became distressed. We saw that when this occurred staff followed the guidance in the people's care plans so
that they supported them in the right way. An example of this was a person who was becoming upset 
because they could not clearly remember one of their relative's occupation. A member of care staff gently 
pointed to photographs of their relative and recounted to them what they understood to have been the 
occupation in question. This helped the person to recall the information in question and to seek comfort in 
the memories of family life this brought back to mind. 

Care staff understood the importance of promoting equality and diversity. We noted that arrangements had 
been made for people to meet their spiritual needs by attending a religious service. In addition, the 
registered manager was aware of how to support people who had English as their second language, 
including being able to make use of translator services. We also found that suitable arrangements had been 
made to respect each person's wishes when they came to the end of their life. An example of this was care 
staff making relatives welcome so that they could stay with their family members during their last hours to 
provide comfort and reassurance.

There was an activities coordinator who spent 20 hours each week in the service. Records showed that they 
had carefully consulted with each person about the particular activities they wished to be supported to 
enjoy. People told us that there were enough activities for them to enjoy. One of them said, "There seems to 
be different things to do most days." Records showed that people were being offered the opportunity to 
enjoy a wide range of social events including arts and crafts, quizzes, gentle exercises and games such as 
carpet bowls. During the course of our inspection visit we saw a number of people laughing together as they 
were supported by the activities coordinator to participate in a game of softball.

People told us that they had not needed to make a complaint about the service. However, they were 
confident that if there was a problem it would be addressed quickly. We noted that there was a complaints 
procedure that described how the registered persons intended to respond to concerns. Records showed 
that in the 12 months preceding our inspection visit the registered persons had received two complaints 

Good

Page 84



11 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

from relatives. We saw that on each occasion the registered persons had correctly followed their procedure 
to quickly and fairly resolve the matters concerned.    

Page 85



12 OSJCT Southfield House Inspection report 11 October 2017

 Is the service well-led?

Our findings  
People told us that they considered the service to be well run. One of them said, "All I can say is that the 
place seems to run as it should. The staff are here, we get our meals and things are okay." Relatives were 
also complimentary about the management of the service. One of them remarked, "Yes, I think it is a well led
home. The manager used to be a care staff member here and has moved up the ranks and I think that works 
well – they know everyone very well and they're always welcoming and get things sorted. They're very 
approachable, as are all the staff."

Documents showed that people had been regularly invited to attend residents' meetings at which they had 
been supported to suggest improvements to their home. We noted a number of examples of these 
suggested improvements being put into effect. An example of this was the steps the registered manager had 
taken after some people had expressed concerns about delays in care staff responding to call bells. The 
measures included more regular checks being competed of the automatic record that was created each 
time a call bell was used. We also looked that these records and they confirmed the call bells were 
consistently being promptly answered.

Records showed that the registered persons had regularly checked to make sure that people were reliably 
benefiting from having all of the help and facilities they needed. These checks included making sure that 
care was  being consistently provided in the right way, medicines were being dispensed correctly and staff 
had the knowledge and skills they needed. In addition, records showed that fire safety equipment, hoists 
and kitchen appliances were being checked to make sure that they remained in good working order. 

The registered persons had told us about any significant events that had occurred in the service. In addition, 
they had correctly displayed the quality ratings we gave at our last inspection. 

We found that care staff were provided with the leadership they needed to develop good team working 
practices. Records showed that there were handover meetings at the beginning and end of each shift when 
developments in each person's needs for care were noted and reviewed. In addition, care staff told us there 
was an open and inclusive approach to running the service. Furthermore, care staff were confident that they 
could speak to the registered persons if they had any concerns about people not receiving safe care. 

We also noted that people who lived in the service had benefited from the activities coordinator acting upon
good practice guidance. This included accessing guidance on health and social care professional websites 
to enable them to more effectively engage people in deciding what activities they would like to be offered.   

Good

Page 86



1 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The Orders Of St. John Care Trust

OSJCT Wyatt House
Inspection report

Mathews Way
Paganhill
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 4EE

Tel: 01453764194
Website: www.osjct.co.uk

Date of inspection visit:
17 July 2018
18 July 2018
19 July 2018

Date of publication:
03 October 2018

Overall rating for this service Requires Improvement  

Is the service safe? Requires Improvement     

Is the service effective? Good     

Is the service caring? Good     

Is the service responsive? Requires Improvement     

Is the service well-led? Requires Improvement     

Ratings

Page 87



2 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

Summary of findings

Overall summary

This inspection was unannounced and took place on 17, 18 and 19 July 2018.

Following our previous inspection on 21 and 22 March 2017 the service was rated 'Requires Improvement'. 
We found the provider needed to make improvements to how the home was managed. It required 
consistent management by a manager who was registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC), 
improvements were needed to people's care plans so they accurately reflected people's care needs and the 
provider's quality monitoring processes needed to be more effective in making improvements which could 
be fully embedded and sustained. 

At this inspection we found some improvements had been made. People had benefited from a consistent 
manager being in post who was registered with the CQC. Some care plans had been re-written but several 
still did not reflect people's needs. Quality monitoring processes had taken place but these had not, 
identified the shortfalls in the management of people's risks, identified during this inspection, or 
successfully achieved full improvement in people's care plans, required following our previous inspection. 

We requested that the provider send us an immediate action plan on how they were going to ensure 
people's risks were fully assessed and safe and effective care was planned. An action plan was subsequently 
received which we will follow up in due course. 

Following this inspection an overall rating of 'Requires Improvement' was awarded. This is the third 
consecutive time the service has been rated 'Requires Improvement'. 

Wyatt House is a 'care home'. People in care homes receive accommodation and nursing or personal care as
single package under one contractual agreement. CQC regulates both the premises and the care provided, 
and both were looked at during this inspection. The home can 
accommodate 30 people in one adapted building. At the time of our inspection 29 people lived there. The 
home specialises in the care of people who live with dementia and who also require nursing care.

Wyatt House is a circular design with an inner, secure garden. People are accommodated across two floors. 
One floor provides accommodation for a small group of people who need less support and which promotes 
their independence. On the second floor people required all support with their daily needs which the design 
of the home and its fittings supported. The circular design is experienced on this floor, which allows people 
to walk freely, without interruption; but a seated area also provides a place to rest. People could access an 
outside seating area safely from this floor, but they were supported by staff to visit the whole of the garden. 
There was ample car parking in and around the home's grounds and wheelchair access to the home.

A registered manager was in post. A registered manager is a person who has registered with the Care Quality 
Commission to manage the service. Like registered providers, they are 'registered persons'. Registered 
persons have legal responsibility for meeting the requirements in the Health and Social Care Act 2008 and 

Page 88



3 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

associated Regulations about how the service is run.

Although the provider had processes in place to assess people's risks, these had not always been 
completed, in a timely manner, to ensure people would remain safe. Some people had been left with risks 
and areas of need, which had not been fully assessed or addressed through the planning of safe and 
effective care.  A breach of regulation was identified in relation to this. Practices were not consistent as we 
saw that other risks had been well assessed and appropriate care planned and delivered to reduce these.  

People's care plans still did not always give accurate detail about the care people required. This was despite
staff completing regular reviews of these. This had potential for people to receive unsafe or inappropriate 
care and a breach of regulation was identified in relation to this.

Since the last inspection and since the registered manager had been in post the provider had carried out 
quality monitoring checks of the home's overall performance. There had however, been less consistent 
follow up following these checks to ensure necessary areas of improvement were completed. The system in 
place had not been sufficiently effective and a breach of regulation was identified in relation to this.

There were arrangements in place for complaints and areas of dissatisfaction to be raised, although, the 
action taken in response to issues raised about people's laundry, had not led to these being resolved. We 
made a recommendation about the management of complaints.

People's medicines were managed safely and people were supported to take their medicines. People lived 
in a clean home where infection control measures were in place. There were enough staff to meet people's 
needs and staff had been safely recruited. There were arrangements in place for staff to receive appropriate 
training and support. Staff understood their responsibilities with regard to protecting people from abuse 
and poor practice.  

People had access to health care professionals. People were supported to make decisions about their care 
and treatment and where necessary, people's representatives were consulted. The principles of the Mental 
Capacity Act were followed to protect those who lacked mental capacity. People were supported to have 
maximum choice and control of their lives and staff supported them in the least restrictive way possible. The
policies and systems in the service supported this practice. 

People had a choice in what they ate and drank and in what activities they took part in. Staff were 
particularly kind and caring towards people and knew individual people well. This helped them to deliver 
people's care, support people's independence and promote people's self-worth. Staff responded straight 
away to anyones distress. Family and friends were welcomed and kept informed about people's progress, 
where appropriate. Activities were tailored to people's abilities, likes and preferences; they were meaningful 
to people and some had a therapeutic value.

People's end of life wishes were explored and they were supported to have a comfortable and dignified 
death. Staff supported people and others during times of loss and bereavement.

The registered manager had provided consistent leadership and was respected and liked by staff and 
relatives. There were arrangements in place which helped the registered manager to communicate 
effectively with all staff and relatives. We observed people, staff and relatives feeling comfortable enough to 
communicate with the registered manager when they needed to. The registered manager had made 
significant improvements to how the service operated and this was evidenced through past and present 
audits. The home was advertising for a deputy manager to help support staff further and to help embed and 

Page 89



4 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

sustain the improvements already made.

We found two breaches of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. You 
can see what action we told the provider to take at the back of the full version of this report

Page 90



5 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The five questions we ask about services and what we found

We always ask the following five questions of services.

Is the service safe? Requires Improvement  

The service was not always safe. 

People's health risks were not always assessed sufficiently well 
enough to ensure the care needed to reduce or mitigate these, 
was provided in a timely manner.

Environmental risks were managed well in order to keep people 
safe. This included reducing risks associated with the spread of 
infection.

People's medicines were managed safely and people received 
support to take their medicines as prescribed.

There were enough staff to meet people's needs and staff were 
recruited safely so as to protect people from those that may not 
be suitable.

People were protected from potential abuse because staff 
adhered to the provider's policies and procedures, which aimed 
to protect people from harm.

Is the service effective? Good  

The service was effective.

People were supported to maintain their nutritional wellbeing 
and they had a choice in what they ate and drank.

People had access to appropriate health professionals who 
could help support their health needs. 

People were supported to make independent decisions and their
care was delivered in the least restrictive way. The principles of 
the Mental Capacity Act 2005 were adhered to so people who 
lacked mental capacity were protected.

People received care from staff who were supported and who 
received training to be able to meet their needs.

Is the service caring? Good  

Page 91



6 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The service was caring.
People were cared for by caring, thoughtful and compassionate 
staff.

People were supported to express their needs, choices and to 
make simple decisions.

Staff knew people well and were able to tailor their care around 
people's ability to accept care as well as people's preferences.

Family members and others who mattered to people were made 
welcome and supported to be involved in people's care.

Is the service responsive? Requires Improvement  

The service was not always responsive. 

People's care plans did not always give staff the information they
needed to be able to respond effectively to people's needs.

There were arrangements in place for people and visitors to raise
a complaint and have this investigated. Actions taken had not 
always led to complaints and areas of dissatisfaction being 
resolved. 

People were supported to take part in activities which were 
designed to promote wellbeing and a sense of fun and 
belonging.

People at the end of their life were supported to have a dignified 
and comfortable death.

Is the service well-led? Requires Improvement  

The service was not well led.

The provider's quality monitoring systems had not always 
identified shortfalls, which had subsequently had an impact on 
people. Necessary action had not always been completed in a 
timely way to ensure safe and effective care was always 
provided.  

People had benefited from improved and consistent 
management from a registered manager who understood their 
responsibilities and who worked hard to meet these. 

Communication with staff, relatives and visitors to the home had 
improved and relevant information made more accessible these 
groups.  

Page 92



7 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

Feedback from people, relatives and other visitors to the home 
was monitored.

Page 93



8 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 

OSJCT Wyatt House
Detailed findings

Background to this inspection
We carried out this inspection under Section 60 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 as part of our 
regulatory functions. This inspection was planned to check whether the provider is meeting the legal 
requirements and regulations associated with the Health and Social Care Act 2008, to look at the overall 
quality of the service, and to provide a rating for the service under the Care Act 2014.

This inspection took place on 17, 18 and 19 July 2018 and was unannounced. It was carried out by one 
inspector and an expert by experience. An Expert by Experience is a person who has personal experience of 
using or caring for someone who uses this type of care service. In this case a person who has cared for a 
person who lives with dementia.

Prior to visiting the home, we reviewed the information we held about the home. This included notifications 
of events which have an impact on people and the home which the provider must legally send to us. We 
looked at information the provider sent us in the Provider Information Return (PIR). This is information we 
require providers to send us at least once annually. This was submitted by the provider on 6 April 2018 and it
gave some key information about the service, what the service does well and improvements they plan to 
make.

During our visit to the home we spoke with seven people who lived at Wyatt House and five relatives. We 
used the Short Observational Framework for Inspection (SOFI). SOFI is a way of observing care to help us 
understand the experience of people who could not talk with us. We reviewed eight people's care files which
contained care plans, risk assessments and other relevant care documentation, including weight monitoring
records. We also reviewed 15 people's bathing records and relevant care plans. We reviewed records 
pertaining to the Mental Capacity Act and Deprivation of liberty Safeguards. 

We spoke with 10 staff which included the registered manager, one of the provider's operations directors, 
one nurse, one team leader, three care staff, the activities co-ordinator, a cook and an agency member of 
staff. We spoke with one health care professional about people's care and sought their views on the services 
provided by the home. We reviewed two staff recruitment files and the staff duty roster.  

We reviewed records relating to the management of the home. These included complaints records, quality 

Page 94



9 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

monitoring audits and the home's compliance improvement plan. We attended one staff handover and 
looked around the building.

We requested to be forwarded to us and received the home's Statement of Purpose and staff training 
record.

Page 95



10 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service safe?

Our findings  
We saw evidence that some risks had been fully identified, assessed and action taken to reduce these or 
eliminate these altogether. However, we could not be satisfied that people's risks were always sufficiently 
assessed and managed to ensure these were either reduced or eliminated altogether. The necessary care 
around people's risks was not always planned, in a timely manner, to ensure safe and effective care was 
provided. We found three examples of this. 

The first around the assessment of the potential risks of developing pressure ulcers following admission to 
the home. Prior to admission a pressure reducing mattress had been put in place for the person following 
the initial pre-admission assessment of needs. However, during the first inspection day we observed the 
person seated in an armchair that did not have a pressure reducing cushion in place. We spoke with the 
person and they were unable to reposition themselves. They also had their socked covered feet resting on 
the floor. Late afternoon we spoke with staff and ascertained that the person had not been moved or 
repositioned all day. We checed the person's care records and there was no completed risk assessment or 
care plan in place with regard to this risk. The pre-admission assessment recorded multiple health issues 
which would put this person potentially at risk. We raised our concerns about the current lack of safe and 
effective care in place to reduce or mitigate these risks. The registered manager addressed this straight away
and a pressure reducing cushion was put in place and the person's feet protected. On examination at this 
point one area of skin already showed the signs of pressure damage; the skin was red. We were later 
informed that the provider's pressure ulcer risk assessment had to be completed within 48 hours of 
admission. In this case, the lack of a timely and full assessment of this person's needs had left them at risk of
potentially developing pressure ulcers. 

The second was around the assessment and care planning for risks associated with diabetes. In a staff 
handover meeting we heard that one person had felt unwell that morning. Their blood sugar levels had 
been low and this had been rectified by giving them an early breakfast. We reviewed this person's care 
records which showed that their blood sugar levels had varied significantly from day to day since admission 
two weeks previously. A simple care plan was in place recording the fact this person was diabetic, what type 
of medicine they took for this and that they should have a balanced diet. There was no risk assessment in 
place and the care plan did not state what should be done about the variable blood sugar readings. It did 
not state what was a 'safe' range of levels for this person and what should be done if the person's levels were
outside of what was considered safe, for them. There was no protocol in place for risks associated with 
hypoglycaemia or hyperglycaemia. We spoke with one nurse about the variable blood sugar levels and 
raised our concerns about the lack of care planning around this condition and the potential risks associated 
with this. They told us they were going to get this person reviewed by the GP who was due to visit later. This 
person's medicines were subsequently reviewed but also, GP agreed blood sugar level parameters were set 
and recorded for guidance in the person's care plan. Guidance also included what to do if these parameters 
were not maintained.  

The third concern was the lack of effective risk management around a situation which had resulted in one 
person being injured. Following this accident the risk was assessed and action recorded and taken to 

Requires Improvement

Page 96



11 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

address this, despite the risk assessment being incomplete. This action however had not been maintained 
or incorporated into the person's care plan to ensure they remained safe. We found this person to be in a 
position which potentially put them at risk of a similar occurrence but also of choking. We raised our 
concerns about this. Staff told us how they normally repositioned this person to reduce the risk of choking, 
however, a lack of communication between staff on this day had not led to safe and effective care being 
delivered. Later, during the inspection the person was harmed for the second time in the same way. 

Whilst by the end of the inspection the registered manager had informed us how these matters would be 
addressed, the occurrences demonstrated failures to ensure care was provided to people in a safe way. The 
systems and processes in the home did not always result in people's risks being sufficiently assessed. 
Actions were not always successfully taken to ensure people's care was delivered in a safe and effective way.
This is a breach of Regulation 12 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 
2014. 

Environmental risks were assessed and managed. There were arrangements in place to monitor, maintain 
and service all equipment. This included moving and handling equipment; hoists and slings and the fabric of
the building which included windows restrictors and its main systems. These systems included, fire 
detection, water and heating, electrical and gas, nurse call bell and security systems. All staff were 
responsible for people's health and safety.

We observed the home to be clean without offensive odours being present. The cleaning staff who were fully
aware of their responsibilities in relation to keeping people safe when they cleaned. They knew how to 
adapt to people's needs and clean around these, they adhered to good infection control practice and took 
action to avoid spreading infection. For example, colour coded cleaning equipment was used and special 
arrangements were in place to keep the home clean when there was a known infection. All soiled laundry 
was segregated and handled safely. Care staff and kitchen staff also adhered to safe practices. Care staff 
wore protective gloves and aprons when delivering personal care and helping people with their food. 
Kitchen staff wore protective clothing and the kitchen and food servery areas were kept secure, clean and 
had limited access.

People's medicines were managed safely. People received their medicine as prescribed and time was taken 
to support them to take these. Medicines were kept secure at all times. Medicine records were well 
maintained by the staff. Prescribed medicines were reviewed every six months by the GP that visited the 
home to ensure what was prescribed was still effective and relevant.

We observed people receiving care and support when they needed it. There were enough staff to meet 
people's needs. The registered manager used agency care staff, when needed, to maintain safe staffing 
levels. Information was forwarded to us following the inspection which showed the numbers of staff of duty 
were determined by the provider's dependency tool. The registered manager told us they could use their 
discretion in how staff were deployed. Since being in post the registered manager had recruited more staff 
and was still actively recruiting. The home required another member of night staff and a deputy manager. 
The Provider Information Return (PIR) stated that a head of dementia was to also be recruited. This was to 
help support this area of care; there had been no suitable candidates to date. 

Recruitment records showed that the service adhered to the provider's recruitment procedures and only 
recruited staff after successful completion of various checks. These included clearances by the Disclosure 
and Barring Service (DBS). An enhanced check was required which checked the potential member of staff 
against all police records as well as against the list of people barred to work with vulnerable adults. 
References were sought and the person's previous employment history explored. These checks helped the 

Page 97



12 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

provider make better employment decisions in order to protect people from those who may not be suitable 
to care for them. 

There were arrangements in place to help protect people from abuse. The provider's policy and procedures 
on this were known to the all the staff we asked about this, this included care and cleaning staff.  None of the
staff spoken with were hesitant in telling us what they should do if they observed or suspected abuse. Senior
staff adhered to both the provider's policies and procedures on this as well as the local authority's joint 
working protocols. This meant they reported and shared relevant information with other professionals to 
help safeguard people. Staff were fully aware of the provider's whistle blowing procedures. They told us they
had confidence in the registered manager to deal with anything they reported to them. There was guidance 
in the staff room on both these processes.

Page 98



13 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service effective?

Our findings  
People were supported to eat and drink and to maintain their nutritional well-being. Nutritional risks were 
identified and managed. Any concerns relating to people's weight or their appetite were discussed with the 
visiting GP. Many people walked with purpose and were in constant motion they were given additional 
support to maintain their weight. The cook told us this was done by fortifying people's food. They added a 
cream product to foods to increase the calorie content. Staff provided fortified drinks and snacks in-
between meals and during the night if needed. Meals were prepared for other dietary needs such as 
diabetes. One person told us they were on a restricted diet due to their medications. They told us that all the
staff knew what they could and could not eat. 

We observed staff supporting people to either eat their meals independently, or where needed, giving more 
support to those who could not do this. Support at meals times and in-between meals was given in a way 
which maintained people's dignity. When staff assisted people to eat and drink this was done in an un-
rushed way. People were provided with a choice of food for their main meals; sometimes this needed to be a
visual choice at the time of eating. People who remained in their bedrooms or in bed, had drinks within their
reach or were helped to have a drink on a regular basis. Staff provided a supportive and relaxed mealtime 
experience. Dining tables were laid attractively and music, chatter and laughter were all part of the dining 
experience. We observed two staff eating their lunch with people which provided encouragement and 
company.

People had access to health care professionals and health assessments and reviews were completed when 
needed. Health professionals usually visited people at the home, but where necessary, staff supported 
people to attend, hospital, dental or optical appointments. People's care records showed they had been 
seen by professionals such as specialist skin care practitioners, community mental health practitioners, 
dieticians, speech and language therapists, physiotherapist and occupational therapists. The home was 
visited on a regular basis by a local GP who the registered manager said staff could contact whenever they 
needed to. We spoke to the home's GP when they visited. They told us people's needs in the home were 
"extremely challenging and complex". They said, "I think the home does really well." They confirmed that the
staff always followed their instructions, nurses were always well informed and had necessary information 
ready when they visited. 

We checked whether the service was working within the principles of the Mental Capacity Act 2005 (MCA) 
and whether any conditions on authorisations to deprive a person of their liberty were being met. People 
can only be deprived of their liberty so that they can receive care and treatment when this is in their best 
interests and legally authorised under the MCA. The authorisation procedures for this in care homes and 
hospitals are called the Deprivation of Liberty Safeguards (DoLS). The MCA provides a legal framework for 
making particular decisions on behalf of people who may lack the mental capacity to do so for themselves. 
The Act requires that, as far as possible, people make their own decisions and are helped to do so when 
needed. When they lack mental capacity to take particular decisions, any made on their behalf, must be in 
their best interests and as least restrictive as possible. 

Good

Page 99



14 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

We found staff were adhering to the principles of the Act. People were supported to make individual 
decisions and their care was delivered in the least restrictive way possible. DoLS applications had been 
submitted to the local county council (the supervisory body), the majority of which still needed to be 
processed by the supervisory body. Five people had authorised DoLS in place; one of these had an 
additional condition attached. This required an appropriate professional to review the care planned for this 
person's personal care (washing, bathing and dressing). The person could at times be resistive to this and 
the care needed to support this needed to be monitored. This had been reviewed by a social worker and the 
care plan and care was regularly reviewed by the home's nursing staff. We did not observe anyone being 
forced to do what they did not want to do. Care plans recorded clear instructions for staff when people were 
resistive to care and we observed staff following these. This usually involved leaving the person and staff 
returning later to deliver care at a time the person was more able to accept their intervention. 

All care was planned and given in the least restrictive way. Examples of this included, staff providing 
people's care around the person's routines, preferences and their ability to accept care. For example, one 
person was given food and drink, which they could eat when they wanted to remain walking, instead of 
trying to persuade them to sit when they did not want to. Staff also encouraged and supported this person 
to rest when they did not recognise the need to do this. Bed rails were not used for people who may perceive
them as a barrier. Instead specialised equipment such as beds which lowered to the floor and padded mats 
on the floor were used to keep people safe. Administering people's medicines covertly (hidden in food or 
drink) was only done as a last resort and where a decision had been made to do this in the person's best 
interests. The use of one to one support was closely monitored to avoid unreasonable supervision and 
control. 

Staff were trained in relevant subjects to support safe and lawful care. Staffs' on-going development was 
supported through the provider's support sessions called Trust in Conversation. Since being in post the 
registered manager had worked closely with the provider's training department to ensure all staff 
completed necessary training. The training record showed that the majority of staff had completed training 
in subjects which the provider considered to be a basic requirement. These included, fire safety, safe moving
and handling, emergency life support, nutrition and well-being, health and safety, infection control and the 
MCA and DoLS. 

Where staff had not yet completed these subjects or had missed update training, there were arrangements 
in place to ensure they completed these. Staff new to care were supported to complete the Care Certificate; 
an agreed set of 15 minimum standards that sets out the knowledge, skills and behaviours expected of 
specific job roles in the health and social care sectors. It should form part of a robust induction programme. 
All staff completed induction training and whilst we were at the home we observed staff arriving to do this. 
This training was delivered by the provider's training manager.

Additional training had been completed by some staff which included, safe use of bed rails, medication 
administration, advanced MCA and DoLS and fire marshal training. Visiting health care professionals also 
supported staff's training and knowledge in other areas of care, such as, care of the skin and pressure ulcer 
risks, prevention of falls, wound care and care of the diabetic. 

Staff had completed training in dementia awareness and their practice was supported by staff with more 
knowledge on the subject. This included, two nurses with mental health nursing qualifications, one nurse 
with a degree in dementia care and the home's dementia link worker (a member of staff who has completed
additional training to be able to promote and support best practice in dementia care). Nurses received 
support to re-validate their registration with their regulating body the Nursing and Midwifery Council (NMC). 
The Provider Information Return (PIR) stated that care leaders were completing competencies in clinical 

Page 100



15 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

observations so that they could support the nurses in monitoring people's health.

The layout of the building and the adaptions made to it helped support the needs of those who lived with 
dementia, as well as people's physical needs. Its circular design provided an uninterrupted route for those 
who walked with purpose and who preferred to be in constant motion. The registered manager had 
introduced a seating area half way round where people could rest. We observed one person, who walked 
with purpose most of the time, take numerous opportunities to rest in this area before they recommenced 
walking. The building's exits and entrances, as well as areas of high risk, such as the food serving areas and 
medicine room, were key pad protected. The use of both worded and pictorial signs and different colours 
helped people locate necessary facilities, such as the toilets. 

The placement of various objects and pictures on the walls not only created points of interest and 
engagement for people but also acted as points of reference, again helping people to orientate themselves. 
Busy patterns for décor were kept to a minimum so as not to over stimulate people or confuse them. 
Communal bathrooms contained bath hoists and easy access showers and toilet areas were fitted with 
hand rails to provide support. Bedrooms and communal rooms were fitted with call bells so staff could be 
easily summoned when needed.

Page 101



16 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service caring?

Our findings  
We observed people to be exceptionally vulnerable; many lived with advanced dementia, were totally 
dependent on staff for all their needs and the majority were between 80 and 90 years old; older in some 
cases. All the staff needed to be of a caring and compassionate disposition to understand the needs of this 
group of people and their relatives. We observed all staff to be exceptionally caring, both in the way they 
spoke with people and in the way they physically supported people. We observed that staff enjoyed being 
with and understood people who lived with dementia. 

Staff were patient and gentle as well as respectful and thoughtful. People looked comfortable around the 
staff. People who could verbally communicate talked freely with the staff and clearly enjoyed their company.
One person said, "If I get fed up I just go and have a chat with someone, [name of member of staff] is a lovely 
girl, friendly." Where people were unable to effectively express how they felt or tell staff what their needs 
were, we observed staff to be aware of what was needed. People who did not communicate verbally and 
where non-verbal communication was also limited, staff ensured that a link between them and the person 
was maintained throughout the day. We observed staff just saying hello to people as they passed by or 
stopping and checking on people. 

Staff knew people well and although not always, staff could assess a person's wellbeing by reading their 
body language or facial expression. When people rejected help or company staff were non-judgemental and 
respectful towards the person; they often returned later when the person was more accepting of this. When 
staff spoke with us about people's care needs it was clear they understood that each person's journey with 
dementia was different. 

Staff delivered care around people's preferences and their ability, at the time, to accept support. Care 
delivery was therefore personalised and tailored to the individual. Staff helped make people feel as if they 
mattered. We observed one person following the care staff with the tea trolley. The staff chatted with them 
and supported them to be involved in the activity, which the person clearly enjoyed. At another time we 
observed one of the housekeeping staff respond to a person's distress. They and another member of staff 
helped this person's wellbeing improve. In this case, doll therapy helped reduce this person's anxiety and 
distress. The member of the housekeeping team understood the importance of the doll to this person and 
related to the doll as if it were the person's baby. They did this in a caring and respectful way. The person 
began to settle and became less distressed. 

Staff needed to be able to communicate with people who quite often could not do this effectively. We 
observed a gentleness and fondness towards people when staff communicated with them. We observed 
staff choosing the right moment when to communicate verbally with people. They approached people with 
a welcoming smile, spoke in a steady and non-threatening way so that people who were beginning to feel 
anxious, did not feel overwhelmed by their presence. Staff sometimes used hand jesters to support what 
they were saying verbally or to extend a sign of friendship. This helped people respond well to the staff so 
they could effectively meet people's needs without this being a challenge for people. We observed staff 
making suggestions and providing prompts which also helped people remember what it was they wanted to

Good

Page 102



17 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

say or do. One relative described the staff as being "very attentive, patient, excellent, and so kind."

Information about how to communicate with people was recorded in people's care plans. Some people 
required information to be provided in different formats. For one person this sometimes included printed 
information on different coloured paper. Staff aimed to build trusting relationships with people and work 
collaboratively with relatives so that they could support people's care needs and help them make simple 
choices about their daily activities. This was done by asking those who knew the person best to share 
information about the person and their life. Information was gathered about people's work, hobbies, what 
had been important to them, significant life events (good or bad) and who mattered to the person. This 
information was recorded and it helped staff know the person well so they could deliver people's care and 
support people to make simple choices about their daily activities. We were told that one relative supported 
their relative's particular communication needs with an iPad. The relative and staff worked together to 
ensure they and the person communicated effectively with each other so that the person's needs could be 
better understood.  

Staff knew some people particularly well and were skilled at reading their body language and their 
behaviours which helped them to pre-empt and understand behaviours which could be perceived as 
challenging. In one case, reading the person's behaviour and responses to things helped staff support the 
person through the loss of their spouse who had lived in the home with them. Staff had been thoughtful and 
sensitive in how they approached this by slowly removing items in the room which triggered distress in the 
person. For example, the second bed which now remained empty and an armchair no longer sat in. 

Staff welcomed visitors and supported people's family and friends when needed. One group of relatives told
us they visited regularly but not frequently and they told us staff were always very welcoming. They said, 
"They always recognise us and call us by our names which is lovely. They [staff] are always eager to update 
us on how [name] has done since our last visit." They also commented that "all support" for their relative's 
90th Birthday had been "forthcoming" and they had appreciated this. The Provider Information Return (PIR) 
stated that the home planned to hold an answer and question evening for relatives. The home's GP and one 
of the provider's Admiral Nurses (a specialist practitioner in supporting people with dementia and their 
families) would be present at this. The registered manager and GP told us they still planned to hold this. 

People's privacy and dignity was upheld. Personal care was delivered in private and in a way which was 
dignified. People's personal space, their bedroom was respected as such by the staff. The Provider 
Information Return (PIR) stated that one person had requested a key to lock their bedroom when they were 
not using it, which had been provided to them. Couples were sometimes admitted to the home and their 
privacy, as a couple, was respected. Information about people was kept confidential and secure. The 
provider ensured necessary requirements under the Data Protection Act and General Data Protection 
Regulations (GDPR) were met. This included making sure that care records were properly archived, people 
were given information on how their information maybe used and all electronically held records were 
secure.

Page 103



18 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service responsive?

Our findings  
During our last inspection we found care plans were not always giving enough detail about people's care 
needs to ensure staff could be fully responsive to these. During this inspection the registered manager told 
us some care plans had been re-written, but overall progress on improving these had been slow. After 
observing people and the care delivered to them, as well as talking with staff about people's needs, we 
found care plans were not always reflective of what we saw or heard. Care plans did not always contain 
relevant and necessary information about people's current care needs. In some situations, the practical 
planning of people's care (so not just the written care plans), had not been sufficient to always ensure safe 
and effective care.   

Before admission, people's needs were assessed and predominantly people's relatives were involved in this 
process. They were consulted about the care people were to receive and had an opportunity to speak on 
behalf of their relative. If the person was able to engage in this process they were fully involved. We observed
relatives during the inspection being updated by staff and the registered manager about their relatives' care.
Where people could also be involved in this process they were. We saw good examples of where people's 
preferences, likes and dislikes were added to their care plans, therefore some care plans were personalised. 
The registered manager told us some staff were more skilled at writing personalised care plans than others. 
Care staff told us they were not involved in the writing of care plans but were consulted by the nurses who 
wrote these. The care staff had access to people's care plans so could read these. 

We found care plans had not always been well maintained, so they did not always contain relevant and 
accurate information about people's current needs. Care plans had been reviewed each month, as per the 
provider's expectation, but the changes to people's needs and abilities tended to be recorded in the 
monthly review only. This meant the content of the main care plan did not always alter when people's care 
needs altered. In some cases, this necessitated a read through of several monthly reviews to find out what 
the latest care requirements were and when they had changed. It was not unusual for us to either observe 
care being given or learn about people's care from the staff and the care plan be different from this. 

Two examples of this were, one person's eating and drinking care plan stated the person required a 
"prompt" and were to be "encouraged" to eat at meals times. We observed the support given to this person 
at two mealtimes and this was not what we observed. A member of staff told us this person now required 
staff to physically support them to eat and drink. This person's dementia had progressed and they were now
unable to independently feed themselves or make decisions about their food and drink. Another record of 
wound care given to a person did not reflect the instructions last given by the wound care specialist nurse 
which were recorded in a care plan review. The care plan itself was difficult to follow, because of numerous 
amendments. We ascertained from other records that what was on the care plan was not what was 
happening in practice. 

We reviewed 15 people's personal hygiene care plans with other records kept (daily care records and 
bathing records) of who had been provided with, or offered a bath or shower since May 2018. The majority of
the care plans stated the same, which was "Offer [name] a bath or shower once a week". This did not 

Requires Improvement

Page 104



19 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

demonstrate personalised care planning, although one person's care plan stated, "Would enjoy a shower at 
least once a week." The last 'bath' provided for this person was in May 2018 with no other entry of a bath, 
shower or refusal of either in-between. A member of staff however confirmed this person was supported to 
wash daily at a sink. This member of staff went through the current bathing needs of the 15 people on our 
list. Only one person was not able to have a bath or shower any longer, although they confirmed some 
people sometimes declined. They confirmed that the wording in one person's care plan, "Will request a 
shower" was no longer relevant because this person's dementia had also progressed and staff now needed 
to "suggest" and "encourage" a bath or shower.  

Unclear and inaccurate care plans and other care records did not give a true account of the care people 
received and could potentially lead to unsafe or inappropriate care being delivered. This is a breach of 
Regulation 17 of the Health and Social Care Act 2008 (Regulated Activities) Regulations 2014. 

There were arrangements in place for people, their relatives and other visitors to make a complaint. The 
provider's complaints procedure was displayed for guidance in the main home but not in the smaller unit. 
We fed this back to the registered manager who rectified this by the second day of the inspection. All 
complaints were recorded, along with when they were acknowledged, the investigation, the findings and 
when the complaint was concluded. One complaint, received about the care of a person, had been 
investigated and not upheld. The investigation records showed that each point had been investigated and 
responded to fully. Another complaint had been investigated and the complainant had remained unhappy 
with the response. This had involved staff respecting the wishes of a person, who was able to make an 
independent decision about their treatment, but where the relative had not been happy with this. Some 
lessons had been learnt from this complaint however, in how information about medicines was gathered 
when people were admitted for short periods of time. 

Relatives we spoke with all reported a frustration with clothes going missing or clothes that were not their 
relatives' being found in their wardrobes and being worn by their relative. Three out of five relatives spoken 
with, at some point had raised dissatisfaction with this and had been told it was their responsibility to name 
their relative's clothing. One relative told us they used a marker pen but after so many washes this faded. 
Another relative told us they "had given up asking about this now." Relatives who had found their relative in 
other people's clothing had found this upsetting and told us it did not uphold their relatives' dignity. This 
was obviously an unresolved area of dissatisfaction. The registered manager reiterated that it was the 
relatives' responsibility to make their relatives' clothing when we fed back this information. Various other 
ways of marking and naming clothing were discussed at the time of the inspection but it remained unclear 
to us that further action was going to be taken to try and address this. 

We recommend that the provider seek advice, from a reputable source, about the management and 
resolving of complaints and areas of dissatisfaction.

Activities were delivered to people in a way they enjoyed and which was meaningful to individual people. 
The activities coordinator said that the aim of their intervention was to demonstrate to people that they 
were valued and to improve their quality of life. They said, "To get that momentary spark of joy or 
recognition" and they went onto to say "The key to getting this is to know residents as well as possible." 
Activities were used for different reasons, one being to support people's ability to accept the care and 
support they needed and for maintaining people's physical and mental wellbeing. For example, we 
observed one person be supported to walk to the dining room to have a meal; they could be reluctant to do 
this at times. The activities co-ordinator used singing and dancing as a distraction and motivator to get the 
person to do this. The person was clearly engaged in this activity and looked relaxed. This was achieved 
successfully because the activities co-ordinator knew the person well; they had built up a relationship with 

Page 105



20 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

the person and knew what motivated them, they knew how to read the person's non-verbal cues and knew 
what songs they liked. 

Some people remained in bed and were not able to engage in communal activities, however, activities, 
which were meaningful, to them were taken to them. One person liked to colour in pictures so crayons and 
pictures were left within reach of this person. We observed them using these several times as we passed by. 
Another person's love of music and singing was known to the activities co-ordinator. This person's ability to 
communicate effectively and to do anything for themselves was now severely compromised by their 
dementia. Volunteers from a local charity visited the home on a regular basis to provide singing therapy to 
people as a group. Before starting their group activity they visited this person. We observed a noticeable 
change in this person, who before their arrival had been repetitively picking at their bed clothes and verbally
mumbling. Once the singers stated singing the person's engagement was obvious. Their eyes followed the 
volunteers, the repetitive behaviour stopped and their facial muscles relaxed. 

The activities co-ordinator gave examples of how group singing benefited people in other ways. This 
included, lung exercise, movement and exercise and reminiscence. Some people who did not always talk 
freely sang freely. Other activities were garden based and included the building of insect houses and 
mobiles. A raised trough had been planted with vegetables, which people sometimes watered and tended. 
Activities were used to help people feel included. 

People's end of life wishes and preferences were explored with them and if more appropriate, with their 
relatives. These were recorded so that staff were aware of these at the appropriate time. The registered 
manager and nurses confirmed that the local GP practice gave very good support to people at this time. 
Anticipatory end of life medicines were prescribed in case these were needed to relieve pain or distress at 
the end of a person's life. An end of life noticeboard gave information to visitors on what the home's aims 
were at this time, how they as a relative could be involved and where bereavement support could be found.

Page 106



21 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

 Is the service well-led?

Our findings  
Since our last inspection in March 2017 a home manager had been appointed in October 2017. They had 
been successfully registered with the Care Quality Commission (CQC), as registered manager of Wyatt 
House, in January 2018. The home had previously been without consistent management for some time and 
without a registered manager for over a year. The registered manager explained they had therefore needed 
to make significant improvements to the home's systems and processes, its compliance with necessary 
regulations and the provider's expected requirements. One health care professional told us "The service has 
been transformed since [name of registered manager] has been in post." A relative told us they had noticed 
improvements since the registered manager had been in post. They said, "There are now adequate staff, 
before there were not."

In November 2017 the provider carried out a full internal audit and showed that improvements were needed
to areas such as those reported on in our March 2017 inspection. This included improvements in the 
provision of staff training, completion of staffs' planned one to one support sessions and needed 
improvements to the contents of care plans and care plan reviews as well as other provider requirements. In 
January 2018 the provider re-audited the home and significant improvements had been achieved overall. In 
May 2018 a provider's action plan was set with the registered manager and one of the actions still needing to
be fully completed was a review of people's care plans and an improvement in the contents of these. Other 
actions had also been added, for example, senior staff completion of training around the new General Data 
Protection Regulations (GDPR). 

During this inspection we found care plans were not always accurate and containing relevant information 
about people's needs and their risks. Some care plans had been clearly re-written and improved on, whilst 
others had been reviewed on a monthly basis, but the content of the  main care plan had not been altered 
to reflect changes in people's abilities, needs and care. The care plans were therefore not always giving staff 
accurate and up to date guidance on people's care needs. The registered manager was aware of this 
through their auditing of the care records. When followed up by the registered manager staff had explained 
to them that they did not always have time to re-write and amend care plans. Progress on this necessary 
improvement had therefore been slow and was still not complete. 

We also found that the necessary systems and processes, needed to ensure people's risks were sufficiently 
assessed and care was planned around these risks, in a timely manner, were not effective. There were 
examples of people having not received safe and effective care. 

The provider's arrangements for the line management of the home had changed since the last inspection 
and for some months the registered manager had not had the support of an area operations manager 
(AOM). The registered manager explained that there were senior managers they could contact if they needed
advice however and this was witnessed during the inspection. Arrangements had been made by the provider
to continue some quality monitoring of the home during this time; seen in the provider's internal audits 
completed and a visit by a provider representative in May 2018. The next planned visit by a representative of 
the provider however, was unknown. This suggested a fragmented home line management structure, which 

Requires Improvement

Page 107



22 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

had not been able to provide the home with the support it required to successfully get all necessary 
improvements completed; example, the contents of people's care plans. It had also not identified a shortfall 
in risk management and had not identified a lack of accurate care planning in relation to people's risks. 

The provider's quality monitoring systems were not always effective enough to protect people from unsafe 
and inappropriate care. This is a breach of regulation 17 of the Health and Social Care Act (Regulated 
Activities) Regulations 2014.

We reviewed other audits which had been completed by the registered manager, which showed 
improvements had been achieved and that others were making progress. For example, in April 2018 a care 
plan audit identified that no reference had been made to a person's loss of weight in the person's relevant 
care plan review. Following this the subsequent reviews referred to the person's weight and the 
improvements being made to this. In March 2018 a medication audit showed that particular guidance 
(protocols) were not always in place for medicines prescribed to be used 'as required'. A re-audit on 4 July 
2018 showed this action had been met and protocols were being completed for these medicines. 

We met the provider's newly appointed regional operations director who told us the AOM support was under
review. 

The registered manager held meetings with staff to communicate their expectations and to give them 
updates and to share feedback from audits. They also sought feedback from staff on ideas and suggestions 
to improve the services provided. Staff had worked hard to improve the information available to people and 
relatives on, for example, the home's noticeboards. Detailed information was seen on noticeboards 
dedicated to safeguarding, management of falls,  dementia care and end of life care. A newsletter had also 
been started to improve communication with families, friends and other visitors. Relatives we spoke with 
had found both these initiatives helpful. 

Feedback on the services provided was gathered from relatives and other visitors, informally by the 
registered manager. Comments and feedback left on a website used for this purpose were monitored by the 
registered manager. We discussed the feedback left by one relative which had also been received as a 
complaint by the home. The circumstances behind an injury to a person had been investigated and, 
although thought to be an unwitnessed accident caused by another person living in the home, an apology 
that this had happened at all was given. The points of complaint were also investigated and not 
substantiated. Other comments made this year (2018) praised the care and support given to people and 
their relatives. One comment said, "Mum was treated with care and dignity during her stay, staff genuinely 
showed interest in Mums well-being, trying to involve her and interact rather than leave her alone and 
isolated." The relative who wrote this also reported feeling "supported under difficult circumstances." A 
volunteer who regularly visits the home commented that they found the atmosphere welcoming. They said, 
"The staff [are] friendly and helpful. The residents engaged and cared for." Other comments prior to this 
were predominantly positive and praising staff for their kindness and care.

The registered manager ensured they were up to date with necessary knowledge by reading relevant 
journals and visiting professional websites, by liaising with visiting professionals and attending the 
provider's management meetings. They had for example, attended Gloucestershire's Dementia Conference 
in 2017 to ensure the home was able to meet Gloucestershire's Dementia Strategy and ensure best practice 
in dementia care could be delivered. 

They understood and fulfilled their responsibilities as registered manager which included making sure the 
CQC received all appropriate notifications, that the rating awarded to the home was prominently displayed 

Page 108



23 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

and improvements in the services provided to people were made. The improvements that had already been 
made now needed to be successfully sustained and those identified as required in this report need to be 
fully met.

Page 109



24 OSJCT Wyatt House Inspection report 03 October 2018

The table below shows where regulations were not being met and we have asked the provider to send us a 
report that says what action they are going to take.We will check that this action is taken by the provider.

Regulated activity Regulation
Accommodation for persons who require nursing or 
personal care

Regulation 12 HSCA RA Regulations 2014 Safe 
care and treatment

People's risks were not always sufficiently 
assessed, in a timely manner, to ensure safe 
and effective care was delivered in order to 
reduced or mitigated risks and keep people 
safe. Regulation 12 (1) (2) (a) and (b).

Regulated activity Regulation
Accommodation for persons who require nursing or 
personal care

Regulation 17 HSCA RA Regulations 2014 Good 
governance

People's care plans did not always record 
accurate detail about people's care needs for 
staff guidance or always record the care which 
was being delivered to people.  
Regulation 17 (2) (c).

The quality monitoring processes in place had 
not been fully effective in identifying when risks
to people were not being adequately managed 
and when a lack of progressed actions then 
went on to have an impact on people – for 
example, care plans containing inaccurate 
detail about people's care needs. Regulation 17
(2) (a) and (b).

Action we have told the provider to take

This section is primarily information for the provider

Page 110



© ASV Research Ltd

Gloucestershire County 
Council Care Homes in 
Stroud: Engagement 
Report

5 July 2019

Page 111



© ASV Research Ltd

Contents

1 INTRODUCTION.........................................................................................1
1.1 Introduction .................................................................................................1

1.2 Background.................................................................................................2

1.3 Report Structure .........................................................................................4

2 SOUTHFIELDS...........................................................................................5
2.1 Introduction .................................................................................................5

2.2 The discussions ..........................................................................................5

3 WYATT HOUSE........................................................................................13
3.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................13

3.2 The Discussions .......................................................................................13

4 DIRECT SUBMISSIONS...........................................................................22
4.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................22

4.2 Main themes from correspondence ..........................................................22

5 CONCLUSIONS........................................................................................24
5.1 Conclusions for Consideration..................................................................24

6 APPENDIX ONE: BRIEFING SENT TO RELATIVE/CARERS ................27
6.1 Introduction ...............................................................................................27

6.2 Southfield Briefing.....................................................................................27

6.3 Wyatt House Briefing ................................................................................30

Page 112



1
© ASV Research Ltd

1 INTRODUCTION
Background and context

1.1 Introduction
This report provides independent analysis of the outcomes of an engagement exercise 
by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) into the future of their care homes in 
Stroud.

ASV1 was commissioned to independently facilitate and analyse two engagement 
events arranged by GCC to explore attitudes among residents, family members and 
carers into the issues they face keeping care homes open in Stroud.

Two engagement meetings were held on the morning and afternoon of 26th June 
2019, these were at:

▪ Southfield Care Home 10.00 to 11:30 am;
▪ Wyatt House Care Home 2.00 to 3:30 pm.

There was a strong turnout at each of the engagement events:

▪ Southfield 40 relatives/carers and residents;
▪ Wyatt House 35 relative/carers.

In addition, five written submissions were received via email or letter as part of this 
engagement activity.

All activity undertaken by ASV is conducted in accordance with the market research 
Society’s code of conduct and guidelines. All opinions and statements are reported 
anonymously unless the respondent has given us direct permission to reproduce their 
comments, as is the case where letters and emails were received.

1 ASV is the trading name of ASV Research Ltd

Page 113



2
© ASV Research Ltd

1.2 Background2

Gloucestershire County Council currently own 15 care homes across the county, 
which since April 2005 have been run by Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP). 
GCP is a joint venture between the Orders of St John Care Trust, a not-for-profit 
charitable trust providing care for older people, and bpha, a social housing 
association.

GCP run four care homes in Stroud and Dursley providing 149 care home beds in 
total, these are:

▪ The Elms;
▪ Henlow Court;
▪ Southfield; and
▪ Wyatt House.

The Care Quality Commission (CQC) has 25 registered care homes for older people in 
the Stroud areas providing 964 places. 13 of these homes, including Southfield, are 
residential care homes offering a total of 326 places. Most care homes try to operate 
at an occupancy level of between 90- 95% in order to remain financially sustainable. 
This means that any one time there should be fewer than 96 vacancies in the Stroud 
area (assuming a 90% occupancy level.) The number of beds and levels of occupancy 
in GCP homes is:

▪ The Elms provides 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%;
▪ Henlow Court provides 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 

95%;
▪ Southfield provides 34 residential beds and an occupancy of 82%; and
▪ Wyatt House with 30 nursing and residential beds, specialising in dementia and 

an occupancy of 93%.

In addition to the levels of occupancy issues including future demand and the physical 
fabric of the buildings were considered by GCC in their review.

In regard to the future demands of the ageing population in Gloucestershire Evolving 
Communities were commissioned by GCC to ask older people and the residents of 
care home provision in the county. Evolving Communities’ report highlighted the 
choice to continue living at home for older people:

‘People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even 
if their condition deteriorated.”

GCC are responding to this change in demand for older peoples’ care by working with 
domiciliary care providers to ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care

2 Information provided by Gloucestershire County Council as part of their briefing to family/carers (see 
appendix one for detail)

Page 114



3
© ASV Research Ltd

provision in the county. In the medium term this will lead to a reduction in the need for 
care home beds.

With regard to the ‘fabric’ of GCP care homes, over the past five-to-ten years there 
has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the county and as a 
result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud. 
Many of these new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can 
avoid a further move if a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition, newer care 
homes offer modern facilities, including en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger 
bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are widely regarded as a standard 
requirement today.

GCC has undertaken a review of each of the GCP care homes in the Stroud and 
Dursley area considering condition and occupancy and as a result is conducting an 
initial engagement exercise with residents and relatives/carers, the focus of the initial 
engagement is Southfield and Wyatt house for the following reasons:

▪ Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not 
provide nursing care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes 
in the Stroud and Dursley area. In addition, Southfield does not offer the 
opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future care needs.

▪ Wyatt House is also being considered for closure due to its physical 
environment (the ‘fabric’ of the building) no longer being able to meet the needs 
of dementia residents requiring a care home now and over the medium term.

Of the four GCP care homes those currently excluded from this initial engagement 
exercise are:

▪ The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need 
for nursing care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more 
viable than a smaller care home, therefore closing The Elms is not being 
considered at this time.

▪ Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of 
occupancy. Henlow Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care 
for people from the Dursley area consequently it is not being considered for 
closure.

It should also be clear that the scope of this initial engagement is set by the fact that 
while there are other care homes in Stroud and Dursley in similar circumstances, 
these are not owned by GCC and cannot be considered in this exercise.

It is also equally important to state that this engagement is taking place before any 
final decision has been made about the future of either Wyatt House, Southfield or any 
of the other GCP care homes in the Stroud and Dursley area.

Page 115



4
© ASV Research Ltd

It is against this overall background that letters were sent from GCC to all the family, 
carers or advocates listed as the first point of contact for residents of Southfield and 
Wyatt House. These letters invited them to participate in an initial engagement event 
at the relevant care home on the 26th of July, the letters were received on the 25th of 
July.

GCC had separately commissioned ASV to act as independent facilitators of the 
events to ensure all voices and opinions were heard.

1.3 Report Structure
following this brief introduction the remainder of this report is set out in the following 
manner:

▪ Section Two: provides an overview covering the key points and themes 
emerging from discussions at Southfield;

▪ Section Three: provides an overview covering the key points and themes 
emerging from discussions at Wyatt House;

▪ Section Four: provides a summary of the points made by people unable to 
attend the engagement sessions, submitted either by letter or email; and

▪ Section Five: provides a summary of the discussions and any conclusions that 
we can draw from this engagement exercise.

Provided as appendices are the briefing notes sent out to relative/carers and the 
written submissions received by ASV for consideration as part of this analysis.

Page 116



5
© ASV Research Ltd

2 SOUTHFIELDS
Summary of discussions – morning of 26th June 2019

2.1 Introduction
The engagement group meeting was held at Southfield Care Home, Stroud, between
10.00 to 11:30 am on the 26th June 2019. The group comprised approximately 40 
relatives/carers and residents. The meeting was held in the residents’ lounge, 
organised by the care home staff, in addition to the carer/relatives and residents a 
representative of Gloucestershire County Council and the Orders of St John were in 
attendance, as observers to the proceedings. The research team from Evolving 
Communities were also present.

Prior to the meeting commencing those present were asked for permission for the 
observers to remain in the room, which was given by all present.

The conversation was conducted against a broad semi-directive discussion guide 
covered the following broad topics, with enough flexibility to allow the participants the 
opportunity to explore the issues most important to them:

▪ First impression of the proposals for closure;
▪ The likely impact of any closure on residents and family/carers; and
▪ Should any closure decision be made where would the best location be for an 

alternative home be.

2.2 The discussions
The discussion with residents and family/carers at Southfield was fairly wide ranging 
and as would be expected emotionally charged around such a sensitive area. The 
main themes of discussion covered:

▪ The group’s overall impressions;
▪ The process of engagement;
▪ The importance of the atmosphere, relationships, and community at Southfield;
▪ The personal impact of the proposals on residents and their family/carers;
▪ Issues around the value of the real estate represented by Southfield and any 

concerns over property conditions;
▪ Issues around choice and independence for residents;
▪ Concerns over an apparent lack of empathy from decision-makers to the needs 

and feelings of both residents and family/carers;
▪ The importance of continuity of care to both residents and family/carers;
▪ Concerns over the apparent lack of consideration of the quality of care provided 

at Southfield; and
▪ Offering alternative solutions for consideration. 

Each of these themes is discussed in turn below.

Page 117



6
© ASV Research Ltd

2.2.1 Overall Impressions

The group discussed their initial impressions of the letter they had received, and any 
concerns raised. Perhaps the most immediate impact was felt by the residents present 
who expressed real concerns over the impact of any potential closure Southfield.

‘… it’d be the end of us, perhaps that’s what they want… kill us off a bit 
early …’

There was also the feeling that this was a continuation of a tradition of poor treatment 
by the council spanning the entire lives of many of the residents.

‘… We’ve been pushed around for all our lives and the council have always 
been in the middle of it…’

The feeling from residents was that the proposals were purely motivated by a desire 
by the council to save money with little consideration for the impact on the people 
residents at the home.

‘… Money, money and to hell with people…’

Done deal

The group expressed overall cynicism that this proposal, coupled with the very short 
notice at which the meeting been called, indicated that the council had made its mind 
up in advance. Many believing that this was a way to release capital to prop up 
overstretched budgets.

‘… Is it the house they want other ground were on?’

There was also more pragmatic view that if the orders of St John were struggling 
financially because of low bed occupancy then these discussions were largely 
academic as the charity’s business at Southfield is now longer sustainable. In other 
words, again, the decision has been largely made.

‘… No point saying anything if they’ve made their mind up that the business 
isn’t sustainable…

Care at home

The group spent time discussing information in the briefing letter related to people’s 
desire to stay at home longer. The group recognised that this is predicated on the 
council putting in place improved/enhanced social care support people staying in their 
home. However, two points of view emerged, firstly it’s not always possible for people 
to remain in their home due to advances in their condition, particularly dementia.
Alongside this experiences by people in the group of social care were largely 
inadequate with the belief being that this had not improved and in fact got worse so at 
the moment the ambition to support people staying at home is just that, which in turn 
increases demand for facilities like Southfield.

Page 118



7
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… Of course people want to stay at home, but that’s not always possible 
and people need places like Southfield…’

‘… My mums been here for 18 months, before that care at home 
shocking… got worse…’

Safety and security

overall the group felt that safety and security offered by Southfield was exceptional, 
with no concerns that safe and effective care was provided 24-hours a day.

‘… I don’t have to worry about my mum, if she’s fallen, and if she has that 
she is going to be lying there for hours before I find her…’

In terms of the overall building group felt continued to function appropriately and offer 
a safe secure location for their loved ones. The collective opinion being that there was 
little evidence that minimum under occupancy and requirements and some 
improvements to the building when not good enough reasons to consider closure of 
Southfield.

‘… I can see no good reason to close, a tiny bit of under occupancy…the 
building issues are easily fixed if they want…’

2.2.2 The process

the group were unanimous in the opinion that receiving a letter a day before the 
engagement meeting was not an appropriate approach and did not allow people the 
opportunity to fully participate in the process. There was also feeling that this 
disadvantaged people who were working and unable to get the time off.

‘… 24 hours is not enough notice… ‘

Questions were also asked regarding a very short notice in the context of how long the 
council had been considering the situation. The view being that the council must have 
had sight of the options for some time which in turn should have allowed them to 
provide much longer notice of the meeting.

‘… How long has this been brewing this just hasn’t come out of thin air…’

One participant raised the point of residents who had recently joined the community at 
Southfield, essentially asking why admissions were not stopped if it was apparent that 
there would be significant disruption in the near future.

‘… (resident we care for) came in February… If this is been on the cards for 
some time we could have avoided a very traumatic experience…’

Page 119



8
© ASV Research Ltd

2.2.3 Atmosphere, Relationships and Community

Residents were very clear that being in Southfield had had a very significant impact on 
improving their condition.

‘… I closed down on my brain… And Southfield built me back up to where I 
am now…

This was partially attributed to the very strong social relations built up and encouraged 
at Southfield and concern over the impact this would have on the residents and 
significantly consideration of the effect on staff.

‘… Breaking up a family…’

The relationships with staff cited, particular by residents, as a key factor in the very 
supportive and positive atmosphere at Southfield.

‘… Not staff, they’re our friends… take away that. You take away 
everything…’

Family/carers were very clear that Southfield provided and holistic environments to the 
benefit of all their residents which is driven by the attitudes of staff and the 
encouragement to build relationships resident-to-resident.

‘… It’s not just the building, it’s the staff and the friendships you can’t 
rebuild that anywhere else…’

Participants also identified a wider element of community which extended beyond 
Southfield to include regular and ongoing contact with the outside world. This was felt 
to provide significant benefits to residents.

‘… our church comes in and does the service here once a month…’

‘… we have a lady who brings a clothes shop in… everything we need…’ 

‘… even the hairdresser’s part of the team…’

2.2.4 Personal Impact

in considering personal impact the residents were particularly concerned and agitated 
by the proposals, feeling it a major disruption at a time in their lives when they were 
looking for stability and security.

‘…now we’re in the twilight of our lives, why should we start again?’

Family and carers were also concerned about the impact that this engagement - about 
what is at this point in time only the possibility of a closure - is having on residents.

‘… for the sake of three or four people my dad has paced up and down the 
corridors all night because of a letter he received yesterday…’

This concern had deeper roots for family/carers in terms of their views of the potential 
impact on their loved ones, specifically the likelihood that this would precipitate the

Page 120



9
© ASV Research Ltd

client in their condition which may lead to death earlier than had they stayed in their 
settled location at Southfield.

‘… Moving puts their lives at risk… Had to move mother-in-law two years 
ago and she died within two weeks…’

‘… This their home, to move them put their lives in risk…’

2.2.5 Cost

Participants were significantly concerned that no information was provided on the 
likely costs of the alternative care beds available in the Stroud district. The view being 
that this may in fact put the quality of care enjoyed it Southfield out of the reach of the 
finances of many leading to compromise and poorer care for their loved ones.

‘… do we know, for instance, how much more it will cost to go into the elms 
compared with here…’

2.2.6 Real Estate and Property Condition

There was a consistent feeling that the prime motivation for this engagement was the 
value of the land currently occupied by Southfield and the potential to realise financial 
gains for the council from its sale. Some even went as far as suggesting that it was 
likely that the council had already put plans for the redevelopment of the site in place.

‘… They want to build houses and apartments here, I bet they’ve already 
got a developer…’

This was further exacerbated by the view that Southfield occupies a prime site which 
is very commercially attractive.

‘… Most expensive road in Stroud…’

2.2.7 Choice and Independence

A clear theme emerged from discussions around choice and independence. When 
speaking about choice there were two clear differentiations; personal choice for the 
resident and the choice of care home taken by the family and carers. Alongside this it 
was felt to be important that the extent of independence enjoyed by residents at 
Southfield was understood.

Personal choice

Participants in the group reported that residents always have choice of food of activity 
and whether they want company or to be on their own.

Choice of home

Participants largely described a process of searching for homes which involved 
looking at other facilities in the Stroud area. None were felt to have offered the quality 
that Southfield offers. Southfield enjoys an excellent reputation in the district and is 
held in high regard. In addition, the overwhelming opinion is that Southfield is

Page 121



10
© ASV Research Ltd

excellently run which is most visibly apparent in the maintenance and upkeep of the 
facility, one participant referred to it passing the ‘smell test’ referring to the prevalence 
of the smell of urine in other homes.

‘…never heard a bad word said about this place ever…’

‘… We looked at five homes before we found Southfields…this was by far 
the nicest and cleanest…’

Independence and dignity for residents

The group were very clear in their view that Southfield is an environment in which the 
care and personal dignity of all residents is paramount.

‘… Allowed to keep their own dignity…’

Residents also expressed the fact that living in Southfield provided them with a degree 
of independence that they felt they would not enjoy in another care home setting and 
particularly if the closure lead to them returning home to live with their children.

‘… don’t want to go back to live with our kids… and if the kids were honest 
they wouldn’t want us either…’

2.2.8 Empathy

participants were particularly vocal the organisers moderators of the group and asking 
their opinions of how they would feel if they were in their situation.

‘… How would you feel if it was your home closing, and you had to move 
miles away from your family…’

Faced with this the honest answer from those questioned was that they would feel 
exactly the same as the participants do, which led to discussion around the need for 
empathy amongst those making the decision on the future of Southfield. It was felt that 
the ultimate decision-makers need to really understand the impact and benefits the 
group felt Southfield offered before making any decision.

‘… come and see how we live… not just for a week…’

Ultimately the group felt that decision-makers were looking at statistics alone and not 
considering the impact on people of any potential closure Southfield.

‘… Don’t they realise this is people’s home…’

2.2.9 Continuity

The continuity of the care received by residents was an important factor in Southfield’s 
success, the most regularly cited reason was the high levels of staff retention of the 
Orders of St John care team, at all levels from caretaker to general manager.

Page 122



11
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… I’ve been coming here two years and it’s mostly the same staff… you 
don’t get huge turnover here…that’s important, it’s a continuous
relationship…’

Alongside the consistency of the care staff, it was also felt to be very important that 
the visiting team was also consistent. The importance of consistent care from the 
visiting GP was praised highly, stressing the importance of building a relationship and 
trust over time, which was felt to be difficult to replicate.

‘… the doctor relationship is great; they’ve got used to it…’

2.2.10 Quality

Whilst quality of care was frequently discussed in terms of the general care delivered 
by the staff at Southfield, very specific concern was raised over the Care Quality 
Commission rating of the home more specifically that of other care beds in the district. 
Just taking the other GCP care home under consideration for a possible closure, 
participants in the group felt that Wyatt compared very unfavourably with Southfield.

‘…(Southfield) comes out “good” (CQC)… Wyatt has three “needs attention”
…’

There were also practical concerns about the future placement of their loved ones in 
the event that ultimately it is decided that Southfield does need to close. The opinion 
was that it was difficult to find care beds in Stroud district with similar CQC ratings, 
causing real concerns about finding beds and more importantly finding beds that allow 
family/carers to retain the relationship with their loved ones that they currently do, 
simply due to additional distances to travel or lacking the means to travel any distance 
increasing isolation.

‘… If this is good where should we move of family… into a home that’s not 
good?’

2.2.11 Alternative considerations

the group worked together to develop some ideas as alternatives to closure 
Southfield, related to:

▪ Marketing;
▪ Wyatt House residents; and
▪ In the worst case working to move residents in a way that protects friendship 

groups.

Marketing

The group identified that the under occupancy amounted to a maximum of four beds 
at any one time. The feeling was that Southfield was an undiscovered treasure, with 
few people being aware of it as a choice for their loved ones. It was suggested, as a

Page 123



12
© ASV Research Ltd

question, that GCP could be more proactive in advertising vacancies encouraging 
uptake and thereby taking some of the commercial pressures of the Orders of St John.

‘… What are you doing to increase bed capacity… advertise, promote…’

Move Wyatt House residents

The group suggested that the less complex residents of Wyatt House could fill some 
of the vacancies at Southfield. This was felt to be a possible other commercial solution 
to the vacancy pressures on the charity, particularly in light of the less favourable CQC 
rating of Wyatt House. However, the group also recognised that this was far from 
ideal, and very mindful of the potential impact this would have on family/carers and 
residents of Wyatt House who were facing very similar circumstances to themselves.

‘… no-brainer… close Wyatt House and move residents, they can take the 
extra bed here…’

Group moving together to maintain relationships

With a certain sense of fatalism, being mindful that the decision to close Southfield 
may be inevitable, the group were focused on maintaining some of the sense of 
community that exists within the home. The group urged the consideration was given 
to moving residents in groups in such a way that despite it being a new care home the 
transition could be made slightly less traumatic by having familiar faces around them.

‘…if a group…wanted to move together to maintain their friendship…’

Page 124



13
© ASV Research Ltd

3 WYATT HOUSE
Summary of discussions - afternoon of 26th of June 2019

3.1 Introduction
The engagement group meeting was held at Wyatt House, Stroud, between 2:00 and 
3:30 pm on the 26th June 2019. The group comprised approximately 35 
relatives/carers and residents.

The meeting was held in the former day care centre in Wyatt House.

In addition to the carer/relatives and residents a representative of Gloucestershire 
County Council and two from the Orders of St John were in attendance, as observers 
to the proceedings. The research team from Evolving Communities were also present.

Prior to the meeting commencing those present were asked for permission for the 
observers to remain in the room, which was given by all present.

As in the previous session at Southfield, the conversation was conducted against a 
broad semi-directive discussion guide covered the following broad topics:

▪ First impression of the proposals for closure;
▪ The likely impact of any closure on residents and family/carers; and
▪ Should any closure decision be made where would the best location be for an 

alternative home be.

Enough flexibility was provided in the discussions to allow the participants the 
opportunity to explore the issues most important to them.

3.2 The Discussions
The group discussion at Wyatt House was entirely with family/carers, residents having 
severe dementia were unable to participate on their own behalf. As would be expected 
the meeting was emotionally charged although it has to be said all participants were 
constructive in their comments despite feelings running high and should be 
commended for this.

The group’s discussions uncovered the following major themes;

▪ The group’s overall impressions;
▪ The overall lack of confidence in the group through lack of communication and 

information in the briefing letter received;
▪ Questions over the assertions that Wyatt House was no longer fit for purpose;
▪ The views of the group that many residents while in no longer had the capacity 

to make decisions had made the choice of Wyatt House when they did have 
such capacity;

▪ Concerns that the engagement process was in fact wasting time as decisions 
were inevitable;

▪ A call from the group for basic empathy to be displayed by decision-makers;

Page 125



14
© ASV Research Ltd

▪ The importance of trust, relationships and the overall environment to the well- 
being of residents of Wyatt House;

▪ Concerns over the stipulation that the building itself can no longer provide best 
care;

▪ A discussion of what was perceived as excellent care provided by Orders of St 
John staff;

▪ The impact on everyone involved residents, family/carers, and of course the 
staff at Wyatt House of the proposals; and

▪ The fundamental issue of the availability of care beds in Stroud versus the 
opportunity for real choice.

Each of these thematic areas are discussed in turn below.

3.2.1 First Impressions 

Not enough notice

The group were particularly vocal in the first instance around their dissatisfaction with 
the councils approach of notifying them of a meeting to be held next day, by letter, 
which in some cases was delayed or did not reach the recipient. Generally, the 
opinion was that this was poor practice and unfair to many.

‘… 24 hours is very unreasonable…’

‘… Poor practice to give 24 hours’ notice…’

Equally, the group were very clear that the residents at Wyatt House did not have the 
capacity to respond for themselves, due to this being a dementia nursing home. The 
opinion was that those present with power of attorney for their relatives or loved ones 
where the only effective voice for the residents. The short notice meant that many 
people were not able to be present to provide that advocate’s voice.

‘… I feel railroaded…we are the voice of the residents…’

Inconvenient time

Participants felt the timing of the meeting was very inconvenient, setting aside any of 
the previously discussed considerations in the short notice for the event, a single 
meeting during an afternoon in the working week was felt to put many people at 
disadvantage.

‘… A weekend meeting would be useful to allow people to get here…’

‘… I think it’s terrible that the council did it overnight… I work full-time… 
today is my day off, luckily…’

Those that were able to attend did so due to fortuitous shift patterns, generosity of 
their employer or by accepting some financial loss in order to ensure their relatives 
interests were represented at the meeting. Again, the consensus opinion was that this 
was very unfortunate and unfair.

Page 126



15
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… I’m lucky enough to be able to attend, many others haven’t, I have a 
letter here from someone who couldn’t make it…’

‘… I’ve had to pay someone to cover my job to be here…’

In addition, participants told of significant travel being involved to ensure they were 
able to act as advocates for their loved ones. Trips of 2 ½ hours to significantly more 
were described to achieve this.

‘… I drove to Cirencester and back to pick up my father-in-law…and I’ll 
have to do it all over again to take him back so he can be here with me…’

‘… I drove from Torquay today to be here…’

Distressing for all

Participants also spoke of the distress this process because for them individually, and 
for the people they love. One participant, as illustration of this point, spoke eloquently 
of the concerns they have in disrupting their mothers routine, Tuesday is a regular 
visiting day, and the meeting occurred at the time usually reserved for that visit, for a 
person with dementia any change to routine is distressing, in this instance the 
participant was unsure of how to deal with this, feeling that it put undue and unfair 
pressure on the residents who are aware their relatives are present but not why they 
aren’t visiting them.

‘… When she asks why are you at a meeting… What can I tell my mum? 
Can you tell me, no!’

Equally, the participants had all chosen specific reasons for the choice of Wyatt House 
as a destination for care of their loved ones. Many spoke of the journey by which they 
came to be at Wyatt House, an exercise the group commented on is being a great 
thing to share. However, the underlying sentiment to this was that in many cases 
agreements made in the past were felt to be being betrayed which was having 
significant impact on the emotional well-being of the family/carers present.

‘… Before my father died he told me “Don’t worry your mother will be safe 
here” … until I got a letter last night…how do you think I feel now?’

Not clear on the scope

Returning to the process which the council had chosen to commence the engagement 
on the potential for future closures of Wyatt House, participants in the meeting felt that 
it was very unclear. Having short notice to absorb the content of a fairly complex 
briefing paper many felt that the actual scope of discussions on the considerations for 
closure were unclear and were causing concerns and, perhaps, undue anxiety.

‘… It’s not clear from the briefing paper what the scope of this meeting is… 
I’m a bit in the dark…’

Page 127



16
© ASV Research Ltd

How long has this been going on?

Generally, participants in the meeting were of the view that decisions such as this 
were not made overnight, and the question was asked how long has the council 
known about this. This was particularly distressing for people who had recently 
secured a place for their loved ones at Wyatt House in the belief that it offered the 
best long-term security and care of all the facilities they had visited.

‘… My dad’s here and he’s only been here for two months, I just cannot 
quite get my head around them people didn’t know, he’s settled now will 
have to do all again…’

Excellent care

An overarching sentiment from the group was in relation to the ethos, values and 
consistency of the care offered to their loved ones, who was recognised faced very 
challenging circumstances, by all of the Orders of St John care staff. This was, 
perhaps, perhaps best expressed as pastoral care, describing and holistic approach 
which addressed the needs of family/carers and residents. The group unanimously felt 
that this caring environment for outweighed any issues with the fabric or presentation 
of the building.

‘…this overlooks the pastoral care, I’m greeted personally, the staff know 
my mum from the cleaner to the centre manager, … I’d sacrifice a 
Chesterfield in reception for the level of care…’

‘…the care is more important than a fancy building…you can throw money 
at anything but that doesn’t mean it gives good value…

3.2.2 Communication/Not Enough information

The group felt that the process of engagement had largely gotten off on the wrongfoot, 
simply because of the lack of time allowed to absorb the information related to such a 
significant event impacting the lives of their vulnerable relatives and loved ones.

‘… Received a letter yesterday for a meeting today, it doesn’t fill me with 
confidence, I have not started on the right foot…’

In addition, the group were unconvinced that the briefing notes provided all 
information required, with references of a perception of “cherry picking” the facts and 
figures to suit the argument and use of selective generalised information, that for 
some was viewed as misleading.

‘… Blanket figures are quoted…needs to be more detail…’ 

‘… It doesn’t give occupancy figures for Wyatt House…’

It also became apparent that the group had not fully understood that the main reason 
for Wyatt House being considered for closure was the fact that the building no longer 
offered the type of facilities that are fit for the required care of dementia patients now

Page 128



17
© ASV Research Ltd

and in the future. Many felt that the time that they had spent discussing standards of 
care and occupancy levels at Wyatt House was wasted because that wasn’t the key 
issue, and more importantly that this was not apparent to from information that had 
been provided to them. This led to those present asking that the council provided a full 
and comprehensive list of the areas in which Wyatt House was viewed to be deficient.

‘… Can you give us a list of the faults in Wyatt House now we found out 
that that’s the reason the council want to close it…’

This also led to consideration of what was viewed as a significant flaw in the 
engagement process, namely that in the information presented to date there was not a 
clear and well-argued case for the proposals the council had brought people together 
to discuss today.

‘… Council has to make a rational decision in law, at the moment it seems 
to be struggling, and if it’s struggling it’s challengeable…

In addition, it was felt that the discussion paper itself was misleading talking about 
options and choices which when considered in more detail were apparently not 
available to residents and their advocates.

‘… It says in the paper that we can choose other GCP homes… what it 
(also) says is that there is not of enough space to take all the residents…if 
it’s not an option (to go into other OSJ homes) why tell us it is…’

3.2.3 Fit for purpose?

The initial view from participants was that Wyatt House remains fit for purpose, with 
many saying that despite the council’s descriptions of inadequacy in their opinion that 
the building and the care is totally adequate in their experience. The feeling was that 
although the building may be tired the care and experience delivered at Wyatt House 
was exceptional which made it fit for purpose. Participants felt the council should look 
beneath the cosmetic appearance and understand the importance of the facility to all 
involved.

‘…not the most modern of premise…care for my mum has been 
outstanding…’

Page 129



18
© ASV Research Ltd

3.2.4 Capacity to make decisions

An abiding theme was the ability of residents themselves to make the choice to move 
to Wyatt House whilst they retained their capacity to make choices. Again, the group 
felt that this was a major betrayal to their loved ones’ choices, which will lead to 
disruption in residents lives and significant stress in the lives of those who love and 
care for them

‘… Granddad doesn’t have the capacity now…a few years ago, this is when 
he chose to be here, and this is where chose to die…you can’t take that 
away from him…’

3.2.5 Empathy

Similar to the participants at Southfields, the group at Wyatt House were particular 
concerned with the ways in which the people delivering the engagement event, both 
as facilitators and observers would feel if it was their family.

‘… How would you feel if it was your family…’

The group also felt that the council decision-makers should not take a final decision on 
the future of Wyatt House without coming to see the circumstances themselves, to 
understand intangible facts such as the atmosphere, the care, and the sense of 
community offered at Wyatt House.

‘… How can they make a decision on this without coming down to see 
these people in beds…’

3.2.6 Trust, relationships and environment

throughout the conversations the participants were very clear that the residents they 
were acting as advocates for faced particular difficult circumstances due to their 
condition. Any changes in routine, environment, and people around them caused 
massive disruption in their lives, resulting in them potentially exhibiting disruptive 
behaviours, got that. This was felt to be most important in factors such as the external 
medical support provided to them by the visiting GP, who was universally cited as 
being excellent.

The loss of this connection, which takes months if not years to build up a relationship 
of trust, in another setting with a change of care home will in effect result in the family 
and the resident starting the process all over again.

‘… Loss of connection and their orientation…it’s easy to overlook the 
importance of the GP here, who is excellent…’

Importantly, the group also stressed the extent to which the location was incredibly 
important to maintaining relationships. Specifically the proximity to partners of 
residents who are equally likely to beef frail and elderly and unable to make long 
journeys, in effect cutting off from contact with their family.

Page 130



19
© ASV Research Ltd

‘… Granddad will lose his family…’

‘… Gran is very poorly we bring her every day, but we won’t be able to 
make it if Granddad is moved further away…’

3.2.7 The building itself

Once it became apparent to the group that the fabric of the building was a significant 
issue, again there was universal expression of the opinion that although the building 
may be tired it was fully functional and meeting the needs of all residents. Participants 
felt that provision of facilities such as en suite bathrooms were superfluous to the 
needs of the residents, stating that in many cases to use such facilities would require 
supervision and in those circumstances a shared bathroom was as adequate.

‘… meet the needs of those here…’

The design of the building described by one participant as a “polo mint” was ideal for 
the needs of many dementia patients who by the nature of their condition often walked 
continuously.

‘… meet the needs of people who do walk… no dead ends…’

‘…not here too long but really impressed with the design may be old but it 
just right for the people here… ‘

Equally, the statement issued at the meeting by the council representative that the 
garden was unfit for purpose due to this slope, increasing falls risk, and denying 
access to outside spaces which is thought essential to modern standards of dementia 
care, was felt to be new information not included in the briefing sheet. Participants felt 
this to be something of a diversion as the use of the garden by residents was very low.

‘… This is the first we’ve heard that the garden is unsuitable…’

‘… Residents never go out in the garden… They are supervised at all 
times… ‘

The group went on to explore the fact that despite residents not going into the garden 
that they received stimulation and enjoyment from the fact that all rooms Wyatt House 
have a view of the green space.

‘… The garden gives so much joy, my mother-in-law talks about the bird 
she can see from the window all the time…’

Participants were also keen to state that if they had known the garden was an issue 
they themselves would have picked up tools and volunteered to level space and make 
it safe for use by residents as deemed by modern standards.

‘… We’d have come in and levelled the garden if we’d known if we’d known 
it was an issue…’

Page 131



20
© ASV Research Ltd

This led on to discussions of the standards for care homes, and recognition that these 
apply to newbuilds whereas Wyatt House was built to comply to previous regulations. 
Participants also expressed concerns over their ability to find places in the Stroud 
district in care homes that met those standards, with the view being that apart from the 
most modern facilities most others would not meet these standards.

‘… How many of the existing care homes apart from Wyatt House would 
meet the new standards for width of corridor, surely we would have to level 
them all…’

3.2.8 Quality of care

Whilst covered implicitly in many of the other things there was very clear and explicit 
discussion of the benefits of the care offered by the Orders of St John staff. Of 
particular importance was the fact that the staff did not regularly change, and the 
retention was important in establishing a routine and relationship for residents of Wyatt 
House.

‘… I’ve not had a single problem with the staff other care they deliver…’

‘… In the larger homes we visited before selecting Wyatt, there was a 
heavy reliance on agency staff and people coming and going all the time 
which isn’t the type of environment I want my mother-in-law in…’

3.2.9 Impact on everyone

the group discussed the impact the proposed closure may have on them if a final 
decision was made to close Wyatt House. On the individuals, family/carers, the 
process of putting their love ones into care of Wyatt House was universally described 
as traumatic. The participants variously reported that the receipt of the letter about the 
engagement and any proposals to close Wyatt House had reintroduced stress into 
their lives that they thought settled with the decision and care provided currently.

‘… Stress made me shutdown… it’s a bit of a journey here but it’s worth it 
because I know mum is safe…last night I felt all coming back… going to
though process again…’

For the residents those advocating on their behalf went to great lengths to stress the 
challenges they face in their day-to-day life, and the impact any disruption to their 
routine has on their well-being and behaviour. People spoke of a process taking many 
months if not years for residents to settle and become accustomed to Wyatt House as 
their home. The view being that take that away from them by closing the facilities 
would in effect put them back into a place that was “dark and difficult.”

‘… sectioned for violence in hospital and it was horrific… doesn’t bang the 
walls any more… it’s taken years, but he is happy to see us go now…’

Page 132



21
© ASV Research Ltd

3.2.10 Availability versus choice

A very important theme discussed by the group was the reality of their choice 
described in the briefing document. Speaking as advocates of the residents and acting 
in the role of their attorney concerns were raised about the reality of the choices 
available to them in terms of finding alternative care beds. There was clear concern 
over the ability of those present to be able to afford to place their loved ones in a 
facility offering care anywhere near as good as that enjoyed Wyatt House. Ultimately 
this was felt to limit choice with a detrimental impact on the future placement of 
residents.

‘… difference between availability and choice…as attorney am I going to be 
able to afford it…’

A very real concern was the extent to which the council had considered the reality of 
the care beds available to relocate residents in the Stroud district.

‘…. where are you proposing to put our families when you forcibly relocated 
them…’

Page 133



22
© ASV Research Ltd

4 DIRECT SUBMISSIONS
Summary of discussions afternoon of 26th of June 2019

4.1 Introduction
A total of five submissions outside of the engagement meetings were received as part 
of this exercise. 

The authors of the submissions were able to articulate their concerns with great 
eloquence, and it is recommended that each is read to understand the viewpoints 
expressed.

We have condensed some of the key themes from that correspondence however 
Cabinet Members do need to draw the conclusions from individual representations.

4.2 Main themes from correspondence
4.2.1 Personal Impact

The submissions all speak of the personal impact the proposed changes will have for 
their loved ones of the author.

My father is a resident there and I cannot emphasise enough how 
catastrophic it would be for his mental and physical health if he were 
moved.

4.2.2 Costs?

The people providing direct submissions by email or letter or highlight concerns that 
the presentation of a case for change by the council in regard to the potential for 
closure of either Southfield or Wyatt House is predicated on a financial basis to 
greater or lesser extent, scratch that. The respondents all cite alternative means of 
assessing the value of the facilities offered by both.

4.2.3 Failing the most vulnerable in our society

The submissions cite various evidence from published reports to recent broadcast 
news articles which highlight the crisis in care in England. The view expressed through 
this mechanism is that these proposed changes are adding to this crisis and thereby 
failing the frail and vulnerable elderly in Stroud.

4.2.4 Celebrate excellence

There was a strong message for the council that the care homes in question, 
particular Southfield, actually offer examples of best practice in social care for the 
elderly. Instead of discussing closures it was felt the council should be taken the 
opportunity to celebrate the success and excellence in homes owned by them and 
operated by partners. This will both promote the concept of excellence in care and

Page 134



23
© ASV Research Ltd

also go some way to increasing demand for care beds at Southfield by raising its 
profile in the local area.

4.2.5 The impact to the wider health system

a common theme expressed was the potential impact of closure of both White House 
and Southfield when it is predicted there will be an increased demand for care and 
dementia nursing beds. It is felt that maintaining these facilities will reduce the impact 
of “bed blocking” at local hospitals. This of course calls for coordination between 
health and social care.

4.2.6 The facilities

Particularly in the case of Southfield respondents refute the claims that the premises 
on not fit for purpose, citing regular upgrades and decoration to maintain what are 
perceived as high standards in the home.

4.2.7 Inadequacies of care at home

Respondents point to the inadequacy of the statement related to pupils desire to stay 
home for the cohort who are resident at Southfield and Wyatt House. This group are 
no longer able to maintain independent living in their own home even with social care. 
So, while this may be important for the future, this has little relevance to the immediate 
impact of the closure of these facilities on the current residents.

4.2.8 A done deal?

Concerns were raised that this engagement was in fact communication of what was in 
effect an already agreed or at least planned in outline decision on the closure of both 
Southfield and Wyatt House.

‘It also seems that this may be a 'done deal' as a rough date for the closure 
is included in the document. Nowhere does it mention keeping it open!’

Page 135



24
© ASV Research Ltd

5 CONCLUSIONS
Overview of main outcomes

5.1 Conclusions for Consideration
Overwhelming opinion from both care home settings, irrespective of the condition of 
the building, the difference being at either Southfield or Wyatt is the care provided by 
the staff of the Orders of St John. It is also important to note that this group are not 
‘novice’ buyers; generally they report trying between three and five care homes before 
choosing the current residents of their loved ones. Various factors cited including the 
overall hygiene and cleanliness, the atmosphere, most importantly the consistency of 
relationship with the staff. OSJ staff are viewed as being invariably friendly, 
irrespective of their role, providing consistent and excellent care.

This perception of care compares poorly when considered against other homes where 
participants report rapid changeover of staff, perceptions of difficulties in maintaining 
relationships with staff and a very high reliance on agency staff, of course this must be 
recognised as anecdotal but because of the consistency of its expression in both 
groups it is a factor that many worry will be impossible to replicate if residents are 
moved to other care home beds. In summary, leadership and management from the 
Orders of St John is viewed as outstanding leading to continuity of staff and 
consequential care, people are concerned that this will no longer be available to them, 
despite assurances in the briefing that other OSJ care beds would be considered as 
an alternative placement. One resident spoke of the staff as…

‘…angels without wings…our friends, or family.…’

In terms of the engagement process itself there was overwhelming consensus 24- 
hours is not long enough period of notice for the meetings called to discuss these 
proposals with residents and family/carers. In addition, there was widespread criticism 
of the briefing letter provided to call the meeting. The view expressed being that not 
enough information is provided as the basis of discussion and in addition it was 
neither clear nor comprehensive leading to confusion during discussions.

Overall, the feeling was that the quality of care has not been considered as one of the 
criteria on which these proposed discussions are being discussed. Based on the 
information provided in the briefing document, the process overlooks CQC scores and 
more importantly the levels of pastoral care delivered in the GCP care homes.
Participants in the groups were very concerned that their choice would be significantly 
limited because the other care home beds available in the Stroud district are in 
settings that CQC do not require improvement against at least one of the areas Safe, 
Effective, Caring, Responsive, and Well-led.

Serious concerns were expressed over the impact on residents through breaking up 
friendship networks and resident-to-resident support built up over many months and 
years. This extended to concern over disrupting the environments of frail and elderly

Page 136



25
© ASV Research Ltd

people many of whom have dementia and in the case of Wyatt House has very 
complex needs and comorbidities. The anecdotal view from those present at meetings 
of both locations, based on personal experience with other relatives, was that moving 
people will lead to earlier death. This extended to the impact on resident’s family, 
many of whom felt that any change in location would remove the remaining 
connections to their ‘old’ life and social networks.

The view of most is that the council is not making an effective case for the closures. 
People generally accepted there may be a valid business case for considering 
closures the closures, however, with the information provided at short notice the 
council had not made that case, and people were largely unconvinced.

Likewise any arguments about the unsuitability of the fabric of the buildings, 
particularly Wyatt House, were not seen to have been made conclusively. Relatives 
and carers were more than happy to offer their services on a voluntary basis to 
address many of the issues with the building, for instance to level the garden at Wyatt 
House to make it safe for residents.

In addition the case made was thought to significantly overlook likely increases in 
dementia cases and the growing demand on care homes from an ageing population, 
without providing adequate information on the alternatives for care at home 
participants in the meeting remained unconvinced that in the medium-term Stroud was 
oversupplied with beds.

Participants were keen to offer alternatives to the proposed closures including:

▪ Increased marketing and publicity activity to increase the bed occupancy 
Southfield;

▪ Closing Wyatt house and moving residents into Southfield which has a higher 
CQC rating; and

▪ Utilising volunteers to address issues with the buildings through applications of 
their skills and labour.

It was clear that these suggestions where offered from ‘front of mind’ thinking with 
participants not having sufficient time to formulate any clear alternatives. However, the 
groups were very keen to be provided with the opportunity to further explore 
alternative options to closure with the council.

In terms of the final decision and recommendations to Gloucestershire County Council 
cabinet there was an overwhelming feeling that any decision needed to involve 
decision-makers in seeing the conditions at each of the care homes. The tangible but 
incredibly important elements such as atmosphere, staff attitudes and residents 
interaction cannot, in the groups’ views, be judged solely on statistics and the paper 
report.

Finally, the groups - while recognising that their own loved ones where at the stage at 
which care at home was no longer practical - expressed significant reservations over

Page 137



26
© ASV Research Ltd

the current capability of the social care system to provide adequate services in this 
area. In the view the inadequacy of three 15-minute visit per day to look after frail and 
elderly people was inadequate. This was particularly felt to be an important factor in 
the early stages of dementia.

Page 138



27
© ASV Research Ltd

6 APPENDIX ONE: BRIEFING SENT TO RELATIVE/CARERS 
Content of letters sent to relatives and carers in advance of 
engagement meetings

6.1 Introduction
This appendix includes the two briefing papers, sent out as letters to the nominated 
relatives or carers of residents at the two care homes.

6.2 Southfield Briefing
Introduction

We want to talk to you about a proposal to close Southfield and the likely impact that would have 
on you if this were to happen. The following information sets out why we need to consider closing 
Southfield and the information we used to come to that conclusion. We understand that this 
proposal is likely to cause you some concern but want to reassure you that no decision has been 
made yet.

Background

The council buys rooms in care homes for older people from providers across Gloucestershire. 
Most of these care homes are owned by private companies, voluntary organisations or charities.

We currently own (15) care homes in the county and since April 2005 they have been run by 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) - a company set up by the Orders of St John Care Trust - and 
bpha.

All but one of these homes provides both residential and nursing care. Southfield only offers 
residential care.

What is the current situation in Stroud?

Information from care providers in the Stroud area indicates that there is a 10 – 15% vacancy level 
across their homes in the district. Southfield has 34 rooms and the number of people living there 
has decreased over the last 12 months. There is now an average of 18% vacancies at any one time. 
Most care homes try to operate at an occupancy level of between 90- 95% in order to remain 
financially sustainable. The continued level of vacancies at Southfield raises serious issues over its 
future viability.

There are a number of reasons why occupancy rates have dropped in recent years. Over the past 
few years, care in the community has increased and is more easily available. Older people have 
therefore chosen to stay in their own homes and receive social care, rather than choose to go to a 
residential care home.

We recently asked Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Evolving Communities to ask older people and 
residents of care homes for people over 65 years of age for their views on care homes provision in 
the county. The report from Evolving Communities “Shaping future care provision for over 65’s in 
Gloucestershire” indicated that the choice to live at home is a key issue for older people:

People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even if their condition
deteriorated.”

Page 139



28
© ASV Research Ltd

We are responding to this change in preference by working with domiciliary care providers to 
ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care provision in the county.

Over the past 5-10 years there has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the 
county and as a result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud.

In the Stroud area there is a total of 25 care homes for older people registered with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), providing 964 places. 13 of these homes, including Southfield, are 
residential care homes offering a total of 326 places.

Many new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can avoid a further move if 
a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition newer care homes offer modern facilities, including 
en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are 
widely regarded as a standard requirement today.

Southfield was built in the early 1960s and therefore does not have the modern facilities other 
homes provide, and the design of the building means it would be extremely difficult and costly to 
make it an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs.

What information has been used in coming up with this proposal?

In considering the closure of Southfield we have considered a range of factors.

There are four Gloucestershire Care Partnership older people care homes in Stroud and Dursley, 
providing a total of 149 care home beds. The other three Gloucestershire Care Partnership care 
homes and their occupancy levels are currently:

1. The Elms with 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
2. Wyatt House with 30 nursing and residential beds, specialising in dementia and an 

occupancy of 93%
3. Henlow Court with 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 95%

We considered the case for closing each of the GCP managed homes in Stroud and Dursley.

 Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not provide nursing 
care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in the Stroud and Dursley 
area. Southfield does not offer the opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future 
care needs.

 The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need for nursing 
care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more viable than smaller care 
homes, therefore closing The Elms is not being considered at this time.

 Wyatt House is a dementia nursing and residential care home. Wyatt House is also being 
considered for closure due to its physical environment no longer being able to meet the 
needs of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of occupancy. Henlow 
Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care for people from the Dursley area 
consequently it is not being considered for closure.

Whilst there are other care homes in the area with similar issues to Southfield, they are not owned 
by us and therefore we cannot consider them for closure.

Page 140



29
© ASV Research Ltd

The impact of the proposed closure

We know that the proposed closure of Southfield will be unsettling for you, your family and the 
employees staff who work in the home. As of 6 June 2019, 26 people live at the care home. The 
Orders of St John Care Trust employs 41 people at Southfield.

Before we make a decision about the future of Southfield we want to talk with you and your family 
to understand:

 The likely impact on you
 Your thoughts on where you might like to move to, if closure was agreed

If the proposal to close Southfield is agreed we would look to offer you a place in a suitable home in 
the Stroud area, including at other GCP care homes, if that’s what you want.

Hearing from you

We have asked Andy Wright, a person independent from the Council who has experience of 
discussing these issues, to run a meeting at 10.00am on 26 June 2019 at Southfield. We can discuss 
the potential closure of Southfield with you and hear what you think.

Evolving Communities have also been invited to the meeting so they can provide the council with 
an independent report on the views and ideas that are expressed by you are your family.

As well as being at the meeting on 26 June, James Cawley, from our adult social care team, who is 
leading this process on behalf of the council, will be at Southfield on 1 July between 10.00am and 
1.00pm and 3 July between 2.00pm and 5.00pm to discuss the proposal with you. If you would like 
to talk to James, you can book an appointment with the home’s Reception.

James can also be contacted by email, james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk or by calling 01452 
583707.

Processes we will be undertaking

In addition to meeting with you, your family and members of staff we will be talking with the 
Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, who represents care home providers across the county 
to understand their views on the care home market in Stroud and the impact of the potential 
closure of Southfield.

The Orders of St John Care Trust will also discuss the proposal with their employees and 
suggestions and comments from them will help inform the final decision.

When will a decision be made?

Following the meetings with you, your family, employees of OSJCT and once we have the report 
from Evolving Communities and feedback from Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, a report 
will be discussed by the County Council’s Cabinet when it meets on 24 July.

Before the report is published we will invite you to a further meeting so we can discuss the content 
and recommendations with you.

What if closure of Southfield is agreed?

Page 141

mailto:james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


30
© ASV Research Ltd

If it is agreed to close Southfield, we will work with all residents and their families to ensure that 
any Social Care Assessment is up to date if needed and to consider where you want to live in the 
future.

The home would not close before early November and therefore there would be time to ensure any 
move is well planned and carefully managed to ensure any disruption is kept to a minimum.

6.3 Wyatt House Briefing
Introduction

We want to talk to you about a proposal to close Wyatt House and the likely impact that would 
have on you if this were to happen. The following information sets out why we need to consider 
closing Wyatt House and the information we used to come to that conclusion. We understand that 
this proposal is likely to cause you some concern but want to reassure you that no decision has 
been made yet.

Background

The council buys rooms in care homes for older people from providers across Gloucestershire. 
Most of these care homes are owned by private companies, voluntary organisations or charities.

We currently own (15) care homes in the county and since April 2005 they have been run by 
Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP) - a company set up by the Orders of St John Care Trust - and 
bpha.

All but one of these homes provides both residential and nursing care. Wyatt House provides 
nursing and residential dementia care.

What is the current situation in Stroud?

Information from care providers in the Stroud area indicates that there is a 10 – 15% vacancy level 
across care homes in the district. Wyatt House is a small care home with 30 rooms.

Wyatt House was built in the 1960s. Its physical environment is no longer able to meet the needs 
of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

There are dementia care homes in Stroud that offer modern facilities that can meet the needs of 
people more appropriately.

We recently asked Healthwatch Gloucestershire and Evolving Communities to ask older people and 
residents of care homes for their views on care homes provision in the county. The report from 
Evolving Communities “Shaping future care provision for over 65’s in Gloucestershire” indicated 
that the choice to live at home as a key issue for older people:

People said that “they would always prefer to stay in their own homes even if their condition 
deteriorated.”

We are responding to this change in preference by working with domiciliary care providers to 
ensure there is enough high-quality domiciliary care provision in the county.

Over the past 5-10 years there has been an increase in the number of care homes being built in the 
county and as a result the availability of care home beds has increased in all areas, including Stroud.

Page 142



31
© ASV Research Ltd

In the Stroud area there is a total of 25 care homes for older people registered with the Care 
Quality Commission (CQC), providing 964 places. 13 of these homes are residential care homes 
offering a total of 326 places.

Many new care homes provide both residential and nursing care which can avoid a further move if 
a resident’s condition deteriorates. In addition newer care homes offer modern facilities, including 
en-suite bathrooms, wider corridors and larger bedrooms to accommodate equipment which are 
widely regarded as a standard requirement today.

Wyatt House does not have the modern facilities other homes provide and the building cannot be 
adapted to this higher level. The design of the building means it would be extremely difficult and 
costly to make it an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs

What information has been used in coming up with this proposal?

In considering the closure of Wyatt House we have considered a range of factors.

There are four Gloucestershire Care Partnership older people care homes in Stroud and Dursley, 
providing a total of 149 care home beds. The other three Gloucestershire Care Partnership care 
homes and their occupancy levels are currently:

1. The Elms with 45 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
2. Southfield with 34 residential beds and an occupancy of 82%
3. Henlow Court with 40 nursing and residential beds and an occupancy of 95%

We considered the case for closing each of the GCP managed homes in Stroud and Dursley.

 Southfield is being considered for closure due to the fact that it does not provide nursing 
care. There are two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in the Stroud and Dursley 
area. Southfield does not offer the opportunity to be modernised in order to meet future 
care needs. Southfield is also being considered for closure.

 The Elms has similar occupancy levels to Southfield but there is greater need for nursing 
care home provision. The Elms being a larger care home is more viable than a smaller care 
home, therefore closing The Elms is not being considered at this time.

 Wyatt House is a dementia nursing and residential care home. Wyatt House is also being 
considered for closure due to its physical environment no longer being able to meet the 
needs of dementia residents requiring a care home today and over the medium term.

Henlow Court is a nursing and residential care home and has high levels of occupancy. Henlow 
Court is the main provider of residential and nursing care for people from the Dursley area 
consequently it is not being considered for closure.

Whilst there are other care homes in the area with similar issues to Wyatt House, they are not 
owned by us and therefore we cannot consider them for closure.

The impact of the proposed closure

We know that the proposed closure of Wyatt House will be unsettling for you, your family and for 
employees who work in the home. As of 6 June 2019, 27 people live at the care home. The Orders 
of St John Care Trust employs 47 people at Wyatt House.

Page 143



32
© ASV Research Ltd

Before we make a decision about the future of Wyatt House we want to talk with you and your 
family to understand:

 The likely impact on you
 Your thoughts on where you might like to move to, if closure was agreed

If the proposal to close Wyatt House is agreed we would look to offer you a place in a suitable
home in the Stroud area, including at other GCP care homes, if that’s what you want.

Hearing from you

We have asked Andy Wright, a person independent from the Council who has experience of 
discussing these issues, to run a meeting at 2.00pm on 26 June 2019 at Wyatt House so we can 
discuss the potential closure of Wyatt House with you and hear what you think.

Evolving Communities have also been invited to the meeting so they can provide the council with 
an independent report on the views and ideas that are expressed by you are your family.

As well as being at the meeting on 26 June, James Cawley, from our adult social care team, who is 
leading this process on behalf of the council, will be at Wyatt House on 1 July between 2.00pm and 
4.30pm and 3 July between 10.00am and 1.00pm to discuss the proposal with you. If you would like 
to talk to James, you can book an appointment with the home’s Reception.

James can also be contacted by email, james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk or calling 01452 
583707.

Processes we will be undertaking

In addition to meeting with you, your family and employees of OSJCT we will be talking with the 
Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, who represents care home providers across the county 
to understand their views on the care home market in Stroud and the impact of the potential 
closure of Wyatt House.

The Orders of St John Care Trust will also discuss the proposal with their employees and 
suggestions and comments from them will help inform the final decision.

When will a decision be made?

Following the meetings with you, your family, employees of OSJCT and once we have the report 
from Evolving Communities and feedback from Gloucestershire Care Providers Association, a report 
will be discussed by the County Council’s Cabinet when it meets on 24 July.

Before the report is published we will invite you to a further meeting so we can discuss the content 
and recommendations with you.

What if closure of Wyatt House is agreed?

If it is agreed to close Wyatt House, we will work with all residents and their families to ensure that 
any Social Care Assessment is up to date if needed and to consider where you want to live in the 
future.

Page 144

mailto:james.cawley@gloucestershire.gov.uk


33
© ASV Research Ltd

The home would not close before early November 2019 and therefore there would be time to 
ensure any move is well planned and carefully managed to ensure any disruption is kept to a 
minimum.

Page 145



Thank You

info@asv-online.co.uk | +44 (0)151 512 1828
Page 146

mailto:info@asv-online.co.uk


1 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Independent engagement 
on the potential closure of 
Southfield House and 
Wyatt House, Stroud:
A residents and relatives/

representatives’ viewpoint of 
likely impact.

Page 147



Evolving Communities 2

© Evolving Communities 2019 (published July 2019)

Any enquiries regarding this publication should be sent to us at
info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk

You can download this publication from evolvingcommunities.co.uk

Contents Page

1. Introduction 3

2. Background 3

3. What we did 4

4. Who we spoke to 5

5. What people told us 5

5.1   Southfield House 5

5.2  Wyatt House 8

6. Conclusions and recommendations 10

7. Limitations 11

8. Acknowledgements 11

Page 148



3 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Evolving Communities is an independent and impartial community interest company 
who are experts in health and social care.  They offer a professional consultancy service 
specialising in research, evaluation and public engagement that combines top academic 
research and service evaluation.  They also run three local Healthwatch services in 
Gloucestershire, Somerset and Dorset.

Evolving Communities have been talking to residents and their relatives of Southfield 
House, and Wyatt House in Stroud.  We wanted to gather their views about the potential 
closure of these homes, and any impact this might have on their lives. This report will 
be fed into a wider paper being produced by Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) and 
presented at their Cabinet Meeting on the 24th July 2019.

1.   Introduction

2.   Background
Gloucestershire County Council (GCC) currently own 15 care homes in the county, and 
since April 2005 these have been run by the Gloucestershire Care Partnership (GCP). 
Since then, ten homes have closed, and four new homes have been built.  GCC are 
currently considering the potential closure of two care homes in the Stroud District; 
Southfield House and Wyatt House.

This decision has been led by the reduced occupancy levels across care homes in the 
district, as well as the physical environment of homes that are no longer able to meet 
the needs of residents.  Reduced occupancy levels are possibly driven by the drive to 
keep people in their own homes for longer.  A recent report carried out by Evolving 
Communities and Healthwatch Gloucestershire (https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/wp-
content/uploads/Shaping-future-care-provision-report-Final.pdf) indicated that older 
people would prefer to stay in their own homes where possible even if their health and 
wellbeing deteriorated.  If agreement is made to close either home, closure would happen 
in early November 2019, ensuring enough time to plan and manage a move and mitigate 
any potential disruption.

GCC acknowledge that any potential closure would have an impact on residents and 
their relatives/representatives.  Therefore, they asked Evolving Communities to attend 
an engagement meeting to independently speak with them about the impact a potential 
closure may have on their health and wellbeing.

Southfield House

Southfield House is a 34-occupancy care home that provides residential and respite care.  
The home is situated in a quiet residential area, with scenic views.  The home has its own 
landscaped garden and offers around the clock care.  As of 6th June 2019, Southfield 
House is home to 26 residents.  There are 41 members of staff employed by the OSJCT.  
The most recent Care Quality Commission (CQC) report (published November 2016 
https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_reports/INS2-2456527559.pdf) rated the 
quality of Southfield House as Good.

Page 149



Evolving Communities 4

3.  What we did

Southfield House is considered for closure as it does not provide nursing care, the building 
does not offer the opportunity to be modernised to meet future care needs and the 
occupancy rate is 82%.  There are also two larger GCP residential and nursing homes in 
the Stroud and Dursley area.

Wyatt House

Wyatt House is a 30-occupancy care home specialising in the care of people who live with 
dementia as well as those who require nursing care.  Built in the 1960s, Wyatt House has 
a circular design with an inner secure garden.  As of 6th June 2019, 27 people live in the 
home, and there are 47 members of staff employed there by the OSJCT.  The most recent 
CQC report (published October 2018 https://www.cqc.org.uk/sites/default/files/new_
reports/INS2-3866007075.pdf) rated Wyatt House as Requires Improvement, however the 
service was rated Good on being effective and caring.

Wyatt House is being considered for closure due to the design of the building not being 
able to meet the needs of dementia residents.  It was considered too difficult and costly to 
make an effective place to meet increasingly complex care needs.  The current occupancy 
rate of Wyatt House is 93%.

Residents from both care homes received a letter from the GCC, dated 21st June 2019, 
detailing the proposed closure of Southfield House and Wyatt House.  As well as detailing 
information about the reasons for potential closure, the letter invited residents and their 
relatives/representatives to a meeting where they could discuss the closure and voice 
their views and concerns.

On the 26th June 2019 we attended the two engagement meetings, each lasted 90 
minutes.  The first was held at 10am at Southfield House, and the second was held at 
2pm at Wyatt House.  Both meetings were facilitated and led by a consultant from ASV 
Research Ltd, an independent company specialising in social research insights in the 
public, private and third sectors.

The objective of the engagement meetings was to understand:

 ● First impressions of residents and relatives/representatives of the proposed closure

 ● The likely impact of any closure on residents and relatives/representative’s health and 
wellbeing

 ● Should the decision be made to close the home, residents and relatives/representatives’ 
thoughts on the best location of alternative home

We took notes during the engagement, especially comments relating to the potential 
impact of a home closure on residents and their relatives/representative’s health and 
wellbeing.

The Evolving Communities contact details were given so that residents and relatives/
representatives could send any further comments after the meetings.  The deadline for 
contacting us with comments was midnight on the 30th June 2019.

Page 150



5 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

4.  Who we spoke to
The meeting at Southfield House was attended by a mixture of residents and relatives/
representatives.  The meeting was facilitated by a consultant from ASV.  Also in 
attendance was a representative from OSJCT, GCC, and Evolving Communities.

The meeting at Wyatt House was attended by relatives/representatives only.  The 
meeting was facilitated by a consultant from ASV.  Also in attendance representatives 
from GCC, OSJCT and Evolving Communities.

We received three emails from relatives after the meetings.  Two were relating to 
Southfield House, and one related to Wyatt House.

5.  What people told us

5.1.  Southfield House

The following is a summary of what residents, relatives and representatives said during 
the engagement, and in follow up email correspondence.  Comments are anonymous, 
and any identifiable information has been removed in order to protect the privacy of 
individuals.

Discussions began with initial impressions about the proposed closure.  There 
was significant opposition to the closure from both residents and their relatives/
representatives, with one relative/representative describing the potential closure as 
“ripping people out of their home”.  One resident felt strongly that the Council had been at 
the centre of older people being “pushed around” all their lives. There were clear feelings 
of anger, upset and distress from both residents and their relatives/representatives, 
especially concerning the potential risk to residents if they were to move: “It could kill her 
[parent]…I’m angry about it.”  “It [the move] will be the end of us [residents].”

Discussion moved on to the reasons behind the potential closure, and what the council 
could be doing to make the home more viable for the future.  While bed occupancy was 
given as a reason for potential closure, many felt that the Council should be doing more 
to advertise beds in the home.  One relative described the 
home as the “best kept secret”, and that it needed to 
be more high profile.  There was discussion about the 
possible closure of Wyatt House, and if there was an 
option of moving their residents into Southfield House to 
fill the spaces.  Those in attendance felt that this was a 
good idea, even when told that there would be residents 
with challenging and complex needs.

There was a perception from residents and relatives/representatives that the ‘real’ reason 
behind the potential closure was that the home was situated on prime real estate: “It’s 
money, money, money, and to hell with everything else.”  One relative found the prospect 
that the home could be closed due to the worth of the land “disturbing” and implored 

“Look at [the GCC] 
processes of filling rooms, so 
other people can receive this 

fantastic facility.”

Page 151



Evolving Communities 6

the GCC to not “destroy” the last years of their father’s life by selling the land off to 
development opportunists.

Discussion began as to whether residents and relatives/representatives had considered 
the CQC rating/report when making the decision to move to the home.  There was 
agreement and affirmation that they had, with one relative asking why they should move 
their relatives into a home that was not as good.  A GCC representative noted that if the 
home was to close, residents would have the choice of the wider care home market in 
Stroud (not just those provided by OSJCT ).  One relative said that her mother had been 
in four homes already, but that Southfield House was always rated as the ‘top’, and there 
was unanimous nodding in agreement with this comment.  Those in attendance wondered 
whether the GCC were considering CQC ratings when thinking about potential closures, 
especially considering other homes in the area (including Wyatt house) were rated as 
Requires Improvement.

Discussions moved to the alternative of domiciliary care put across by GCC, to which 
one relative responded: “Care in the home?  Fat chance of that!”  Some residents had 
experienced care in the home prior to deciding to move into Southfield House and found 
that this did not meet their needs.  This was especially true for those with dementia; 
one relative emailed Evolving Communities to say that their father needed “ongoing 
interaction and support” which was only possible with 24-hour care, while another relative 
felt that there was “no value in him [his father] being stuck in a flat on his own”.  Another 
resident stated that some of the carers that cared for her mother at home did not speak 
English.

There was concern from some relatives/representatives that two care homes had closed 
elsewhere in Gloucestershire last year, which led to a discussion about future need.  One 
family member asked: “When we get to that age, what will be available to us?”

Throughout the discussions, the atmosphere, staff and environment of the home was 
talked about with great admiration by both residents and relatives/representatives.  
Southfield House had offered both residents and their relatives/representatives’ safety 
and reassurance that they felt they would not get anywhere else: “It’s a wonderful feeling. 
You’re cared for, you’re loved.”  “I can sleep at night [knowing relative is cared for].”  For 
many residents, living in Southfield House had transformed their lives: “I was a babbling 
wreck when I came here, and Southfield built me up.”  “[Southfield has] become a healing 
and safe space for him [father].  After two years he has begun to smile and socialise 
again.”  Relatives/representatives commented that the house had a good reputation 
locally, and that both residents and visitors had described Southfield House as feeling 
more like a hotel than a care home.

There was a strong sense of community reported by both residents and relatives/
representatives: “This is her family.”  There was overwhelming support for the staff from 
those at the meeting, with one resident describing the staff as “angels without wings”.  
Continuity of staff meant that relationships were able to be built 
with residents and their families.  Staff knew the residents 
individually, which was especially important for those who 
were easily confused.  One relative recalled a time when a staff 
member got married and included residents in the celebrations 
by giving out favour bags.  This was an example of how the 
staff were committed to making residents feel like “one of the 
family”.

Many attendees felt that Southfield House offered a place of safety, while keeping 
independence, dignity and choice for residents: “They get to choose exactly what they 
want.  They take account of individual characters.”  For many relatives/representatives, 

“The atmosphere 
is made by the staff 
- they’re not staff, 
they’re friends.”

Page 152



7 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

Southfield House enabled a sense of reassurance: “I no longer live on a knife edge.”  The 
24-hour care offered at Southfield House was seen as especially important: “Last night I 
had a bad night.  Two carers came in and asked me what I wanted and made me a cup 
of tea.”  “Mum has been to hospital two times in the last few weeks [paramedics called 
by home], that’s the importance of 24-hour care.”  The physical environment of the 
home was talked about as having a positive impact on resident’s health and wellbeing: 
“It is important to have a lovely garden and lovely views.”  “This place is always clean.”  
Regarding the modernising of the building, or moving to a newer care home, one 
resident commented that being happy was more important to them than having a “fancy 
bathroom”.

The meeting concluded with a discussion about any potential impact a closure would 
have on the health and wellbeing of not only the residents, but also staff and relatives/
representatives.  There was also discussion about what GCC need to consider before 
any closure is agreed.  There was an overwhelming sense that moving residents would 
have severe effects on both their physical and mental wellbeing, for many this affect was 
considered as serious as death: “I think it would kill my mother.”  Research in the area of 
care home resettlement has recognised that the relocation of older people from one care 
setting to another is particularly stressful and has adverse effects on health, and even on 
survival (Jolley et al., 2011).  One resident was described by a family member as already 
experiencing distress in response to reading the letter sent from GCC about the closure, 
and others described current feelings of physical and mental stress.

Directed at the council, one relative asked how they would feel being told they had to 
leave their home, friends and family.  One resident felt strongly that they did not want to 
go anywhere else, and that the closure would make them feel without a future.  It was 
suggested that the decision-makers from GCC should come and observe what it’s like to 
live in the home.

It was agreed that the council need to consider the impact of not only the residents 
wellbeing, but that of relatives and representatives.  Many relatives/representatives had 
chosen Southfield house due to the proximity to their own home, as it was a short drive 
or walk away and this meant they were able to visit frequently.  As previously mentioned, 
knowing that their relative was well looked after offered reassurance and alleviated 
feelings of guilt.  When considering relocating to other care homes in the area run by 
OSJCA, all in the room agreed that Henlow Court in Dursley was out of the question due 
to it being too far away.  When talking about potential relocation, it was agreed that 
the GCC should consider that some residents may wish to be rehomed together as to 
preserve friendships and relationships.  Relationships with outside staff and visitors was 
also talked about as being of great importance.  For the residents, having a named GP 
that knew them was vital, as well as relationships with the wider staff such as hairdressers, 
opticians, chiropodists and a clothes seller.  A monthly church service was also mentioned 
as being of great importance to the residents.

Finally, relatives/representatives discussed the personal costs involved in moving to a 
different home, as many felt that it will cost more money for a home as good as Southfield 
House.  One family member emailed to say that while they were currently paying a 
substantial amount of money to be in Southfield House, this was worth it to be in such an 
“exceptional” home.  Relatives/representatives wished for the council to provide a cost 
comparison between other options and Southfield House.

Page 153



Evolving Communities 8

5.2.  Wyatt House
Discussion began with initial impressions of the potential closure of Wyatt House.  The 
conversation immediately focused on the process of the engagement.  Many attendees 

felt that the briefing notes provided to them by the GCC 
did not contain enough detailed information about the 
reasons for a proposed closure.  Attendees also felt that 
the document was not clear about the decision-making 
process that had happened prior to the homes being 
chosen for closure, and in an email sent to Evolving 
Communities after the meeting one relative felt that GCC 

had been “deliberately obtuse and misleading”.  One relative questioned how long GCC 
had been considering the closures, as their father had only been at the home for two 
months and was just settling in.  Attendees questioned why the consultants facilitating the 
meeting had been told of the potential closures days before residents, staff and relatives/
representatives.  As with Southfield House, there was a perception that the ‘real’ reason 
for closure was to sell off the land, and if this was the case attendees would prefer that 
GCC be open, honest and transparent about this rather than giving “excuses”.

There was concern that GCC did not have enough information to make an informed 
decision about potential closures.  Attendees enquired about the scope and criteria of 
the process, noting that while there was an emphasis on the physical 
space of the home, quality of care was missing.  It was felt that CQC 
reports and resident reviews should be taken into consideration.  
Attendees wondered how GCC Cabinet members could come to a 
decision without visiting the home, and in a letter read out on behalf 
of a relative unable to attend the meeting, the Cabinet were asked to 
consider that residents “are people, not statistics”.  Attendees agreed 
that meeting the residents and hearing them face-to-face should be of high importance.

The lack of prior notice (for many, less than 24 hours) before the meeting was described 
by attendees as unacceptable and many were “shocked” at the poor management of 
the process.  One attendee said that this lack of notice did not give them confidence in 
the GCC: “They have not started off on the right footing.”  Concerns were raised that not 
everybody would be able to have their voice heard as they could not get time off work to 
attend or they lived too far away.  One attendee had taken unpaid time off, while another 
had to bring their baby to the meeting as they could not get childcare in time.  It was also 
noted that many of residents did not have the capacity to defend themselves, or even 
knew that the meeting was happening, and this had put relatives in an uncomfortable 
position: “What do I tell my mum?  I have to lie.”  “We are their voice.”  GCC noted that 
there would be further opportunity to voice concerns in meetings planned for the week 
commencing 8th July 2019.

Discussions moved to how GCC were describing ‘best care’.  Relatives and representatives 
agreed that the care that had been given to residents by Wyatt House was “outstanding”.  
Focus was given to the pastoral and emotional care given by all staff, from cleaners to 
head nurses: “It is a proper little community and it works.”  The focus of person-centred 
care offered at the home was acknowledged by attendees as being incredibly important 
for residents, especially for those with severe dementia.  The handover between staff 
members, consistency, training and leadership were described as areas of best practice 
displayed by the home: “The strength of the House is not the building, but the staff from 
bottom to top.”  The continuity of care offered by Wyatt House was praised, including 
that of the visiting GP, and attendees had found that this was not the case in other homes: 

“It’s like the 
council know 
better than 
anyone!.”

“We want the building kept.  
It belongs to residents.  It’s 
their home, they’ve made it 

their home.”

Page 154



9 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

“Have seen other places full of agency staff – dad hates the 
idea that he doesn’t know who’s going to look after him.”  
Care displayed by staff extended beyond the remits of the 
working day, with one report that staff took time out of their 
days off to take residents to the local park.  Knowing that their 
loved ones were in receipt of excellent care gave relatives/
representatives’ a sense of reassurance; they knew they were in the best place.

The reasons given by GCC for potential closure were then deliberated by attendees.  One 
of the reasons for the potential closure was that the building was out of date and not 
fit for purpose.  Representatives from the GCC and OSJCT explained that the building 
did not meet new regulations set for care homes, such as wide corridors and en suite 
bathrooms.  However, attendees were critical that the exact faults of the building had not 
been defined: “Where are the gaps?  How is the building not fit for purpose?”  In response 
to this, relatives/representatives agreed that what the residents need is good care and 
not ‘posh buildings’.  Questions were raised as to how the building was suddenly not fit 
for purpose, and if other buildings of a similar age in the County were to be closed too.  
Regarding the need for en suites, one attendee felt that this was not important, and in fact 
could be unsafe for residents with complex medical issues: “She would drown herself.”  
The circular layout of the building was praised by attendees, as it meant residents could 
have uninterrupted roam of the house without getting lost.  The gardens were noted by 
GCC as not being safe, however it was explained that residents did not go into the garden 
unattended, and many simply enjoyed watching the garden, especially the birds, from 
their window:  “Priceless little things you can’t take away.  Mum was a keen gardener, she 
loves the garden.”  Attendees wondered why the council could not invest in making the 
garden and buildings safe, as opposed to closing it entirely.

The current occupancy and size of the home was discussed by attendees.  Referring to 
the briefing note sent by GCC, one attendee questioned the idea that bigger homes equal 
better provision of care.  They were concerned that the move away from smaller homes 
could mean that residents get forgotten about.  This was reflected in a recent report1  
published by Evolving Communities and Healthwatch Gloucestershire that found that 
almost 60% of respondents said they would prefer a medium sized home (11-49 beds), and 
38% said they would prefer a small home (1-10 beds).  Only 2% said that they would prefer 
a large (50+ beds) home.  While the briefing note mentioned occupancy as a reason for 
other homes being chosen for potential closure, attendees wished to know more detail 
about the statistics for the last two years for Wyatt House.  Many wondered why a home 
that was hitting standard rates of occupancy would be up for closure, especially when it 
was also used for respite care.

There were also concerns about GCC’s failure to provide detail about future provision 
for dementia care in the Stroud district.  The predicted rise in dementia cases nationally 
was brought up in the meeting, and re-affirmed by a relative in an email sent to Evolving 
Communities after the meeting:  “…experts predict that the current number of 850,000 
suffering dementia nationally is predicted to rise to as many as 3 million by the year 2050 
it would seem an odd time to be considering the closure of facilities that will be needed 
for many years to come.”  Locally, it is estimated that by 2025 there will be 12,000 people 
living with dementia in Gloucestershire2.

The meeting concluded with contemplation of what GCC need to consider when deciding 
the future of Wyatt House.  The main concern from relatives/representatives was the 
impact to the health of relocating their elderly relatives, especially those who are frail 
and those with dementia.  One attendee mentioned the statistics that were previously 

“My father said before 
he died, don’t worry 
your mother will be 
looked after here.”

1 https://evolvingcommunities.co.uk/wp-content/uploads/Shaping-future-care-provision-report-Final.pdf
2 https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/6827/gloucestershire_dementia_strategy26_01-65778.pdf

Page 155



Evolving Communities 10

mentioned in this report (Jolley et al., 2011) relating to 
care home relocation, noting the increased risk of death 
and distress for those who are unsettled.  Emotional 
impact was also discussed, as many of the residents and 
relatives/representatives were reported already feeling 
upset, distressed, traumatised and “churned up” despite 
no decision being made.  For one resident, simply reading 
the words ‘closure’ on the letter sent by GCC had made 

them feel that this was a forgone conclusion.  The potential stress of relocating to both 
residents and their families was discussed.  For one relative, moving their mother into 
Wyatt House had relieved the stress and pressure from her, as she was safe in the 
knowledge that she was being well cared for.  However, the potential for closure has 
brought these feelings back.  Attendees feared that anxiety levels of residents would rise 
in new environment, and as such could become a possible care issue.

Many attendees were concerned about the replacement homes on offer in the Stroud 
area: “There is a difference between availability and choice.”  For many, Wyatt House 
had been chosen due to its close proximity to family members: “Nan is wheelchair bound, 
she comes [to see husband] every day. She wants to be able to visit if he moves.”  If this 
proximity was taken away then there would be great impact to residents: “My grandad 
will lose his family.”  There was also concern that the other choices on offer would not be 
suitable for those with complex needs, or may be too expensive: “Wyatt House was the 
only choice for us at the time.  He will die in a strange place.”

“When they changed the 
colour of the uniform, 

my mum was confused.  
Imagine what moving her 

will do?”

6.  Conclusions & recommendations
Despite the short time scale of the work, we were able to listen and gather the views of 
both residents and their relatives/representatives.  The passionate and emotive arguments 
put forward highlighted the need for care and attention to be taken in the next steps of 
the decision-making process.  Based on the two engagement meetings, we recommend 
that Gloucestershire County Council consider the following:

General recommendations

 ● Cabinet Members should consider the emotional and physical impact on both residents and 
their relatives/representatives, both now and in the future of any potential closure.

 ● Cabinet Members should acknowledge what residents and their relatives have said about the 
potential closure through this report.

 ● Cabinet members should consider visiting both the homes in person.

 ● GCC should include CQC reports and resident reviews in any further decision-making 
process.

 ● GCC should provide residents and their relatives/representatives clearer information 
regarding the exact reasons and rationale for the potential closures.

 ● GCC should provide residents and relatives/representatives with a cost comparison between 
other available care options and Wyatt and Southfield House.

Page 156



11 Engagement: potential closure of two care homes in Stroud

7.  Limitations

 ● In the event that closures are agreed, GCC should consider and take into account current 
friendships and relationships between residents and staff in any relocation decision.

 ● In the event that closures are agreed, GCC should carry out a detailed risk assessment, 
undertake appropriate planning and offer training to staff to help residents adjust.

Recommendations for future engagement

 ● GCC should strongly consider giving residents and relatives/representatives substantial 
notice before any future engagement meetings are held.  It would be preferable if meetings 
could also be held on weekends or evenings.

 ● Ensure that any communication about potential closures is handled in a timely and 
sensitive manner, and with clear and detailed information.

 ● Engage with all residents and relatives/representatives (where possible) in the engagement 
process; this may mean using different engagement methods to contact them.

It should be noted that while many views were captured during this piece of work, not 
all residents, relatives and representatives took part in discussions.  In Southfield House, 
while many residents were present, only a couple were able to be actively engaged in the 
conversation.  In Wyatt house none of the residents were able to attend the meeting.  As 
the work was conducted to strict time scales, alternative methods of engagement were 
unable to be used to capture these voices.  However, a representative from  GCC did 
offer to meet residents and relatives/representatives individually both at the care homes 
or in their own homes.  Further meetings were held with GCC at both homes on the week 
commencing 8th July 2019.  Evolving Communities were not present at these meetings, 
therefore we cannot comment on any further feedback given.

8.  Acknowledgements
Evolving Communities would like to thank Gloucestershire County Council for 
commissioning this work.  We would also like to thank Andy Wright from ASV Research 
Ltd for facilitating and leading the meetings.  Most importantly we would like to express 
our gratitude to the residents and their relatives/representatives of Southfield House and 
Wyatt House, who took the time to share their views, and were very open and honest 
during what is understandably a difficult time.

References

Jolley, D., Jefferys, P., Katona, C., & Lennon, S. (2011).  Enforced relocation of older people 
when Care Homes close: a question of life and death?. Age and ageing, 40(5), 534-537.

Page 157



01225 701851

info@evolvingcommunities.co.uk

evolvingcommunities.co.uk

Unit 4 Hampton Park West, Melksham 
SN12 6LH

@evolvingcommunitiesCIC

@EvolvingCommun2

evolving-communities

Need to know more?

Evolving Communities CIC provides a professional consultancy service specialising in research, evaluation and public engagement.  It is a community 
interest company limited by guarantee and registered in England and Wales with company number 08464602.  The registered office is at Unit 4, 
Hampton Park West, Melksham, SN12 6LH.

© Evolving Communities 2019

Page 158



Care Home CQC
Old Vicarage 
Residential Home

Church End, 
Frampton – on - 
Severn

GL2 7EE

01452 740562

April 2019

Good

Wisma Mulia

Bridge Road, 
Frampton – on – 
Severn, 
Gloucestershire
GL2 7HE

01452 740432

April 2019

Good

Brookthorpe Hall 
Care Centre
Stroud Road, 
Brookthorpe,
Gloucestershire
GL4 0UN

01452 813240

June 2017

Good

Northfield House 
Residential Home,
Folly Lane,
Uplands,
Stroud,
Gloucestershire
GL5 1SP

01453 488060

November 2018

Requires 
Improvement

More Hall 
Convent
Randwick,
Stroud,
Gloucestershire,
GL6 6EP

01453 764486

September 2018

Good

Steepes 
Residential Care 
Home

April 2018

Good

Page 159



Cossack Square,
New Market 
Road,
Nailsworth, 
Stroud, 
Gloucestershire, 
GL6 0DB

01453 807513
Winslow House
Springhill
Nailsworth
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 0LS

01453 832269

May 2017

Good

Highborder Lodge
Marsh Lane,
Leonard Stanley
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3NJ

01453 823203

December 2017

Good

Regency 
Retirement Home
52 Regent St
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 2AD

01453 823139

April 2018

Good

Stinchcombe 
Manor Care 
Home
Echo Lane,
Dursley,
Gloucestershire
GL11 6BQ

01453 549162

No rating at 
present, not 
inspected yet by 
CQC

Canonbury 
Residential Home
19 Canonbury St,
Berkeley
Gloucestershire

June 2019

Good

Page 160



GL13 9BE

01453 810292

CQC Dual Registered Care Homes ( Nursing and Residential)

Postcode CQC Dementia
Cotswold House
Church Road
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL5 4JE

01453 752699

August 2018

Requires 
Improvement 

yes

Scarlett House
123 Westward 
Rd,
Ebley
Stroud,
Gloucestershire
GL5 4SP

01453 769810

March 2019

Good

yes

Minchinhampton 
Centre for the 
Elderley – Horsfall 
House
Windmill Road
Minchinhampton
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 9EY
01543 731227

September 2018

Good

yes

Resthaven 
Nursing Home
Pitcombe
Stroud
Gloucestershire
GL6 6LS

01452 812682

September 2018

Good

yes

Richmond  Village
Stroud Road
Painswick
GL6 6UL

October 2017

Good

no

Page 161



01452 596280

The Elms
Elm Road
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 2NP

01453 824477

March 2018

Good

no

The Grange Care 
Centre
Bristol Road
Eastington
Stonehouse
Gloucestershire
GL10 3RT

01453 791513

October 2018

Good

yes

Moreton Hill
Standish
Stonehouse
GL10 3BZ

01453 557358

February 2018

Good

yes

Henlow Court
1 Henlow Drive
Dursley
GL11 4BE

01453 545866

November 2017

Good

No

The Hollies Care 
Centre
Drake Lane
Dursley
GL11 5HA

01453 541400

September 2017

Good

Yes

Yercombe Lodge 
Care Home
Stinchcombe
Dursley
Gloucestershire
GL11 6AS

01453 542513

August 2017 No

Page 162



Kingswood Lodge 
Care Centre
Wotton Road
Wotton – under – 
Edge
Gloucestershire
GL12 8RA

01453 802509

May 2017

Good

No

Pennwood Lodge 
Nursing Home
Kingswood
Wotton –under – 
Edge 
Gloucestershire
GL12 8RA

01453 – 521522 
or 03339998598

August 2018

Requires 
Improvement

Only Residential 
Dementia

Breadstone Care 
Home with 
Nursing
Breadstone
Berkeley
Gloucestershire
GL13 9HG

01453 511059

May 2018

Good

yes

Page 163



This page is intentionally left blank



DELIVERY OF STRUCTURAL MAINTENANCE WORKS 2020-2022

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Highways & Flood Cllr Vernon Smith

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

Cabinet Paper June 2017 – Highways Procurement Strategy 
Development
Cabinet Paper September 2017 – Highways Procurement Strategy

Main Consultees Cabinet Panel – Highways Procurement (cross party)
Annual Highways Customer Satisfaction Survey
Annual National Highways and Transportation Survey

Planned Dates Structural maintenance works from April 2020 to 2022

Divisional 
Councillor

All - countywide service 

Officer Kath Haworth, Lead Commissioner Highways Authority
Tel: 01452 32879 Email: Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To seek approval to procure and award a contract for the delivery of 
structural maintenance works for 2 years from April 2020 to 2022, 
following the successful conclusion of the current contract.

Recommendations That Cabinet authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highways Authority to:

1. Carry out a public procurement law compliant competitive tender 
process for the delivery of a two year single provider contract for 
the delivery of structural maintenance works commencing 1st 
April 2020.

2. Award such contract (following the conclusion of the said 
competitive tender process) in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Highways and Flood, to the preferred provider(s) 
evaluated as offering the Council best value for money for 
delivery of the required works.  In the event that the preferred 
provider is either unable or unwilling to enter into that contract 
with the Council then the Lead Commissioner, Highways 
Authority shall be authorised to award such contract to the next 
willing highest scoring suitably qualified provider.

Reasons for 
recommendations

Following officer assessment, industry investigation and research, and 
consultation with members, a procurement strategy was developed that 
delivered a revised operating model giving the best opportunity for 

Page 165

Agenda Item 7

mailto:Kathryn.Haworth@gloucestershire.gov.uk


successful delivery of highway services. The first contract in this 
revised model is coming to an end in March 2020, delivering 
successfully over it’s term and we now wish to renew this contract.

Resource 
Implications

Contract Value. The Structural Maintenance Contract is estimated to 
be valued at £55m over the full 2 year term.  For OJEU notice 
purposes, the contract value range is based on predicted budgets over 
the full term of the contract.   The values also include contingency to 
account for inflation, potential one-off funding bids, DfT awards and 
other unknown possible increases in capital funding over the 
contracted period.

Page 166



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background 

Current contract arrangements
A Cabinet report from September 2017 revised and improved the way in which the council 
procured and delivered its Highways Contracts. 

The proposed model required separate procurement exercises for each of the three 
following contracts:

(a) A seven year (with options for 2 two-year extensions) Term Maintenance 
Contract: procuring a contractor which is typified as “focused and efficient” with a 
strong maintenance delivery background and significant experience of self-
delivery (delivering services with owned plant and directly employed labour).  
Important to recognise that we want to procure a long term relationship which is 
driven by timely quality delivery whilst having a strong cost transparency. 
Awarded to Ringway in April 2019.

(b) A two year Structural Maintenance Contract: procuring a direct relationship with a 
tier one contractor that delivers cost-effective resurfacing works in order to 
maximise the additional capital investment in roads over the next five years. 
Awarded to Tarmac Trading Limited in April 2018.

(c) A 6 year (with options for 2 two year extensions) Professional Services Contract:  
procuring a long term professional relationship that will support the council on 
technically complex design of works, project management of major schemes  and 
provide a strong bidding capability to maximise future financial opportunities. 
Awarded to Atkins in April 2019.

As a result of the procurement exercise for the two year Structural Maintenance Contract 
described in paragraph (b), a 2 year contract was entered into with Tarmac Trading Limited 
for Structural Maintenance in April 2018 which comes to an end in March 2020. The 
contract is for a 2 year term as recommended by the industry to avoid price-hedging given 
the volatility in the oil market which drives bitumen prices.

Current contractor performance

The current contract is performing well and meeting the targets set by the Council. 
Schemes are being managed well and are being delivered on time and to budget. The co-
location of the supplier in council offices is working particularly well.

Financial implications

Moving structural maintenance design responsibilities back in house has reduced fee-on-
fee arrangements.  The internal team has enabled significantly more ‘walk talk and build’ 
and better control of risks allowing design fee costs to be reduced.

Procurement Strategy

The procurement strategy is to carry on with implementing the authorised procurement 
strategy from the September 2017 Cabinet Paper, Highways Procurement Strategy. 

Page 167



Procurement timelines
The procurement timelines for the proposed tender is:

Issue OJEU Contract Notice: by end September 2019
Tenders returned: by 6th January 2020
Tenders evaluated: 6th – 30th January 2020
Tender Awarded: by 31st January 2020
Contract Mobilisation: Feb-Mar 2020
Contract Starts: 1st April 2020

Contract Terms 

 Two year term (as recommended by the industry to avoid price-hedging given the 
volatility in the oil market which drives bitumen prices)

 Relatively low procurement timescales and costs

 Recognises the importance of oil prices on the market 

 Officers will use a standard Open evaluation procurement procedure for tendering 
the structural maintenance contract.

 The industry standard NEC contract will be used again, updated to the latest version 
NEC 4, to align with the Term Maintenance and Professional Services contracts and 
to ensure consistency of delivery.

Managing the contracts going forward

One of the key risks identified with the revised delivery model was the potential difficulty in 
coordinating works delivery between three contractors.  To help mitigate this challenge, 
officers looked at how the contracts would be managed including the governance 
arrangements.  The following areas are critical to mitigating this interface risk.

 Governance structures
 Performance management linked to contract extensions
 Robust contractual processes for managing poor performance

Governance structures
A robust governance structure has been created and is now in operation to manage the 
whole of the highways service which has both strategic and operational boards and for this 
to be placed within the tendering documents.  This structure includes the following:

 Strategic Highways Governance Board:  Focused on ensuring oversight of 
overall highway services delivery and coordination of contracts.  Review of 
overall performance and for resolving escalated or unresolved issues.  Made 
up of Cabinet Members and directors from all of the organisations.

 Operational Highways Board:  Focused on ensuring operational delivery is 
coordinated between contractors and for resolving operational and contractual 
issues.  Made up of Council managers and managers from each of the 
highways contractors. 

Page 168



 Health and Safety Board
Focused on ensuring health and safety is coordinated across all highways 
service delivery, sharing best practice, joining up H&S campaigns and 
training, making best use of H&S resources.  Chaired by the term 
maintenance contractor it also includes H&S representatives from all of the 
organisations, including wider supply chain.

 Skills Academy
Focused on developing apprenticeship opportunities and a long term pool of 
skilled highways, construction and civil engineering staff.  The group has 
representation from all of the contractors, local educational facilities, GFirst 
LEP and the wider supply chain.

Performance Management 
The structural maintenance contractor will be given a robust set of key performance 
indicators that will be used to operationally manage the contract and will need to continue to 
demonstrate good performance in order to be considered for future retendering 
opportunities.

Managing poor performance
The use of the New Engineering Contract (NEC4) will ensure that robust mechanisms are in 
the contract to enable contractual and commercial issues to be resolved.  However, the 
contract will also include a special mechanism for resolving poor performance or lack of 
service delivery by allowing any element of failing service to be substituted by the Council.  

Experience tells us that it is unlikely that a contractor will fail in delivery of the entire 
contracted service, but far more likely that they will experience challenges in one or two 
specific areas of service.  This mechanism will include a detailed escalation process where 
issues are first addressed at an operational board level, then escalated to the director level 
governance board before a final ‘substitution’ penalty is applied.  Should the Council have 
to substitute an element of the service the contract will allow for the Council to charge back 
to the contractor any additional costs incurred for delivering the service with an alternative 
provider.  

Industry feedback during soft market testing was welcoming of this approach as no 
contractor wants to have a service substitution reported to the market as it impacts directly 
on their ability to bid for other local authority contracts.

Options Considered
Various operational delivery model options were explored during the development of the 
procurement strategy.  These options were considered both by senior managers and 
Cabinet members and the cross-party Cabinet Panel.  Options considered included the 
following:

 Direct Labour Organisation – taking all of the service delivery back in-house.  
This would include directly employing over 300 staff, substantial set up costs, 
and risk transfer to the authority as well as the significant level of cultural 
change.

Page 169



 Teckal company arrangements – setting up an arms-length business to 
operate the service.  High set up costs, risk transfer, significant cultural 
change and legal advice were all deterrents to considering this option.

 Single Provider – loss of control, higher costs and performance failure and 
reputation risks were deterrents.

 Framework contracts – although seen to deliver good value, significant 
contract management and internal client team is required to make this model 
successful.

Conclusion 
Following industry best practice and research and taking on feedback from members, a 
procurement strategy was developed that involved the Council’s delivery model taking back 
control of elements of service delivery whilst retaining and strengthening the arrangements 
for managing the whole service with the contractors employed to delivery the service on the 
ground.  

The model has been tested and challenged with the cross party Cabinet Panel and with the 
industry through soft market testing.  

The model is working well and Officers would like to continue the good work and ensure a 
seamless transition into the next phase of procurements.

Risk Assessment
Risks are mainly in the areas of service continuity, legislative and regulatory, reputational 
and health and safety. In addition there are specific procurement risks around the selection 
of the right contractor to partner with as well as the risks of inflationary cost increases.  
These risks are well understood, and the best practice and industry engagement and 
research has led to the development of a procurement strategy which aims to manage the 
risk profile. 

One of the key risks identified with the proposed delivery model is the potential difficulty in 
coordinating works delivery between (potentially) three different contractors.  This will be 
managed through the Gloucestershire Highways governance structures and the NEC 
contract mechanisms.

Risk will continue to be regularly reviewed as part of the project management processes 
and any significant changes will be reported to the Cabinet Member for Highways and 
Flood.

Officer Advice
To authorise the procurement process and contract award described in the 
“Recommendations” section of this report.  

Equalities considerations
A Due Regard Statement will be developed in line with the approved contract.   This will 
ensure that decision makers and those involved in the procurement and implementation of 
the service are aware of the needs of those groups with protected characteristics, and how 
they may be particularly affected by this service.

Page 170



Report Title Delivery of structural maintenance works 2020-2022

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council holds responsibility for the 
maintenance of highways as the Highway Authority as set out 
by the Highways Act 1980

Relevant County Council 
policy

Local Transport Plan 3

Transport Asset Management Plan

Resource Implications Contract Value. The Structural Maintenance Contract is 
estimated to be valued at £55m over the full 2 year term.  For 
OJEU notice purposes, the contract value range is based on 
predicted budgets over the full term of the contract.   The 
values also include contingency to account for inflation, 
potential one-off funding bids, DfT awards and other unknown 
possible increases in capital funding over the contracted 
period.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Highways providers. 

Decision Making and 
Involvement

GCC Commercial, Legal Services.

Economy and Employment The development of a procurement strategy will address 
economic opportunities and employment opportunities around 
the delivery of highway services in the future.

Caring for people NA

Social Value The procurement strategy addresses how social value aspects 
can be included in the future highways contract arrangements.

Built Environment The procurement strategy sets out the long term plans for 
operating the highway service to maintain and improve 
highway assets.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

NA

Page 171



Education and Information NA

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? No
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No – see 
above.

Human rights Implications This service area is unlikely to have Human Rights Implications

Consultation 
Arrangements There are no formal consultation requirements for this service; 

however, the service annually carries out customer satisfaction 
surveys and regularly updates a customer service improvement 
plan based on the findings of the surveys.

 

Page 172



CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME UPDATE

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Economy, 
Education and 
Skills

Cllr Patrick Molyneux

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) - Council Budget 2018/19 & 

2019/20

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

Gareth Vine
Tel: 01452 427547
Gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Main Consultees Schools and Diocese of Gloucester 

Planned Dates Cabinet meeting 24th July 2019

Updates to Cabinet on further changes to the programme as required.

Divisional 
Councillors

Councillor John Payne, Councillor Robert Bird.

Officer Clare Medland, Head of Commissioning for Learning 
Tel. 01452 328686, 
clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Purpose of Report To approve changes to the approved Children & Families Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations To approve the changes to the Children & Families Capital Programme as 
set out in the report: 

1. A new scheme for the provision of additional places at Prestbury St 
Mary’s C of E Primary School, funded by the transfer of £0.270 million 
from the approved basic need provision.

2. An addition of £0.206 million developer s106 contributions for Cleeve 
Secondary Academy.

Page 173

Agenda Item 8

mailto:Gareth.vine@gloucestershire.gov.uk
mailto:clare.medland@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Reasons for 
recommendations

Full Council approved the Children & Families Capital Programme for 
2018/19 on 14th February 2018 and for 2019/20 on the 13th February 2019.  
This paper provides an update of individual schemes within these 
programmes.

Resource 
Implications

All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital Programme are 
fully funded by capital grant, developer contributions and revenue 
contributions.

Page 174



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

Full Council approved the 2018/19 Childrens & Families Capital programme at its meeting on 14th 
February 2018 and the 2019/20 programme on 13th February 2019.  This report provides an update to 
various schemes.

2. Proposed changes to the approved capital programme

2.1. Prestbury St Mary’s C of E Junior School

The Council has agreed with the Diocese of Gloucester that the Junior school will need to take an 
additional 30 places for Year 3 pupils moving through from the Infant school in September 2021.  A 
scheme has been agreed with the Diocese of Gloucester whereby the work to provide the additional 
accommodation will be undertaken as part of a wider school improvement scheme.  It is proposed to 
allocate £0.270 million from the approved budget in the 2019/20 programme for new basic need 
provision to enable the additional places to be available for September 2021. 

 
2.2. Section 106 Developer contributions

Cleeve Secondary Academy

The Council has received £0.206 million developer s106 contributions in respect of a housing 
development at Evesham Road, Bishops Cleeve in Cheltenham which must be used to extend, 
remodel and upgrade capacity and suitability at Cleeve School. A scheme has been developed to 
expand the dining provision to enable the school to cater for the additional pupils. It is proposed that 
the funding is used towards improving the dining facilities at Cleeve School.
 
2.3. Overall Change to Capital Programme

As a result of the above changes the Children & Families Capital Programme will increase by £0.206 
million. 

2.4. Capital Spend 2019/20

The Children and Families capital schemes are forecast to spend approximately £27.824 million in 
2019/20.  A summary and details of the latest spend profile can be found in Appendix A.

3. Risk Assessment  

Risk of overspend will be reduced by effective management of the programme and suppliers by the 
GCC Asset Management and Property Services and will be overseen by the Head of Commissioning 
for Learning.

4. Equalities considerations

These decisions will improve the facilities and provision for children and young people.  The individual 
schemes will be subject to user audit so that their impacts on all groups of society, including those with 
a protected characteristic(s), are assessed and mitigated where appropriate.

Page 175



Appendix A  

CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20

Summary Position as at 18th June 2019

Total 
Budget

Previous 
Years' 
Actual

Budget 
2019

Latest 
Forecast 

2019

Spend 
to date 

2019

% Spend 
against 
Budget

Future 
Years' 

Budget

£000 £000 £000 £000 £000 % £000

General Programme 165,872 64,931 25,524 25,524 3,228 13 75,417

Capital Maintenance 2,575 275 2,300 2,300 47 2 0

168,447 65,206 27,824 27,824 3,275 12 75,417

Page 176



CHILDREN & FAMILIES CAPITAL PROGRAMME 2019/20

Scheme Budget--
2019

Forecast--
2019

Spend to 
date--2019

Paternoster, replace temps 125,702 125,702 0
The Shrubberies kitchen upgrade 95,831 95,831 5,218
Milestone The Space unit upgrade 31,307 31,307 1,468
SEND Support in mainstream schools 80,000 80,000 0
Special Provision Fund 18/19 - 20/21 500,000 500,000 0
Specialist Provision 19/20 500,000 500,000 0
Cleeve School 1FE expansion 205,254 205,254 0
Beaufort School 1FE expansion 77,919 77,919 0
Balcarras School expansion 350,000 350,000 350,000
Chipping Campden School 6th Form/PES 100,501 100,501 100,501
Rednock School sports hall 285,145 285,145 8,500
Thomas Keble School dining area 74,240 74,240 0
Pittville School, increase capacity 93,722 93,722 0
Pittville School expansion 325,000 325,000 0
Severn Vale School 1FE expansion 75,000 75,000 116
Cotswold School, 6th Form Accommodation 415 415 0
The Cotswold School expansion 1,500,000 1,500,000 0
Winchcombe School expansion 1,000,000 1,000,000 0
Barnwood Park School 1FE expansion 1,051,654 1,051,654 415,160
New Secondary School, Cheltenham 900,000 900,000 223,355
Short Breaks Capital Grants 191,031 191,031 0
Health & Safety 18/19 15,980 15,980 2,883
Basic Need provision 18/19 300,000 300,000 0
Russet House APS redesign 10,000 10,000 0
Accessibility 18/19 33,382 33,382 490
School Security 18/19 43,995 43,995 0
Schools Condition Allocation 2019/20 6,139 6,139 0
Miscellaneous property works 19/20 700,000 700,000 0
Basic Need Provision 19/20 300,000 300,000 0
Abbeymead Primary, hygiene suite 3,168 3,168 0
Ashchurch Primary replace temps 685,590 685,590 19,109
Aylburton Primary staff toilet 9,674 9,674 6,707
Birdlip Primary EYFS outside area 86 86 0
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary, expansion 52,176 52,176 17,036
Bourton-on-the-Water Primary expansion 500,000 500,000 0
Brockworth Primary Academy 1FE Expansion 455,760 455,760 263,818
Castle Hill Primary multi use room 130,394 130,394 0
Chalford Hill Primary, replace temps 14,516 14,516 0
Charlton Kings Junior hygiene suite 45,538 45,538 0
Charlton Kings Infant access improvement 1,506 1,506 0
Cirencester Primary replace classrooms 1,302,862 1,302,862 234
ClearwellPrimary kitchen upgrade 363 363 0
Parton Manor Junior additional classbase 250,000 250,000 0
Churchdown Village Junior Safeguarding 10,600 10,600 0
Drybrook Primary remodel classrooms 172,814 172,814 140,891
Dursley Primary remodelling 121,665 121,665 0
Ellwood Primary Additional space 6,092 6,092 0
English Bicknor Primary Pre-school 8,500 8,500 0
Fairford Primary 2 classrooms 2,000,000 2,000,000 659,800
Grangefield Primary, ICT/FFE 20,000 20,000 0
Grangefield Primary, expansion 17,067 17,067 7,009
Rissington Primary, pre-school 30,239 30,239 5,110
Innsworth Junior reception and toilet 47,803 47,803 0
Innsworth Infant new reception classroom 292,700 292,700 197,494

Page 177



Scheme Budget--
2019

Forecast--
2019

Actual--
2019

Kings Stanley Primary adaptations 9,381 9,381 0
Kingswood Primary group room and ramp 76,404 76,404 4,745
Warden Hill Primary expansion 2,224,774 2,224,774 0
Severnbanks Primary internal remodelling 5,137 5,137 0
Mickleton Primary, double classroom unit 37,084 37,084 1,944
Minchinhampton Primary hygiene suite 3,209 3,209 0
St. David's Primary expansion 350,000 350,000 19,746
Nailsworth Primary Disability access 40,342 40,342 17,489
Northleach Primary, extend school house 5,700 5,700 0
Norton Primary Garden room/breakout 44,050 44,050 490
Primrose Hill Primary, hygiene suite 2,766 2,766 0
St Marys CofE Infant temporary expansion 8,241 8,241 0
Sherborne Primary Site security 4,886 4,886 5,000
Shurdington Primary expansion 56,408 56,408 0
Slimbridge Primary expansion 200,000 200,000 0
Ann Edwards Primary roller shutter 11,000 11,000 0
Isbourne Valley classroom extension 18,368 18,368 0
Steam Mills Primary Security fencing 2,216 2,216 0
Tredington Primary additional classroom 114,983 114,983 101,521
Park Junior counselling/meeting room 10,000 10,000 410
Park Junior kitchen upgrade 83,887 83,887 83,887
Stow on the Wold Primary Atrium 2,975 2,975 0
Stratton Primary kitchen upgrade 157,658 157,658 1,617
Swindon Village Primary, remodelling 6,424 6,424 0
The John Moore Primary expansion 868,000 868,000 100,535
Mitton Manor Primary outdoor learning 29,242 29,242 29,242
Thrupp Primary, replace temps 9,493 9,493 0
Upton St Leonards Primary Toilet refurb 20,000 20,000 -949
Willersey Primary toilet refurbishment 3,114 3,114 0
Winchcombe Abbey Primary expansion 1,000,000 1,000,000 0
Gardners Lane Primary 2 Class Extension 90,000 90,000 0
Gloucester Road Primary, SEN/Group Room 2,000 2,000 0
Greatfield Park Primary Garden Room 110 110 110
Leckhampton Primary expansion 2,000,000 2,000,000 48,608
Coopers Edge Primary, FFE & ICT 21,894 21,894 0
A2YO Capital Contingency 33,524 33,524 6,299
Hunts Grove, ICT/FFE 200,000 200,000 0
Longford Primary, ICT/FFE 33,522 33,522 0
Hunts Grove Primary, GCC internal fees 5,545 5,545 0
Early Years 18/19 100,000 100,000 0
Mitton Manor Pre-School 1,056 1,056 0
Bishops Cleeve area primary places 500,000 500,000 0
Dinglewell Junior replace classrooms 27,675 27,675 1,160
Finlay Primary 1FE expansion 1,132,853 1,132,853 381,695
Hillview Primary KS2 toilets phase 2 11,239 11,239 0
Hillview Primary KS1 toilets phase 3 7,693 7,693 0
Linden Primary, hygiene room 3,645 3,645 0
The Moat Primary Refurbish toilets 3,606 3,606 0
St James Junior entrance and foyer 38,356 38,356 0
Tredworth Junior entrance/safeguarding 4,179 4,179 0
Trevone House 750,000 750,000 0

25,523,969 25,523,969 3,228,448

Capital Maintenance Programme 2,299,977 2,299,977 47,288

Total C&F Capital Programme 27,823,946 27,823,946 3,275,736

Page 178



Report Title Children & Families Capital Programme Update

Statutory Authority Gloucestershire County Council’s statutory duty under the 
Education Act 2011

Relevant County Council 
policy

School Places Strategy

Joint Additional Needs Strategy for children and young people 
with additional needs

High Needs Strategy

Ensuring Sufficient School Places

Resource Implications
All proposed changes to the Children and Families Capital 
Programme are fully funded by capital grant, developer 
contributions and revenue contributions.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships We will work in partnership with our suppliers, other local 
authorities and key stakeholders

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Consultation will be undertaken on individual schemes where 
appropriate

Economy and Employment The schemes will seek where appropriate to encourage the 
economy by providing improved access

Caring for people Many schemes will have benefits to people with mobility 
impairment

Social Value Many projects will provide social value by enhancing facilities 
available

Built Environment The enhanced materials policy will be employed where 
appropriate

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Environmental assessments are undertaken as part of scheme 
development

Education and Information We will keep stakeholders informed with progress on the 
individual schemes

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive and neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     No

Page 179



Human rights Implications Consultation with stakeholders will be undertaken on individual 
projects where appropriate

Consultation 
Arrangements

On a scheme by scheme basis

Page 180



TARGETED FAMILY SUPPORT IN CHILDREN 

AND FAMILY CENTRE CONTRACT EXTENSION

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Cllr Richard Boyles

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents Cabinet paper June 2016

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

1.Children and Young People’s Plan 2015-18
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-
policies/children-and-families/

2.Right Placement First Time – Sufficiency Strategy 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-
people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/

3.Children and Family Centres information and local offer
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page
?familychannel=3_2_1

4.Performance Reports for Children and Family Centres can be viewed 
through the links 
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/children-and-
family-centres-in-gloucestershire/

Page 181

Agenda Item 9

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/strategies-plans-policies/children-and-families/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=3_2_1
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=3_2_1
https://www.glosfamiliesdirectory.org.uk/kb5/gloucs/glosfamilies/results.page?familychannel=3_2_1
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/children-and-family-centres-in-gloucestershire/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/education-and-learning/children-and-family-centres-in-gloucestershire/


Main Consultees Prior to the current contract, consultation was conducted with the following 
stakeholders:
Parent, carers and young children using children and family centres.
Partnership Advisory Boards. 
Children and family centre staff, managers and managing organisations.
Professionals and partners who deliver services to young children and their 
families.
NHS Gloucestershire CCG through the Joint Commissioning Partnership.
District, Parish and Town Councils. 
Gloucestershire Schools Forum.
Early Years team and providers
Throughout the current contract, families have been engaged to assess their 
satisfaction with service provision and outcomes met through regular 
feedback on the support they have received and an evaluation after support 
has closed. This information will be used to inform the  performance of  the 
contracts over the next two years. 

Planned Dates  24th July 2019 – Cabinet approval sought for contract extensions. 

 July 2019 – notify current contract holders of intention to extend 
contracts

 Oct 2019 – Formally write to providers to inform them of the 2 year 
extension to current services.

 1st April 2020  Extension of contracts begins

 Autumn 2020, options appraisal for new procurement to be approved.  

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Wendy Williams  
Assistant Director for Integrated Commissioning Children and Families 
Tel. no, 01452 328526
Wendy.williams3@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report To seek approval to exercise the contractual option to extend the existing 
contracts for the provision of targeted family support services in children and 
families centres in Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud and 
Cheltenham and Tewkesbury localities from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 
2022.

Recommendations That Cabinet delegates authority to the Director of Children’s Services to 
exercise the option to extend the current contracts for the provision of 
targeted support services in  the 16 Children and Family Centres in 
Gloucester City, Forest of Dean and Stroud and Cheltenham and 
Tewkesbury localities from 1st April 2020 to 31st March 2022.

Page 182



Reasons for 
recommendations The current contracts have the option to extend for further period for up to 

two years.

These contracts significantly support the payment by results work of the 
troubled families programme. Children and Family Centres have exceeded 
their targets set for the last 2 years and in doing this have supported many 
more children and families than anticipated and made a bigger contribution to 
the payment by results service of families first that helps to make up the 
current Early Help service.

The contracts are robustly monitored and are performing well, sustaining 
positive outcomes for the children and families they support. 

Enabling the 2 year extension of the current contracts will sustain continuity 
of care to some of our most vulnerable children and families.  In the 
meantime, commissioners will develop the longer term for future provision, in 
line with the new Sufficiency Strategy, and any national decision in relation to 
the future funding of the Troubled Families Programme. 

Providers are adding value to communities outside of the contracts in terms 
of universal services and volunteering opportunities. Allowing the extension 
of contracts would also allow these services to grow and develop providing 
access to low level universal support and opportunities for volunteering and 
employment within local communities.

Resource 
Implications

The total budget figure for the Children and Family Contracts is £3,625,482 
per annum. The total 2 year spend would be £7,250,964. There is currently a 
shortfall of £252,000 in Children and Family Centre funding due to a 
decrease in the Designated Schools Grant Funding. 

Page 183



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 
 Following a full public consultation and a redesign of the children’s centre offer  across 
Gloucestershire, Cabinet approved in June 2016, a new model of working for children’s 
centres to support children pre-birth to 11 years and their families, who have a level of 
need that would require intervention. This targeted family support service is based 
around 16 Children and Family Centre buildings based in the areas of greatest 
deprivation in Gloucestershire.

The remaining 29 children’s centre buildings have been de-designated as formal 
children’s centres and have been developed as hubs for early education and childcare, 
universal services delivered by private, voluntary and community groups and as bases 
for professionals who work with families.

These remaining children and family centres have been managed by 3 organisations, 2 
commissioned externally and one commissioned in house.

The contracts for the provision of targeted family support services in children and 
families centres in the Gloucester City locality; and Forest of Dean and Stroud localities 
were awarded to Barnardo’s.
The contract was awarded to Gardners Lane and Oakwood Federation (GLOW) for the 
provision of the above services in the localities of Cheltenham and Tewkesbury.
Gloucestershire County Council (Families First Plus) covers the locality of the- 
Cotswolds.

The current contracts run for an initial term of three years from 1st April 2017 to 31st 
March 2020. Cabinet approved in June 2016 the contract term of  3+2 year option for 
these contracts which would allow consistent service delivery until March 2022.

Since these contracts have begun the targeted family support service based around the 
16 Children and Family Centres has significantly supported the payment by results for 
the troubled families programme

The monitoring of current children and family centre activity and impact is based on a 
variety of data sources. These include:

 Troubled Families central data team 
 Performance and Data team
 Gloucestershire County Council’s Liquid Logic and EHM systems
 OFSTED data
 Sufficiency Assessments 
 Data collected through contract monitoring with Children’s Centres
 Headcount data

Key achievements include: 
 The Children’s Centres proportion of the payment by results target was 

456families for Year 1. The service actually supported 1,009 families (equating 
to over 3,000 individuals) in 17/18 as part of the targeted family support service. 
This exceeded the target set by nearly double.

 Over a third of families supported were children on a Child in Need plan.

Page 184



 The service provides packages of support to children on Child Protection plans 
where the long term aim is for the child to stay within the family home.

 The Children and Family Centres are being used as a hub for community 
supervised contacts.

 In addition to the targeted family support service the centres are facilitating 
additional targeted and universal services to support children and families.

 These universal and targeted services run by partners are well attended by local 
families.

 Delivery of the Freedom Programme and You and Me Mum, both evidenced 
based programmes to support families experiencing domestic abuse are well 
embedded.

 A menu of evidenced based parenting programmes such as Solihull, Webster 
Stratton and Triple P are delivered through the centres to support families to 
improve their parenting skills. Pre-birth classes are reaching families at a much 
earlier stage to embed positive parenting.

 A wide range of universal services are on offer to children and families in all 
localities showing us universal services are being retained and grown by local 
communities.

2. Options
This paper sets out three possible options for cabinet to consider:
2.1 Option 1 
Do nothing - this would allow the contracts to come to a natural end in March 2020, with 
no other provision in place. This would lead to a vast number of vulnerable families 
having access to little or no targeted support services.  

2.1.1 This option would only leave services within the Cotswolds area as these are not 
externally commissioned. 

2.1.3 The council would be at risk of not being able to claim the final year of Troubled 
Families payment by results funding. This would also reduce funding for other wider 
Early Help services.  

2.1.4 Where support is not available to families, this will lead to further escalation of 
needs therefore impaction on statutory services. 

2.2 Option 2
To implement the 2 year extension within the contract, allowing for longer term planning 
of services to take place, in line with Gloucestershire children’s services proposed new 
Early Help Strategy and the government decision in relation to the Troubled Families 
programme. This option would allow continuity of care for vulnerable families, as well as 
being able to claim the final year of the troubled families payments by results funding. 

2.2.1 Current services are working above contact capacity,  therefore families who need 
support are receiving this in a timely and appropriate manner, preventing where 
appropriate escalation of needs  and statutory interventions. 

Page 185



2.3 Option 3
Implement only one year extension of the current contract, this would allow for the 
current services to continue while an options appraisal for future services is under 
taken. While this option would give time for a full tendering process to take place, the 
shorter timeframe would mean that a service would be designed within a silo outside of 
the new Help Strategy and potentially not being able to respond to any changes in 
government direction in relation to the Troubled Families programme.  

Cabinet is asked to consider Option 2 as the preferred option. This preferred options,  
reduces the risks to the council,  allows for the development and inclusion of children 
centre services to be incorporated within the new Early Help Strategy, while ensuring 
vulnerable families within Gloucestershire County Council have continuity of family 
support services.  

3. Risk Assessment  

3.1 Option 1  
The risk here is in relation to the council’s reputation and ability to respond to vulnerable 
families in a timely and appropriate manner. 

3.1.1 With little or no targeted support,  families will be  left with escalating needs, 
therefore meeting the threshold for specialised services, which would be more costly and 
for extended periods of time due to lack of “step down” targeted support. 

3.1.2 Children Services would be at risk of not being able to claim all the potential 
payment by results funding from the current Troubled Families Programme. This would 
also have a wider impact onto Early Help services. 

3.1.3 Not being able to claim complete the full Troubled Families target would affect 
Gloucestershire’s performance and reputation within the National Troubled Families 
Programme

3.2 Option 2  
There are no specific risks at this moment in time regarding the extension of the contracts. 

3.2.1 There will not be any contract variations being made, contracts will not significantly 
alter and the scope of the service specification will stay the same.  

3.2.2 During the two year extension period, the future Early Help offer will be developed in 
line with the Sufficiency Strategy action plan and any changes/ extension to the Troubled 
families programme.  Action plans will be implemented and managed using a project 
management approach, with a risk and issues log being actively managed.

3.3.1 Option  3 

Having just a one year extension would leave a very tight timeframe for any retendering or 
reconfiguration of services. Work to implement the new Early Help Strategy and any new 
Troubled Families Programme would be reduced, losing the potential to join up services to 
deliver Gloucestershire County Council longer term vision. 

Page 186



3.3.2 The council will be at risk of not being able to claim all the payment by results 
funding within the final year of the Troubled Families programme. This would have a direct 
affect on the financial stability within the wider Early Help Services, as well as the council’s 
performance and reputation within the National Troubled Families Programme. 

4.   Shaping Early Help for the future

4.1 Gloucestershire Children Services Officers are in the process of finalising their new 
Early Help Strategy; this strategy is currently being developed and will be ready for draft 
approval in August. This will set out Gloucestershire and its partner’s vision to support 
families at the earliest point, with services that are accessible, outcome focused to prevent 
children, young people and their families for escalating to statutory services. 

4.2 We want to ensure ‘every contact counts’. This will require a complete shift from 
children’s health, education and care services so services to children and families are 
available from all partners at the earliest possible point they can intervene.

4.3 Early Help is pivotal to reducing children going into care but also crucially to prevent 
children becoming ‘children in need’ – a precursor to care. We need our Early Help 
services to reach families experiencing cycles of childhood trauma by using an ACE’s 
approach to working with parents, and delivering trauma informed services. .

4.4.  This Early Help Strategy will be a long term 5 year plan, between Gloucestershire 
County Council and its Partners, to deliver services  where we can evidence the impact on 
statutory services, capturing efficiencies in both the short and long term costs. 

5.   Officer Advice
5.1 The current contracts are growing in success and are with providers who have 
significantly improved services and outcomes for children and their families. 

5.2 Extending these contracts will offer the opportunity to maintain and build on this 
performance and also the added value that providers have bought to these contracts.

5.3 Taking the proposed approach, will allow for services to be developed in a planned way 
as part of Gloucestershire’s Early Help offer. 

6.  Equalities Considerations
6.1 The impact of extending the contract for Children and Family Centres is positive in 
terms of age and neutral in all other areas. 

6.2 The Due Regard Statements for this service have been fully updated and show no 
gaps in equalities impact. The Troubles Families Programme, which the targeted family 
support service aligns to, have had Due Regard Statements to test their equalities impacts 
as have the reshaped safeguarding response that seeks to be inclusive and specifically 
address the different challenges that are a feature of children and families 0-11 years of 
age.

Page 187



7.   Consultation Feedback
7.1 Consultation with service users takes place every quarter, using different forms of 
engagement which been completed as part of the current contact requirements. 
7.2 This has clearly evidenced developing and sustained good practice, with improved 
outcome for our vulnerable children and their families. 

7.3 Feedback informs commissioners that services are accessible to children and their 
families and that they feel engaged with the programmes of support, they feel listened to 
and valued. 

7.4 Consultation will continue throughout the extension of contracts, this will inform both 
the continued develop of services, and the design of new services post 2022. 

8.   Performance Management/Follow-up 
8.1 Currently there are robust contract monitoring frameworks in place, for the core 
delivery of the service as well as the outcome payments for the Troubled Families 
Programme. 

8.2 The Children and Family Centre contracts will continue to be monitored quarterly. 

8.3 Children’s Commissioning Hub also carries out additional monitoring visits, and 
unannounced visits, to quality assure provision. 

8.3 All performance data will be evaluated as part of developing new service post 2022. 

Page 188



Report Title Targeted Family Support  Services in Children and Family 
Centre Contract Extension 

Statutory Authority Childcare Act 2006 and Childcare Act 2016 

Statutory guidance on early childhood services and Sure Start 
Children’s Centres (2013)

Statutory guidance for local authorities on the provision of early 
education and childcare.

1989 Children Act and subsequent related statute and statutory 
guidance

Relevant County Council 
policy

Children and Young Peoples Plan 2015-2018

Meeting the Challenge 2: Together We Can. Gloucestershire 
County Council’s Strategy 2015-2018.  ??

Sufficiency Strategy 2018 - 2021

Resource Implications The total budget figure for the Children and Family Contracts is 
£3,625,482 per annum. The total 2 year spend would be 
£7,250,964. There is currently a shortfall of £252,000 in 
Children and Family Centre funding due to a decrease in the 
Designated Schools Grant Funding.

Sustainability checklist:

Partners
Consultation with partners was integral to the development of 
the proposals outlined in this report.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Cabinet 

Economy and Employment The further development of nurseries to delivered 30 hours of 
free child care is supporting working parents of 3 and 4 year 
olds.

Caring for people The focus of the current and proposed services is the role that 
the Council and communities play in caring for vulnerable 
people. 

Social Value Added value– complementary services including early years 
and childcare being delivered to the community in parallel to 
the contract by voluntary and community groups from the 16 

Page 189



children and family centres and the 29 satellite children’s 
centres. 

Built Environment The Sure Start Capital grant that was allocated to Local 
Authorities to support the building of Sure Start Children’s 
Centres is subject to a 25 year claw back clause that has 
implications for the use and allocation of buildings and 
resources. Any future service delivery model has to consider 
this. It is anticipated that by continuing to use the buildings 
through schools, community groups and partners delivering 
universal children’s activity the Council will mitigate this risk
The de-designation status of the 29 universal children’s centres 
is ‘deferred’ clawback which means the local authority still has 
a statutory duty to ensure services for children under 5 are 
available to the local community through these buildings. To 
mitigate this risk, support and 6 monthly audits take place to 
inform DfE of the activity taking place from each building.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

No direct implications 

Education and Information The report recognises the role the Council has to play in 
providing information, advice and guidance in order to help 
people make informed choices about services in their area. 
Gloucestershire’s Families Information Service provides this 
information to all families.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications It is not envisaged that any of the proposals in this cabinet 
report would have any significant human rights implications

Consultation 
Arrangements

The proposals in this cabinet report are informed by a wide-
ranging consultation which took place during January – March 
2016. Ongoing engagement of children and families has shown 
positive engagement and outcomes for children and families 
supported by the services.

Page 190

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


P
age 191



P
age 192



P
age 193



P
age 194



P
age 195



P
age 196



P
age 197



P
age 198



P
age 199



P
age 200



P
age 201



P
age 202



P
age 203



P
age 204



P
age 205



P
age 206



P
age 207



P
age 208



P
age 209



P
age 210



P
age 211



P
age 212



P
age 213



P
age 214



P
age 215



P
age 216



P
age 217



P
age 218



P
age 219



P
age 220



P
age 221



P
age 222



P
age 223



P
age 224



P
age 225



P
age 226



P
age 227



P
age 228



P
age 229



P
age 230



P
age 231



P
age 232



P
age 233



P
age 234



P
age 235



P
age 236



P
age 237



P
age 238



P
age 239



P
age 240



P
age 241



P
age 242



P
age 243



P
age 244



P
age 245



P
age 246



P
age 247



P
age 248



P
age 249



P
age 250



P
age 251



P
age 252



P
age 253



P
age 254



P
age 255



P
age 256



P
age 257



T
his page is intentionally left blank



P
age 259



P
age 260



P
age 261



P
age 262



P
age 263



P
age 264



P
age 265



P
age 266



P
age 267



P
age 268



P
age 269



P
age 270



P
age 271



P
age 272



P
age 273



P
age 274



P
age 275



P
age 276



P
age 277



P
age 278



P
age 279



P
age 280



P
age 281



P
age 282



P
age 283



P
age 284



P
age 285



P
age 286



P
age 287



P
age 288



P
age 289



P
age 290



P
age 291



P
age 292



P
age 293



P
age 294



P
age 295



P
age 296



P
age 297



P
age 298



P
age 299



P
age 300



P
age 301



P
age 302



1

ESTABLISHING A DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR THE
PROCUREMENT OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Communities & 
Infrastructure Cllr Nigel Moor 

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Papers

Transport Act 1985 and subsequent revisions
Education Act 1996
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015
Home to School Transport Policy
Transport DPS cabinet reports 13.02.2016 and 22.10.2014

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67 
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=
7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=
8216&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=589
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=766

Main Consultees Transport suppliers

Planned Dates Consultation with suppliers is ongoing in preparation for the proposed new 
dynamic purchasing system (DPS)
Commencement date of proposed new contracting arrangements estimated 
to be 28/02/2020

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Tom Main, Transport Operations Manager
Tel: 01452 425343
Email: tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report 

To seek Cabinet approval to conclude the establishment of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System (DPS) for Transport Services, including consent to 
procure and award contracts thereunder and to admit new suppliers onto the 
DPS from time to time, and to remove those who do not meet the council’s 
required standards.

Page 303

Agenda Item 10

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8216&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=8216&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=589
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=766


2

Recommendations

That Cabinet delegates authority to the Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure to:

1) Conduct a public procurement law compliant procurement process for  
the establishment of a ten year Dynamic Purchasing System (“DPS”) for 
the provision of passenger transport services commencing February 
2020; 

2) Admit or remove suppliers from the DPS during its ten year term in 
accordance with the selection criteria or any revised selection criteria set 
out in the DPS;

3) Procure transport services, using the DPS, from providers of Passenger 
Transport Services (including Home to School Transport Services and 
Social Care Transport Services) and award contracts for such services 
up to the value of £499,999 in aggregate in respect of any single contract 
award PROVIDED that the Lead Commissioner - Community 
Infrastructure reports back to Cabinet on an annual basis throughout the 
term of the DPS with  details of the aggregate value of all contracts that 
were awarded using the DPS in the previous year.

4) Procure contracts for the supply of transport services during financial 
year 2019/2020 (whose estimated aggregate values shall equal £18m) 
from operators admitted to the existing DPS and the proposed new DPS; 
contracts for transport services required by the council in subsequent 
financial years shall be the subject of separate Cabinet decisions.

Reasons for 
Recommendations

This report seeks Cabinet approval which enables the council to award 
contracts for home to school, social care transport and other forms of 
passenger transport in order to enable the county council to satisfy its 
statutory duties to provide transport in a range of situations. As part of the 
operational arrangements of the DPS, the Lead Commissioner also requires 
authority to admit suppliers to the DPS, including new ones, in accordance 
with the selection criteria thereunder.  

Resource 
Implications

The decision to set up a new DPS over a ten year period will provide a 
procurement mechanism for commissioning public transport services.  The 
overall cost of setting up the DPS will be met from existing resources.

The proposed value of the transport contracts to be awarded by the Council 
through the DPS will fall within the Council’s annual budget setting process 
for transport; this takes into account existing financial contractual obligations 
through contracts awarded through the existing DPS.  

The anticipated spend through the existing DPS and the proposed new DPS 
for the financial year 2019-2020 shall be £18m.  

Contracts for transport services required by the council in subsequent 
financial years shall be the subject of separate Cabinet decisions.

Page 304



3

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1 GCC is required to provide transport in the following circumstances:

 Where they have a statutory obligation, e.g. in providing home to school 
transport to entitled students (Education Act 1996) in line with Home to 
School Transport policy;

 Where the market conditions are such that commercial services do not 
exist but there is a compelling social need for public or community 
transport;

 To support social care services in providing transport to the most 
vulnerable.

1.2 The current annual cost of Home to School Transport is around £12.5m and 
the annual cost of providing socially necessary local bus services is £3.3m 
(including Community Transport services). 

1.3    Cabinet gave approval to the setting up of a Dynamic Purchasing System for 
Transport services in February 2016. The DPS has worked well in providing a 
procurement vehicle for the efficient and effective procurement of thousands 
of transport services.  This report seeks further authorisation to enable the 
establishment and operational arrangements of a new DPS for transport 
services provided across four main categories, namely: Home to school 
(including SEN and further education services); Public Transport (including 
Community and Demand Responsive Transport); and Social Care transport. 
We have also supported the local NHS in procuring a transport service 
through the first DPS for Transport and we intend allowing this to occur in 
future.

1.4 A Dynamic Purchasing System is a fully electronic procurement approach for 
setting up and maintaining a list of potential service providers. It is a regulated 
procurement tool, hence the council must ensure that it is  established in 
accordance with EU public procurement rules and must be open throughout 
its duration for the admission of any provider that satisfies the selection 
criteria to be admitted to the DPS and thereafter allows them to bid for any 
further tenders issued via the DPS.

1.5 The benefits of utilising a Dynamic Purchasing System are:

 It allows new transport providers to be added to the DPS during the 
lifetime of the system and provides suppliers with opportunities to tender 
for further contracts.

 The market place can remain competitive in terms of cost and quality and 
is permanently open for new operators to join at any time; this is not the 
case with traditional procurement frameworks.

Page 305

http://prp.wales.gov.uk/planners/social/securingservices/developingtheevaluationplan/evaluationcriteria/
http://prp.wales.gov.uk/planners/social/securingservices/developingtheevaluationplan/evaluationcriteria/


4

 The marketplace can grow and develop over the lifetime of the system 
with new entrants being added which encourages the local market to 
develop.

 Provided the council’s selection criteria is met, it allows innovative 
providers to join, allowing GCC access to innovative solutions.

 The DPS gives the council the necessary flexibility to adapt its contract 
specification to future legislative developments and policy changes (e.g. 
lower emission standards for operators’ vehicles) provided that the scope 
and nature of any such possible modifications have been provided for in 
the initial procurement documents.

 Suppliers do not have to repeatedly demonstrate their suitability and 
capability for every contract competition, this is instead assessed on their 
application to the DPS and valid for all competitions held under this 
system.

 The contract award process is quicker due to similar flexibility outlined 
above, suitability and capability checks have already  been performed 
operators.

2. ESTABLISHING THE DPS

2.1 The formation of the DPS involves a two stage process.  First, in the initial     
set up stage, when all suppliers who meet the selection criteria and are not 
excluded will be admitted to the DPS; suppliers may join at any time during 
the ten year term of the DPS.  Thereafter, individual contracts are tendered 
and awarded during the second stage.  In this stage, the authority invites all 
suppliers in the relevant category within the DPS to bid for each specific 
contract.  

2.2 This report seeks Cabinet’s approval to establish the new Transport DPS and 
enable the Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure to admit (and 
exclude) suppliers to the DPS throughout the ten year life of the DPS and to 
procure and award transport contracts based on specific tender evaluation 
criteria, subject to the council’s Contract Standing Orders, and the council’s 
governance arrangements from time to time.  

3. CONCLUSION

3.1 The overarching strategy of procuring transport services through a functional 
Dynamic Purchasing System remains a flexible electronic system that allows 
the tendering and award of contracts but gives the council access to the 
market by allowing new entrants to the market to be admitted, thus not 

Page 306



5

excluding new suppliers from the DPS, subject to them meeting the 
requirements set.

4  OPTIONS

4.1 Cabinet approves the procurement strategy described in this report

4.2 or the council could procure each transport contract individually

4.3 or the council could procure transport contracts through one or more new 
transport framework agreement(s).
 
The alternatives set out in 4.2 and 4.3 would be significantly less flexible than 
a Dynamic Purchasing System given that individual procurement of contracts 
is very resource intensive, while framework agreements lack the 
competitiveness of an open, defined marketplace. Moreover, a transport 
framework agreement cannot continue for a period that exceeds 4 years and 
would be closed to applications from new operators once it is in place. 
Furthermore, individually procuring the many transport contacts currently 
handled through the Integrated Transport unit would impose a considerable 
additional administrative burden and cost to the council which could not be 
met within existing resources.

5. Risk Assessment

5.1 If a decision were made not to procure the proposed Dynamic Purchasing 
System, this would be likely to result in a less efficient means of procuring 
transport services.  Such a decision would also increase the risk that 
additional resources would be required to meet the council’s statutory 
obligations under the Education Act 1996 and the council’s policy 
requirements in respect of transport services. This would also be likely to 
increase the cost to the local authority of procuring such transport services 
from a marketplace that might be less competitive than that which is available 
under a Dynamic Purchasing System.

5.2 A decision not to procure of the proposed Dynamic Purchasing System would 
also likely result in:

(a) the Authority finding it difficult to adequately meet the requirements of 
vulnerable people who use county council transport services given that 
individually procured contracts are much more resource intensive to procure, 
meaning the timescale to put transport in place would be lengthened.

(b) a failure to deliver financial benefits as part of the ongoing review of 
council transport provision given that a DPS is the most efficient way of testing 
the entire marketplace for the best price.  A more restricted procedure would 
result in higher prices - therefore less value for money.

Page 307



6

5.3 Officers are undertaking a review in parallel with the work on a DPS to seek to 
mitigate the above-mentioned risks with private contracted provision.

6. Consultation Feedback

6.1 Suppliers are being consulted and made aware that the council is considering 
continuing this approach to transport procurement. Suppliers have been 
generally fairly positive about the proposed revised DPS.

7.    Equalities Considerations

7.1 A due regard statement has been produced. The term and conditions of each 
lot with the new DPS will stipulate that vehicles used comply with all 
accessibility regulations to ensure fair access for those with protected 
characteristics.

8. Performance Management/Follow-up

8.1 Whilst the large majority of transport contracts are below the gross value of 
£500K, it is anticipated that in the region of ten contracts a year will have a 
gross value exceeding this value, including fare revenue and concessionary 
fare rebate.   An annual report will be provided to the Cabinet, as part of the 
forward planning for transport services, to enable consideration of procuring 
the higher value contracts awarded through the DPS.  

8.2  The performance of the services that are procured will be monitored against 
key indicators, including the delivery of savings.

8.3 A strict contract management process to manage the ongoing quality and 
performance of transport suppliers will form an integral part of the selected 
approach

Page 308



7

Report Title Establishing a dynamic purchasing system for the procurement of 
transport contracts

Statutory Authority Transport Act 1985 and subsequent revisions
Education Act 1996
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015

Relevant County Council 
policy

All policies with a Transport element are affected: e.g. Local 
Transport Plan, Home to School Transport Policy etc.

Resource Implications The decision to set up a new DPS over a ten year period will 
provide a procurement mechanism for commissioning public 
transport services.  The overall cost of setting up the DPS will be 
met from existing resources.

The proposed value of the transport contracts to be awarded by 
the Council through the DPS will fall within the Council’s annual 
budget setting process for public transport; this takes into 
account existing financial contractual obligations through 
contracts awarded through the existing DPS.  

The anticipated spend through the existing DPS and the 
proposed new DPS for the financial year 2019-2020 shall be 
£18m.  

Contracts for transport services required by the council in 
subsequent financial years shall be the subject of separate 
Cabinet decisions.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships We work closely with operators in ensuring that efficient and 
effective transport provision can be maintained

Decision Making and 
Involvement

The proposal has been shared with the Cabinet Member for 
Environment and Planning and the Cabinet Member for 
Economy, Skills and Employment whose portfolio includes Home 
to School Transport.
The Commercial Unit has been closely involved in the 
development of the project.

Economy and Employment The proposal should enable more local small and medium sized 
enterprises to trade with the council through the councils selected 
procurement method, thus enhancing local employment 
opportunities. Due to its dynamic nature, new market entrants 
can join the DPS provided they meet the council’s specified 
selection criteria.

Caring for people The letting of transport contracts for social care and Special 
Educational Needs will be carefully evaluated to ensure its 
appropriateness for the individual.

Page 309



8

Built Environment n/a

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

n/a

Education and Information n/a

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? This procurement will take 
account of relevant emerging policy and legislation around 
climate change actions, and the new DPS offers the council the 
flexibility to allow for this in its tender specifications.

Vulnerable to climate change? Yes: costs are likely to escalate 
should significant weather events occur

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes 

Human rights Implications None

Consultation Arrangements All operators that are on the current DPS will be consulted with in 
order that they may offer their views on the existing system and 
possible changes for the next iteration.  

Page 310



P
age 311



P
age 312



P
age 313



P
age 314



P
age 315



P
age 316



P
age 317



P
age 318



P
age 319



P
age 320



P
age 321



T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

TENDER AND AWARD OF TRANSPORT CONTRACTS 
UNDER THE DYNAMIC PURCHASING SYSTEM FOR TRANSPORT

 

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Fire Planning & 
Infrastructure Cllr Nigel Moor

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Papers

Transport Act 1985 and subsequent revisions
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015
Cabinet report October 2014 “Procurement of Transport Services” and 
Cabinet report February 2016 “Dynamic Purchasing System”.
Cabinet report February 2016 “Review of Public Transport Community 
Transport and Concessionary Fares”
Cabinet Report July 2017 “Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under 
the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport”
Cabinet Report July 2018 “Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under 
the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport”
Cabinet report March 2019 “Cost Pressures and Continued Support for 
Subsidised Bus Contracts”

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made  
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=11963
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=
7665&Ver=4  
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=
8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=
9225#AI23123

Main Consultees Market engagement with current and prospective transport suppliers on the 
council’s Transport Dynamic Purchasing System that was set up in March 
2016.

Planned Dates The procurement of the proposed services described in Table 1 is expected 
to take place over the period between July 2019 and July 2021.
Commencement dates for the delivery of each of the proposed new services 
will vary and will sometimes be dictated by factors which are outside the 
council’s control (e.g. the pace of a housing development build out). 

Page 323

Agenda Item 11

http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1985/67
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1996/56/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2006/5/contents/made
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/uksi/2015/102/pdfs/uksi_20150102_en.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MId=7665&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=8900#AI21268
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=9225#AI23123
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=117&MID=9225#AI23123


2

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Tom Main, Transport Operations Manager
Tel: 01452 425343
Email: tom.main@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Purpose of Report 

(a) To seek Cabinet approval to use the Transport Dynamic Purchasing 
System to procure and award the passenger transport contracts 
described in Table 1 below as required, each with an estimated value of 
over £500,000; and 

(b) To provide feedback to Cabinet on officers’ progress in implementing the 
passenger transport contract related decisions described in Table 2 
below as agreed with the Cabinet member and set out in the July 2018 
Cabinet Report.

Recommendations

That Cabinet authorises the Lead Commissioner: Community Infrastructure 
to:

1) use the TDPS in accordance with its terms to undertake in each case 
a legally compliant procurement process to procure contracts between 
July 2019 and July 2021 for the provision of each of the local bus 
services set out in Table 1; 

2) upon the conclusion of each of the procurement processes described 
in Recommendation 1 above, to award a contract to the highest 
scoring preferred provider in each case evaluated as offering the 
Council best value for money for delivery of the services in 
accordance with the TDPS requirements. In the event that a preferred 
provider for a contract is either unable or unwilling to enter into a 
contract with the Council then the Lead Commissioner: Community 
Infrastructure is authorised to enter into such contract with the next 
willing, highest scoring, suitably qualified provider. 
 

Reasons for 
Recommendations

This Report seeks approval to procure and award contracts for passenger 
transport services to ensure that communities have access to essential 
services including health and education within the resources available to the 
Council. As part of the Council’s commitment to transparent decision making, 
transport contracts with an estimated gross value in excess of the council’s 
Key Decision threshold of £500,000 must be published in advance and 
require Cabinet approval prior to procuring them using the TDPS.  This report 
considers only these contracts. 

Table 2 sets out the progress in procuring and awarding contracts set out in 
the  Cabinet Report from July 2018.

Resource 
Implications The procurement and award of each of the contracts set out in Table 1 will be 

undertaken using existing staff and financial resources. Estimated costs for 

Page 324



3

each of the contracts are set out in Table 1, though actual costs will depend 
on the outcome of each compliant tender process under the TDPS. Some of 
the contracts will be fully or partly paid for using developer funding (usually 
section 106) where they are designed specifically in response to the need to 
serve housing developments. However, where these are funded through the 
council, the full cost paid by the council is that which is set out in Table 1 
hereto. 

Page 325



4

MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background

1.1 The Council recognises the value of local bus services in enabling people to 
live active lives, maintain social networks, and access essential education, 
training, employment and health services. Whilst 90% of bus trips made in 
Gloucestershire are on commercial services these tend to be in more densely 
populated areas and at busier times of the day and week. The Council has 
powers to fund local bus services that are not provided on a commercial basis 
by transport operators and are deemed “socially necessary”. This helps to 
manage the risk of social isolation and enables rural and suburban 
communities to remain vibrant places in which to live, work and visit.

1.2 The annual cost of socially necessary local bus services and park and ride is 
over £2 million excluding developer funded services, though these are also 
procured, while some £5 million is spent annually on mainstream Home to 
School services; an additional sum of around £1 million is also spent annually 
on developer funded services. 

1.3 In February 2016 Cabinet agreed to authorise the establishment of a Dynamic 
Purchasing System for Transport Services, for the procurement of transport 
contracts. 

A new decision will be sought from Cabinet to establish a new DPS through a 
separate Cabinet report.

Whilst the lifetime cost of most transport contracts is under £500,000, some 
will exceed this level and the February 2016 report included a commitment 
that decisions about such services would be taken by Cabinet as part of the 
approval of the annual transport contract forward plan. The alternative would 
have been a series of individual cabinet decisions through the year.

This report is the fourth such report and it seeks authorisation from Cabinet to 
enable the procurement and award of coach and bus contracts which are 
expected to have an aggregate lifetime cost of over £500,000 as set out in 
Table 1.

1.4 The Council’s scope to reduce overall costs of local bus and home to school 
provision and minimise reductions in services is enhanced by being able to 
procure longer term contracts, typically of up to 7 years’ duration. This 
provides operators with greater certainty over investment decisions, such as 
to purchase new vehicles. However it does mean that total contract values are 
more likely to exceed £500,000. The Council can still terminate such contracts 
in line with the contractual notice terms (currently a period of 90 days).

1.5 The specific local bus contracts to be procured in accordance with this Report 
are set out in Table 1 below:

Page 326



5

Table 1. 
List of contracts anticipated to have a value of over £500,000 that may be 
required between July 2019 and July 2021.

Table 2

Progress report in respect of Transport Contracts that were awarded pursuant 
to a Cabinet report dated 18th July 2018.

2. CONCLUSION

2.1 In order to facilitate the achievement of a more efficient transport network for 
public and school transport, delegated authority is sought to procure and 
award individual bus and coach contracts as set out in Table 1, each with a 
duration of up to 7 years.

3.  OPTIONS

3.1 To agree the proposed procurement and award of the stated local bus 
contracts set out in Table 1. 

3.2 To procure and award shorter term contracts so that values are below the 
thresholds requiring Cabinet consent. This would offer less scope for the 
Council to obtain value for money and would be less likely to result in 
providers investing in newer, cleaner vehicles.

4. Risk Assessment

4.1 To enable communities to access essential services the Council needs to be 
able to procure transport contracts with a total value in excess of £500,000. 
Restricting contract values by reducing contract lengths would not provide 
value for money, resulting in reduced accessibility to essential services and 
lower quality vehicles.

4.2 Failure to procure the contracts set out in Table 1 would have a 
disproportionately adverse impact on young, disabled and older people who 
use local bus services.

4.3 Every year the school bus network needs to be optimised to reflect school 
leavers and new pupils. A failure to approve these recommendations would 
result in the council being unable to meet its statutory obligations under the 
1996 Education Act to provide transport assistance to entitled school pupils 
and no longer provide value for money transport within agreed budgets.

5. Consultation Feedback

5.1 An extensive consultation process has taken place with the bus operators 
during the establishment of the DPS, and with members of the public in 
respect of changes to local bus services. Details are contained within the 

Page 327



6

background papers. More recent consultation has taken place with transport 
DPS suppliers.  Some public transport routes need to be revised in order to 
be sustainable in future.

6.    Equalities Considerations

6.1 A due regard statement was produced for the original DPS cabinet report in 
October 2014. This has been reviewed in light of the proposed contracts and 
there have been no material changes affecting any groups with protected 
characteristics. All services will be procured with terms and conditions that 
require fully accessible vehicles to be provided where appropriate. Further 
analysis of equalities impact will be performed individually for any service that 
is reviewed with a view to changing.

7. Performance Management/Follow-up

7.1 The performance of the services that are procured will be monitored against 
key indicators, including the delivery of savings. A strict contract management 
process to manage the ongoing quality, risk and performance of transport 
suppliers forms an integral part of the selected approach.

Page 328



7

Report Title Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the 
Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport 

Statutory Authority Transport Act 1985 and subsequent revisions
The Public Contracts Regulations 2015

Relevant County Council 
policy

All policies with a Transport element are affected: e.g. Local 
Transport Plan, Home to School Transport Policy.

Resource Implications The procurement and award of each of the contracts set out in 
Table 1 will be undertaken using existing staff and financial 
resources. Estimated costs for each of the contracts are set out 
in Table 1, though actual costs will depend on the outcome of 
each compliant tender process under the TDPS. Some of the 
contracts will be fully or partly paid for using developer funding 
(usually section 106) where they are designed specifically in 
response to the need to serve housing developments. However, 
where these are funded through the council, the full cost paid by 
the council is that which is set out in Table 1 hereto. 

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships We work closely with operators in ensuring that efficient and 
effective transport provision can be maintained

Decision Making and 
Involvement

The proposal has been shared with the Cabinet Member for 
Communities and Infrastructure.

Economy and Employment Spend on ensuring the continuation of local bus services can 
bring benefits to local services and businesses, and can allow 
vulnerable service users to have continued independence 
reducing the reliance on other County Council functions such as 
Adult Social Care services. 

Caring for people The letting of transport contracts for the wider public are carefully 
evaluated to ensure quality thresholds are adhered to.

Built Environment n/a

Natural Environment’ including 
Ecology (Biodiversity)

n/a

Education and Information We will liaise closely with community leaders in affected 
communities.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive - Reduction in carbon 
emissions by reducing reliance on private transport and lengthier 
contract periods can lead to operators investing in cleaner and 
higher quality vehicles. We may on occasions specify higher than 
legally required standards where funding is available and this 

Page 329



8

may improve air quality in areas where services operate and 
especially where an air quality problem has been identified.

Vulnerable to climate change? Yes: costs are likely to escalate 
should significant weather events occur or should fuel costs rise 
or road conditions deteriorate significantly.

Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes – see text

Human rights Implications None

Consultation Arrangements None required. 

Page 330



Table 1. 
List of contracts anticipated to have a value of over £500,000 that may be 
required over the next 3 years

Route No. Route Description Contract Length 
(years)

Maximum Estimated 
Total Contract Spend 

New Cheltenham– Bishops Cleeve - 
Evesham (developer funded)

Up to 7 years £2,000,000

New Gloucester – Hunts Grove –
(Stonehouse - option to serve - 
developer funded)

Up to 7 years £1,500,000

882 Cirencester - Tetbury Up to 7 years £1,100,000

852 Gloucester – Cirencester Up to 7 years £1,100,000

700 series Lydney/Chepstow locals (part 
developer funded) (part from 
previous forward plan)

Up to 7 years £2,000,000

606 Bishops Cleeve - Greet – Willersey 
- Mickleton

Up to 7 years £1,100,000

New Winchcombe - Cheltenham  
(deferred from previous forward 
plan)

Up to 7 years £2,000,000

802 Bourton – Rissingtons – Kingham – 
Stow (part developer funded)

Up to 7 years £750,000

801 Additional  journeys/variation to 
route: Moreton in Marsh – 
Cheltenham 

Up to 7 years £500,000

H Gallagher Retail Park - Wymans Brook 
to Arle Farm (brought forward from 
previous report)

Up to 7 years £500,000

B and H Sunday service Charlton Kings – 
Cheltenham – Arle Farm (Sunday 
service)

Up to 7 years £500,000

8 Gloucester-Coopers Edge-Brockworth 
(including Perry Brook)(part developer 
funded)

Up to 7 years £900,000

97/98 Gloucester – Cheltenham via Longford 
Development – Developer funded 
enhancement

Up to 7 years £1,250,000

Page 331



This page is intentionally left blank



Table 2: Report on Transport Contracts that were awarded pursuant to a Cabinet report 
dated 18th July 2018.

Route No. Route Description Contract 
Length (years)

Maximum 
Estimated 
Total Contract 
Value 

Comments

N Cheltenham – Noverton Park 5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£1,000,000 Tendered and awarded 
Oct 2018 and well below 
expected value – new cost 
£242,445.

855 Bourton on the Water – Bibury –
Cirencester (from previous forward 
plan)

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£800,000 Awarded October 2018, 
actual value £812,000.

8/8A/8B Stroud Town services and Stroud-
Oakridge via Bisley

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£560,000 Contract extended in line 
with 2016 award, no 
requirement to retender at 
present.

40 Stroud – Wotton under Edge 5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£540,000 Contract extended in line 
with 2016 award, no 
requirement to retender at 
present.

700 series Lydney/Chepstow locals (part 
developer funded) (part from 
previous forward plan)

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£2,000,000 Tendered and awarded 
April 2019.

802 Bourton – Rissingtons – Kingham 
– Stow (developer funded)

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£750,000 Tendered and awarded 
during 2018.

351 Gloucester- Hartpury – 
Tewkesbury

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£800,000 Tendered and awarded 
September 2018, cost 
£738k.

42 Tewkesbury – Cheltenham
(developer funded)

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£800,000 Tendered and awarded 
November 2018, cost 
£588,469.

50/76/77 Cirencester locals plus 
Cirencester- Highworth (part 
developer funded)

5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£900,000 No retender required as 
current contract is valid 
until 2022.

71 Gloucester-Tewkesbury 5 years with 
provision for an 
additional two 
years

£553,000 Tendered and awarded 
October 2018 cost £595k 
and combined with 6 and 
13 local services (as 
offered slight contract cost 
saving).

66 Gloucester-Kingsway-Stroud 5 years with 
provision for a 
additional two 
years

£250,000 Tendered and awarded 
Autumn 2018, cost 
£492,744.

8 Gloucester-Coopers Edge 5 years with 
provision for a 
additional two 
years

£880,000 Part of service taken on 
commercially, retendered 
value of £232,400. 
Potential scope for further 
enhancement once the 
Perrybrook housing 
development funding is 
available. This will be 
reviewed in 2020.

Page 333



This page is intentionally left blank



POSITIVE BEHAVIOUR SUPPORT SERVICE FOR CHILDREN AND 
YOUNG PEOPLE WITH A LEARNING DISABILITY AND/OR AUTISM

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Children’s 
Safeguarding and 
Early Years

Cllr Richard Boyles

Key Decision Yes   

Background 
Documents

Sufficiency Strategy – Right Placement First Time

Bradford Positive Behaviour Support Service – Affinity Trust (film)

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-

people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/

https://vimeo.com/316753811

Main Consultees Key stakeholders include operational staff, NHS staff, Education staff, Parent 
Carers and the VCS sector.  A stakeholder engagement event to inform the 
development of a positive behaviour service for children and young people 
with a learning disability and/or autism was undertaken with all of these 
stakeholders.

Planned Dates Commissioners aim to go out to tender in September 2019 for a Positive 
Behaviour Service, where a provider is backed by a Social Investor (through 
a Social Impact Bond), with a view to awarding a contract early 2020, and the  
service being operational from April 2020.  

Divisional 
Councillor

All

Officer Chris Spencer, Director of Children Services

Tel: 01452 583502

Chris.spencer@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 335

Agenda Item 12

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/health-and-social-care/children-young-people-and-families/sufficiency-strategy-2018-2021/
https://vimeo.com/316753811


Purpose of Report To seek approval from Cabinet to go to market for the provision of an  
intensive Positive Behaviour Service for children and young people, with 
learning disabilities and/or autism who are demonstrating behaviour that 
challenges, and are at risk of going into care.  

Delegated authority is sought for the Director of Children’s Services in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early 
Years, to approve the tender award decision. 

Recommendations That Cabinet 

(a) Approve the commissioning of an intensive positive behaviour support 
service for children and young people, to be facilitated by the Provider 
using a Social Impact Bond.   

(b) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to carry out an 
OJEU compliant competitive tender process and award a contract, in 
consultation with the Cabinet Member for Children’s Safeguarding and 
Early Years, for a positive behaviour support service for children and 
young people

(c) Delegate authority to the Director of Children’s Services to develop a 
commissioning implementation plan, in consultation with the Cabinet 
Member for Children’s Safeguarding and Early Years.

Reasons for 
recommendations

1. An intensive programme of intervention from a specialist Positive 
Behaviour Support (PBS) service will improve outcomes for children, 
young people and families.

2. The service will enable effective, efficient and good quality provision, 
to manage demand and reduce avoidable high cost placements.   
Avoiding residential care for these young people with learning 
disabilities and/or autism who are presenting with behaviour that 
challenges could avoid costs to the council of over £4 million across a 
10 year period.

3. The use of a Social Impact Bond will bring additional resources into 
the system allowing the provider to set up the new service.  In this 
case the Social Impact Bond will be an agreement between the 
provider and a Social Investor, and GCC will not be a party to that 
agreement.

4. The fact that a Social Impact Bond will be in place also means that 
GCC will be eligible to access the Life Chances Fund of up to 
£360,000.   

Resource 
Implications

The total required investment from the Council and CCG is capped at £1.8 
million over 10 years which will be reduced to £1.44 million with the Life 
Chances Funding.   All costs are met from existing placement budgets 
(health, education and social care).  

Page 336



Officer time will be needed in the planning, procurement and contract 
management stages.

Resource implications to GCC/CCG with a social impact bond in place 
over 10 years if 14 young people access the service

Initial investment required from GCC/CCG £ 0
Cost to GCC/CCG
(Outcome payments – capped at £1.8m)  £ 1,800,000

Gross savings from residential care avoidance £ 6,120,000
Net saving for GCC/CCG £ 4,320,000

Outcome payments would be split across Children’s social care (GCC) 55%, 
Education – High Needs Budget (GCC) 35% and Health (GCC) 10%.
The net saving is based on financial modelling undertaken by Social Finance, 
a not for profit organisation with experience of Social Impact Bonds.   The 
PBS service would also have additional benefits to the adult health and social 
care budgets which have not been included in the financial modelling.

Funding through a Social Impact Bond
The Social Impact Bond contract will be between the Social Investor and the 
Provider.  The contract between GCC and the provider will be a standard 
outcomes based contract.
A social impact bond (SIB) is an outcomes based contract funded by socially-
motivated investors.  The initial investments will cover the start up costs and 
the ongoing delivery of the service until it is generating sufficient revenue to 
make it self sustaining. 

The advantages of a social impact bond are:
 It facilitates additional resources to enable the provider to set up the 

new service
 It means that the Council can access the £360,000 Life Chances Fund
 The risk to GCC/CCG is reduced as payments are only made on 

positive outcomes ie the children are kept out of residential care.  (If 
the service was funded using a traditional “invest to save” model the 
service would still need to be funded even if the children went into 
care).

The main disadvantages of the social impact bond are:
 It is more complicated to set up as the provider will need to partner 

with a social investor
 If the service is successful the cost will be slightly higher than if 

GCC/CCG were to fund this on an invest to save basis as the social 
investor will receive a return on their investment.  However putting a 
SIB in place means that we can access the Life Chances Funding, and 
this cancels out the additional cost.

Page 337



Diagram to outline the relationship between the Council and the Provider:

A contract manager (Council officer) will be assigned for on-going contract 

management and monitoring purposes. 

Loan of 
up front 
working 
capitalLoan 

repayment 
with interest

Intensive PBS 
Service provided

Social Investor

Outcome payments

Performance information

PBS Provider

Children with 
learning 

disabilities and 
their families

GCC/CCG

Life Chances 
Fund top up

Page 338



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

1.1 There are many children and young people with a learning disability and/or autism 

whose needs cannot be met in the community and therefore require a residential school 

placement. 

1.2 Between 2014 and 2017 GCC has commissioned an average of 6 new residential 

special school placements per year at an annual cost of £1.3 million (£220,000 per year 

per child).  

1.3 There are currently 19 children and young people living in residential special 

schools, amounting to almost £4million in annual expenditure.  Some of these young 

people could have their needs met locally, and in a more cost effective manner, with a 

Positive Behaviour Support service in place. 

1.4  An intensive programme of support from a specialist Positive Behaviour Support 

(PBS) service would enable the family and education setting to make changes to 

improve the quality of life for the young person leading to a reduction in the number of 

episodes of behaviour that challenges.  

2. Positive Behaviour Support

2.1 Positive Behaviour Support (PBS) is an evidence based intervention.  PBS gives a 

set of tools and technologies to assess, support and understand behaviour, and a 

person-centred focus to ensure actions are based on the unique needs of each 

individual.    It has been found to decrease the frequency and severity of behaviour that 

challenges and improve the quality of life for young people and their families.  

2.2 The values which underpin Positive Behavioural Support are in line with national 

policy, such as quality of life enhancement and working proactively and preventively. 

Person centred PBS has been identified as the most appropriate intervention and its 

widespread implementation across England and Wales has been promoted within the 

Transforming Care initiative (Transforming Care for People with Learning Disabilities – Next 

Steps, 2015 and Time for Change – the Challenge Ahead, 2016.

Page 339



3. Gloucestershire’s Proposed model
3.1 Gloucestershire’s proposed PBS model is based on the established PBS service in 

Bristol and the new PBS Social Impact Bond in Bradford which has been operational for 

over a year.  These services have demonstrated significant positive benefits for the 

families involved.  

3.2 On average there will be 3 young people accessing support from the service at any 

one time, and around 11 – 14 young people over the duration of the project.  Support 

will be flexible to meet the needs of the young people and their families.

3.3 Young people are likely to access the service at around 12.5 years old as the 

average age of young people entering care is 13.5 years old, however there are no age 

restrictions (children could be as young as 7-8 years) on accessing the service if the 

panel of professionals agree that the intervention is appropriate and likely to be 

effective.  

3.4 The impact of the service will be continuously monitored in line with the monitoring 

requirements of the Life Chances Fund.  After 5 years the service will be fully evaluated 

and decisions made on future commissioning arrangements.

4. Risk Assessment  

4.1 This work is based on progressing a social impact bond.  There is a low risk that the 

Council may not be able to source a provider backed by a social investor. However this 

risk is mitigated by the fact that Social Impact Bonds are part of a national programme 

that have been developed over the last 2-3 years.  There is strong evidence, as shown 

in Bradford, that this model works, preventing children from entering residential care 

and improving quality of life for them and their families.  The bid was endorsed by the 

Life Chances Fund as a very strong bid and they have indicated a commitment to 

supporting the development of a PBS service in Gloucestershire.

4.2 If approved, this work will be implemented and managed using a project 

management approach, with a risk and issues log being actively managed.  

Page 340



5. Officer Advice

5.1 To approve the introduction of a Positive Behaviour Support service for young 

people with learning disabilities and/or autism, who are at risk of going into residential 

care, due to behaviour that challenges.  This service will benefit young people and their 

families as well as offering significant opportunity for cost avoidance.

5.2 To agree to GCC going out to tender for an experienced PBS provider backed by a 

Social Investor as part of a Social Impact Bond.  

5.3 To agree to invest £1.44 million over the 10 years of the project into the PBS 

service.  (There will be a cap of £1.8 million on the contract and the Life Chances Fund 

will contribute £360,000).  This will ensure the service continues to operate and support 

young people to be cared for within the community.

6. Equalities considerations

6.1 A Due Regard Statement has been completed and this service will have a positive 
impact on the quality of life for young people with learning disabilities and their families.

6.2 Cabinet Members should read and consider the Due Regard Statement in order to 
satisfy themselves as decision makers that due regard has been given.

7. Consultation feedback

7.1 We have been listening to our stakeholders through planning meetings, including 

parent/carers to inform the Positive Behaviour Support developments.   

 

8. Performance Management/Follow-up 

8.1 Once authorised, officers will establish a contract management programme to 

oversee the contract outcomes, following a procurement exercise.   

Page 341



Report Title Positive Behaviour Support Service for Children and Young 
People with a Learning Disability and/or autism.

Statutory Authority Children Act 1989, 2004

Children and Families Act 

Sufficiency Statutory Guidance (2010) 

Care Planning, Placement and Case Review Regulations 2010

Relevant County Council 
policy

Sufficiency Strategy – Right Placement First Time
One Gloucestershire
Transforming Care Plan

Resource Implications Details included in the body of the report.  Initial investment 
from GCC will be zero if the decision is made to proceed with a 
Social Impact Bond

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships

Decision Making and 
Involvement

Economy and Employment Supporting young people’s employment opportunities

Caring for people Securing outcomes for vulnerable children, young people and 
families.

Social Value The PBS will deliver additional social, economic and 
environmental benefits to Gloucestershire.  

Built Environment

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Education and Information Supporting young people and parents to access employment 
and education.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Neutral
Vulnerable to climate change? No

Page 342



Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?     Yes
Yes  - considerations included in main body of report

A copy of the full Due Regard Statement  can be accessed on 
GLOSTEXT via 
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1

Alternatively a hard copy is available for inspection from Jo 
Moore, Democratic Services Unit, e-mail: 
jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk.

Human rights Implications This service supports the Transforming Care programme of 
work to drive system-wide change to strengthen individual’s 
rights and enable more people to live in the community, with 
the right support, and close to home. 

Consultation 
Arrangements

As described in the body of the report

Page 343

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/uuCoverPage.aspx?bcr=1
mailto:jo.moore@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



P
age 345



P
age 346



P
age 347



P
age 348



P
age 349



P
age 350



P
age 351



P
age 352



P
age 353



P
age 354



P
age 355



T
his page is intentionally left blank



A38/A419 WHITMINSTER ROUNDABOUT BRIDGES AND CANAL IMPROVEMENTS 

CONTRACT PROCUREMENT AND ANCILLARY ORDERS

Cabinet Date 24 July 2019

Highways & Flood Cllr Vernon Smith

Key Decision Yes

Background 
Documents

 Highways England Award Letter
 Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3 2016)

Location/Contact 
for inspection of 
Background 
Documents

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3 

Highways England Award Letter (Please see Appendix A)

Main Consultees • Local Member (Cllr S Davies for Hardwicke/Severn)
• Stroud District Council
• Highways England
• Wide range of consultees as part of the statutory consultation exercise 

(Police/Ambulance/Freight & Haulage associations) – Consultation 
Ongoing

• Residents, general public and businesses
(Public share events are scheduled for September 2019) – Consultation 
Ongoing

Planned Dates • Highways England Award Letter – February 2019
• Detailed design start – April 2019 
• Detailed design end – August 2019
• Issue tender documents – August 2019
• Tender assessment and award – September 2019
• Construction start – October 2019
• Scheme complete and open to the public – April 2020

Divisional 
Councillor

Cllr S Davies  for Hardwicke/Severn

Officer Jennifer Dorman Senior Infrastructure Engineer
jennifer.dorman@gloucestershire.gov.uk

Page 357

Agenda Item 13

http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
http://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ltp3
mailto:jennifer.dorman@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To seek authorisation from Cabinet:

1. To authorise the Lead Commissioner, Highway Authority to receive 
funds from Highways England (via Cotswold Canal Trust) and 
thereafter become the “Client” for the proposes of procuring a contract 
for works in respect of the proposed A38/A419 Whitminster 
Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements described in this report. 
The Highways Authority undertaking works within the highway extent 
is the most cost effective way to undertake this scheme; works will 
proceed using the Highway Authorities permitted development rights, 
as agreed with Gloucestershire County Council’s Planners. 

2. To authorise the Lead Commissioner Highway Authority to make any 
other ancillary orders that might be required to successfully implement 
the scheme (e.g. Traffic orders, ‘Stopping up’ orders or PROW orders).

3. To add up to £4.5 million of additional funding to the Capital 
Programme.

Recommendations

That Cabinet authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to:

(1) receive £4.0m by way of funding from Highways England (via 
Cotswold Canal Trust) for the purpose of funding a contract for works 
in respect of the proposed A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges 
and Canal Improvements described in this report (the “Contract for 
Improvement Works”);

(2) permit the council to become the “Client” for the purposes of procuring 
the proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(3) conduct, in consultation with the Cabinet Member for Environment and 
Planning, a public procurement law compliant tender process for the 
purpose of awarding the proposed Contract for Improvement Works;

(4) award and enter into the proposed Contract for Improvement Works 
with the preferred tenderer evaluated as offering the Council best 
value for money for delivery of the required works or, in the event that 
the preferred tenderer for the contract is either unable or unwilling to 
enter into that contract with the Council, to award and enter into such 
contract with the next willing highest scoring suitably qualified 
tenderer.

Reasons for 
recommendations

The decision will enable the council to receive funds and pursue the contract 
award for the scheme, which will provide the best opportunity to meet the 
timescales for project delivery. 

Resource 
Implications

The proposed improvement works will be funded through the £4.0m provided 
to the council by way of a designated funds grant from Highways England, 
received via the Cotswold Canals Trust.

The total scheme cost is estimated to be £4.5 million and the proposed 
funding agreement between the council and Cotswold Canal Trust will 
provide that the council will not be liable for any cost overruns, therefore the 

Page 358



Highway Authority will deliver work to the value of estimated £4.5 million 
funding only. 

In the event of an overspend in connection with the proposed improvement 
works, the council will inform the Cotswold Canal Trust of such overspend 
and request additional funding.  The council shall not commission any further 
work in respect of the proposed improvement works unless and until the 
Cotswold Canal Trust undertakes to provide further funding, hence delivery 
risk will remains with the Cotswold Canals Trust.

Page 359



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

1. Background 

In April 2018 Stroud District Council were awarded Round One Development Funding 
from the Heritage Lottery Fund (HLF) for the restoration of a section of the Stroud water 
Navigation Canal. The application was submitted to the HLF in November 2017 for 
£9.8M towards the cost of Phase 1b, estimated at £23m.

The 'Stroudwater Connected' scheme (Phase 1b) will see the restoration of a section of 
the Stroudwater Navigation Canal covering a distance of about 6.1 km (3.8 miles). This 
is between Saul Junction, with its connection to the national waterways network, and 
Ocean Railway Bridge in Stonehouse. Despite the relatively short distance, there are 
some significant challenges to overcome; these include obstructions such as the M5 
motorway, the A38 (road) and a main-line railway.

A project board has been formed; in addition to the HLF funding those sat on the board  
have committed additional funding to the scheme, as set out below: - 

 Stroud District Council (SDC) £3.000m
 Gloucestershire County Council £0.700m
 Canal & River Trust (CRT) £0.675m plus additional support
 Highways England £4m towards restoration of 'missing mile'
 The Cotswold Canals Trust will also contribute cash and volunteer resources.

Gloucestershire County Council is working with Stroud District Council and the 
Cotswold Canal Trust to advance the sections of the route that contain highway 
structures. The Highway Authority has been requested to take on the construction of a 
section of the ‘missing mile’ that crosses the A38/A419 roundabout. This will see the 
construction of two highway bridges, diversion of a number of services, the introduction 
of a towpath (with footpath/cycle path provision) and the reinstatement of a short length 
of the canal in the roundabout between the two structures. The Highways England 
grant, described in the “Recommendations” section of this report, will specifically fund 
these works.

2. Proposed improvements

The proposed scheme will enable the eventual reconnection of the canal from Saul 
Junction to Stonehouse. The towpath will provide increased connectivity for pedestrians 
and cyclists. 

The scheme also meets the following Local Transport Plan Objectives 
Securing conditions for economic growth in Gloucestershire by supporting the 
economic regeneration of the Cotswold Canal 
Ensure that communities are given equal opportunities to benefit from economic 
prosperity by maintaining an efficient transport network that enables people to work and 
access the places they need, and doesn’t prevent them from working. 

Page 360



Create healthy, safe and engaged communities by maintaining the transport network in 
a safe condition and providing a well connected network of cycle and walking routes.

3. Funding breakdown

External Contributions:
The scheme will be funded through the £4.0 million allocation of designated funds 
granted by Highways England to GCC via the Cotswold Canal Trust. Additional 
Expenditure will be met by the Cotswold Canal Trust.

Reserves:
Nil

Funding breakdown:

£000s 2018-19 2019-20
Highways England (Via 
CCT)

£4.0m N/A

Local Authority 
contribution

0 0

Third Party contribution 
(CCT)

£0.5m 0

TOTAL £4.5m 0
 

4. Options

The options for Cabinet are as follows:

 Option A: To authorise the Lead Commissioner; Highway Authority to progress 
the scheme as set out in this report’s recommendations; or

 Option B: To make a decision to decline the request for such authorisation, 
which would put the funding at risk as Highways England require a commitment 
for the works to commence before the end of the financial year.

5. Risk Assessment  

An up to date risk register for the scheme exists and is regularly updated in line with the 
GCC Risk Management process, in order to investigate, manage and mitigate key risks.

The key risks can be summarised as follows:

1) The capital costs of the scheme increase as a result of factors uncovered at 
preparatory surveys and design stages. This will be mitigated by ensuring 
that detailed design and survey work is ongoing to eliminate such risk.

Page 361



2) Increase in project design costs due to the New Professional Services 
contract. This will be mitigated by ensuring there is early contractor 
involvement with the aim of minimising any disruption to cost and 
programme.

3) Increases (above those identified in the risk and contingency allowance) in 
statutory undertakers’ apparatus diversion or protection costs (Severn Trent 
Water, Wales and West, BT, CityFibre, Vodafone and Virgin Media) to that 
assumed at bid stage. This will be mitigated by ensuring that survey work 
continues throughout the design phase, and that an appropriate risk 
allowance is set aside for potential cost increases.

Overall, the risks are well understood and are being eliminated or mitigated as the 
project moves forward. There are, however, a number of outstanding risks that could 
have an impact on the design and cost of the project. Risks will continue to be actively 
monitored and any significant changes affecting the scope of the project will be 
reported to the Lead Cabinet Member.

6. Officer Advice

That Cabinet approve the recommendations as set out in this report.

7. Equalities considerations

To date, no specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the protected 
characteristics; however, the detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in 
accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and safety. The Equality Act 
2010, states that service providers have a continuing duty to consider impacts on 
groups with protected characteristics and therefore monitoring of users once the 
scheme is operational will be required to ensure that equality issues pertaining to age, 
disability, sex and ethnicity, are being considered and evolved after opening. 
Additionally any information on incidents/accidents or in the area around the scheme 
will be analysed according to the characteristics of the victim if the information is 
available.

8. Consultation feedback

Public share events will be held in September 2019. Pre-consultation included 
engagement with key stakeholders and interested parties, these included the Local 
member, local Town and Parish Councils, access and rights of way groups and scheme 
users and emergency services.  The Cotswold Canal Trust have undertaken various 
early public share events and consultations on the conceptual design with members of 
public throughout January to March 2019.  No significant objections have been made to 
date.

Page 362



In addition to the above, the Council has also carried out an extensive consultation on 
the adopted Local Transport Plan (2016), in which this scheme is listed as a long-term 
capital priority (2021-31).  

9. Performance Management/Follow-up 

Scheme costs and delivery will continue to be managed in accordance with business 
case objectives and the monthly Major Project Board Meetings, attended by the 
relevant Lead Commissioner.

Page 363



Report Title
A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal 
Improvements: Construction of two Highway Bridges, a 
towpath and a section of the Canal – Council to receive funds 
from Highways England in respect thereof and proceed to the 
procurement of a contract for such improvement works.

Statutory Authority Highways Act 1980
Traffic Management Act 2004

Relevant County Council 
policy

Adopted Local Transport Plan (LTP 3) 2016

Resource Implications
The proposed improvement works will be funded through the 
£4.0m provided to the council by way of a designated funds 
grant from Highways England, received via the Cotswold 
Canals Trust.

The total scheme cost is estimated to be £4.5 million and the 
proposed funding agreement between the council and 
Cotswold Canal Trust will provide that the council will not be 
liable for any cost overruns, therefore the Highway Authority 
will deliver work to the value of estimated £4.5 million funding 
only. 

In the event of an overspend in connection with the proposed 
improvement works, the council will inform the Cotswold Canal 
Trust of such overspend and request additional funding.  The 
council shall not commission any further work in respect of the 
proposed improvement works unless and until the Cotswold 
Canal Trust undertakes to provide further funding, hence 
delivery risk will remains with the Cotswold Canals Trust.

Sustainability checklist:

Partnerships Close working with the preferred contractor (when appointed) 
and HE.

Decision Making and 
Involvement

During the scheme delivery phase, Gloucestershire County 
Council retains governance and control of the delivery of the 
Contract. Gloucestershire County Council become the client 
under and enter into contract with a Contractor appointed via a 
competitive tender process. Representatives from 
Gloucestershire County Council or their highways maintenance 
contractor will be appointed to undertake the project 
management and supervision roles and will be responsible for 
managing the Contract during the works.

Page 364



Economy and Employment Supports the economic regeneration of the Cotswold Canal.

Caring for people The scheme is also expected to have a beneficial impact by 
reducing cyclist and pedestrians’ accidents. The proposed 
towpath will provide safe segregated footway and cycle way 
connections across the A38. 

(The scheme design will promote the safety of all users.)
Social Value This scheme has the potential to increase physical activity. The 

towpath will provide a safe place for both pedestrians and 
cyclists.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Pre-construction species surveys and checks to existing 
badger setts should be undertaken for badgers, and vegetation 
clearance undertaken outside of the bird breeding season if 
possible or under ecological guidance. 
Reasonable Avoidance Measures (RAMs) should be employed 
regarding amphibians and reptiles. 
Work should be undertaken in accordance with ‘BS5873:2012 
Trees’ in relation to design, demolition and construction to 
ensure that mature trees, hedgerows and tree belts in close 
proximity are not harmed.

Education and Information As part of any quality tender evaluation, the successful 
Contractor will need to outline their strategy for community 
engagement, (school visits/weekly site bulletins/social media 
and comms plan). 

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive

Vulnerable to climate change? No
Due Regard Statement Has a Due Regard Statement been completed?    No

No specific analysis has been carried out with regard to the 
protected characteristics. However, this scheme is included in 
the County Council’s adopted Local Transport Plan (2016) 
which includes analysis of data in regard to user needs. The 
detailed design of the final scheme will be undertaken in 
accordance with relevant guidance in relation to equalities and 
safety. 

This

Monitoring of Service Users
The Equality Act 2010 states that service providers have a 
continuing duty to consider impacts on groups with protected 
characteristics and therefore monitoring of users once the 
scheme is operational will be required to ensure that equality 
issues pertaining to age, disability, sex and ethnicity, are being 
considered and evolved after opening. Additionally any 

Page 365



information on incidents/accidents or in the area around the 
scheme will be analysed according to the characteristics of the 
victim if the information is available.

Human rights Implications N/A

Consultation 
Arrangements

Public Share Events will be held in September 2019. 
Presentation boards will be provided with large scale plans and 
graphics together with scheme introduction, background and 
FAQs. 

Pre-consultation included engagement with key stakeholders 
and interest parties included the Local member, Town and 
Parish Councils, access and rights of way groups, scheme 
users and emergency services.

Page 366



NOTES
1. Ground water expected at approx 10.0m AOD.
2. Recycled plastic fenders to be installed to protect boats from angled

changes in retaining wall alignment.  Detail to be confirmed.
3. 2 No Safety Ladders to be installed at the towpath retaining wall within

the canal channel through the roundabout.  Detail to be confirmed.
4. Area reserved for potential future pipeline/services, not to be

obstructed by structures (minimum 1.7m width x 1.7m depth).  Area
may be filled with easily removal granular material or existing fill left
insitu.  Towpath fill to be compacted Type 1 granular fill with 50mm
surface course consisting of compacted '12mm to dust'.

5. Foundation Construction Type to be confirmed.
6. Carriageway reconstruction areas loosely based on a 1% approach

and 2% fall away from the bridge deck.  Detailed review and modelling
in accordance with TD9 and TD16 to be undertaken during detailed
design phase.

7. Boat dimensions = 22x5m
8. Allowance for bat boxes required
9. Preliminary pile arrangement is subject to detailed analysis and design
10. Structural Capacity requirements of new structures to be in

accordance with BS EN 1991-2:2003 + UK NA.  Load Model 3 vehicles
to include SV80, SV100 and SV196

11. BT Service bridge to be supported on Continguous Bored Piled Wall
capping beam modified to suit required bearing levels.

12. Concrete blinding (where required) to consist of 100mm depth ST1
concrete with A.252 reinforcement mesh cut with 400mm laps at
40mm cover to base material.

RESIDUAL DESIGN HAZARDS

1. Live traffic - Struck by moving vehicle
2. Watercourse/ground water - Risk of drowning or unstable ground
3. Unknown ground conditions or contaminants

File ref - p:\gbglj\gloucester psc\gcc\major projects\a38-a419 whitminster roundabout canals\050 drawings\working drawings\d.5188888.001 ga rev 0 (draft 10).dwg

0

Project Name

RevDrawing No

Scale :Original Drawing Size :

Drawing Title

Dimensions :

A1

Date

Client

Revision details

Designed:

Approved:

Rev

Drawn:

Checked:

Chkd Appd

100

Date:

Date:

Date:

Date:

Drawing Status Suitability

Drwn

MD 05/2019

MD 05/2019

CM 06/2019

CM 06/2019

Text or Logo

A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout
Canal Restoration

Preliminary General Arrangement

As Shown

-

FOR CONSULTATION S0

D.5188888.001 0

P
age 367



T
his page is intentionally left blank



CABINET INFORMATION REPORT 

Cllr Nigel Moor: Environment and Planning 

RESPONDING TO THE CLIMATE EMERGENCY:
GLOUCESTERSHIRE CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY 2019/20 TO 2024/25

Cabinet Meeting 24 July 2019

Background 
Documents

There are a significant no of background documents, which are listed in 
Annex 1, including web links to access the documents.

Main Consultees Environment Scrutiny Committee, 17 July 2019.
The council’s Monitoring Officer and Head of Democratic Services have 
been consulted on the draft Terms of Reference for the Youth Climate 
Panel (Annex 2).

Key Dates 15 May Council declares climate emergency (Motion 836)
21 May Climate Change Summit
Jun-Jul Draft Climate Change Strategy and engagement plan
17 Jul Environment Scrutiny Committee – briefing on approach 

and engagement plan
18 Jul Corporate Management Team – draft Climate Change 

Strategy & engagement plan, including indicative likely 
resource implications

23 Jul Air Quality & Health Partnership – draft Climate Change 
Strategy and potential joint working

24 Jul Cabinet – Climate Change Strategy & Engagement Plan; 
information report, Cabinet Member for Planning and 
Environment

Jul-Aug 2019 Public consultation inc Youth Climate Panel recruitment 
and use of social media to engage young people.

Sep 2019 Schools engagement.
Oct 2019 2018/19 annual emissions performance report to the Cabinet 

Member for Environment and Planning, then to Environment 
Scrutiny Committee, then publish on the Council’s website.

13 Nov 2019 Cabinet – Climate Change Strategy, for approval.
19 Dec 2019 Leadership Gloucestershire – Climate Change Strategy, 

for adoption.

Lead Officer Colin Chick, Strategic Advisor (Communities & Infrastructure)
01452 328470
colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk 

Page 369

Agenda Item 14

mailto:colin.chick@gloucestershire.gov.uk


Purpose of Report To provide details of the proposed approach and engagement timeline to 
develop the Climate Change Strategy and set up a Youth Climate Panel.

Resource 
Implications

The development of the strategy will have no immediate resource 
implications, other than officer time.  However the strategy is expected to 
have significant resource implications in the short, medium and long term.  
The November Cabinet will consider the future resource implications as part 
of the council’s Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) and budget setting 
process.
Given that an emergency has been declared by the council, 5 of the 6 
district councils, Parliament and the United Nations, members may wish to 
consider early interventions within this financial year, subject to budget. 

Appendices Annex 1 – Background Documents
Annex 2 – Youth Climate Panel, draft Terms of Reference
Annex 3 – Motion 836

Page 370



MAIN REPORT CONTENTS

Background

1. Under the Climate Change Act 2008, the UK was until recently committed to at least a 57% 
reduction in carbon emissions by 2032 and a reduction of at least 80% by 2050, on 1990 
levels.  Following the Committee on Climate Change’s report to government in May 2019, and 
Parliament subsequently declaring a climate emergency, government brought the 57% target 
forward to 2030, with the UK to be carbon neutral by 2050.

2. The council has long recognised the importance of climate change.  For at least 14 years the 
council has been working to reduce our contribution to climate change by reducing our carbon 
emissions (‘mitigation’) and improving the council’s and Gloucestershire’s resilience to the 
impacts of a changing climate (‘adaptation’).  

3. Below are summarised the significant milestones since 2005 leading up to the development of 
the new Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy in 2019.

4. In 2007 cabinet adopted the council’s first Carbon Management Programme, developed with 
the Carbon Trust, with a target to reduce corporate emissions on 2005/06 levels by 10% by 
2012, 30% by 2020 and 60% by 2050, the UK target at that time.  The council also signed the 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change and established a £1m energy efficiency invest to 
save fund, matching the £0.5m interest free loan from Salix Finance.  To date this has enabled 
£3.4m of investment in energy efficiency measures.

5. June 2007 saw the Gloucestershire floods, where the council responded to the one of the 
worst natural disasters in living memory, helping communities and business to recover from 
the impacts and leading a review on how to improve future resilience which informed the 
national approach.  It was one of the wettest summers on record; two months’ worth of rain fell 
in just 14 hours.  This illustrated Gloucestershire’s vulnerability to extreme weather events, 
which will be more frequent and extreme with a changing climate – 80% of properties were 
affected and the overall estimated cost to the county was £50 million.

6. In July 2008 cabinet approved the council’s first Corporate Climate Change Strategy and 
Action Plan, reaffirming the 2007 carbon reduction targets with commitments to be an 
‘excellent’ council on mitigating climate change by 2010/11 and adapting to climate change by 
2011/12.  Each of these commitments was achieved.

7. In April 2011 cabinet approved the revised Carbon Management Programme, developed with 
the Carbon Trust.  Having reduced emissions by 12% in 2010, ahead of the 2012 target date, 
the council refreshed its approach, adopting the current target to reduce corporate emissions 
by 60% by 2020/21 on 2006/07 levels.  In March 2018 the council achieved a 55% reduction, 
having more than halved its corporate emissions over the past 11 years and is significantly 
ahead of target to reduce emissions by 60% by 2020/21, against the 2006/07 baseline.  
Actions to date include improved heating and lighting and controls; insulation; staff behaviour 
change programmes; networked printer/ scanner/ copiers; ICT investment strategy including 
‘agile working’; £13.7m LED street lighting programme; ultra-low emission pool cars (electric, 
hybrid, petrol); refurbishing Shire Hall including integrated and roof-mounted solar photovoltaic 
(PV) panels.  Together these measures are saving the council over £2m a year in avoided 
energy and fuel costs.

8. In February 2014, the council adopted Gloucestershire’s first Local Flood Risk Management 
Strategy, as Lead Local Flood Authority (LLFA) under the Flood & Water Management Act 
2010.  This was developed in partnership with the county’s risk management authorities, i.e. 

Page 371



the district/borough councils, water companies, Environment Agency and Internal Drainage 
Board.  It has an annual implementation plan highlighting prioritised and any scheduled flood 
alleviation work.

9. In 2015, countries adopted the United Nations (UN) 2030 Agenda for Sustainable 
Development and its 17 Sustainable Development Goals as the blueprint to achieve a better 
and more sustainable future for all by 2030.  The Goals interconnect and address the global 
challenges we face, including those related to poverty, inequality, climate, environmental 
degradation, prosperity, and peace and justice.

10. In June 2016 the County Council adopted the Local Transport Plan (LTP) 2015-2031.  This 
includes performance indicator LTP PI-14 – Reduce per capita transport carbon emissions.  
Outputs from this indicator will assist in understanding the impacts of policies outlined across 
all policy documents.  The target is to reduce per capita transport carbon emissions, 
contributing to achieving the Government’s climate change commitments as part of COP211 
(see paragraph 11), resulting in zero transport based carbon emissions by 2099.  The strategy 
is now under review including development of a cycling strategy.

11. In November 2016, the UN Paris Agreement on climate change (COP21) entered into force, 
addressing the need to limit the rise of global temperatures.

12. In the Clean Growth Strategy (2017) the Government introduced a voluntary target for the 
public and higher education sectors in England to reduce greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions 
across these sectors by 30% by 2020/21, compared to a 2009/10 baseline.

13. The Council’s 2018/19 budget includes £0.47m for electric vehicle infrastructure.
14. February 2018 saw the launch of ‘Gloucestershire 2050’, a county-wide conversation led by 

Leadership Gloucestershire2 to explore ideas and shape our long-term future together. Having 
considered the feedback provided by the Big Conversation, Leadership Gloucestershire has 
endorsed the following Vision for Gloucestershire 2050:
“Gloucestershire: a great place to live, work and do business, with a thriving future.”
It also sets out what a thriving future means, including “…a sustainable county: we will see 
more efficient use of resources and more use of sustainable energy.”

15. In June 2018 cabinet welcomed the report of the Air Pollution Task Group (under Environment 
& Communities Scrutiny Committee), which included proposing that the Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health Partnership develop a strategy from which to address air quality and health 
in Gloucestershire by June 2019.

16. In July 2018 Cabinet gave approval to tender for the purchase and sale of energy.  The 
Council will become a net generator of energy when the Javelin Park Energy from Waste 
facility comes online in 2019, generating enough electricity to power c25,000 homes, c55% of 
which is classed as renewable energy.

17. In September 2018 the Council, along with the 6 district councils, agreed to join a Green 
Infrastructure Pledge set out by the Gloucestershire Local Nature Partnership (GLNP), 
promising to develop, maintain and protect natural features in Gloucestershire.

1 The 2015 United Nations Climate Change Conference; Conference of the Parties 21st session (COP21).
2 Leadership Gloucestershire, chaired by the Council, brings together public sector organisations that allocate and 
spend significant resources in Gloucestershire. Its role is to provide vision, leadership and strategic direction in areas 
where it is vital to work together to meet the needs of the people and communities of Gloucestershire in the most cost 
effective way.

Page 372

http://glos2050.com/default.asp


18. In October 2018 the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) published its Special 
Report on the impacts of global warming of 1.5oC above pre-industrial levels.  It states that 
around 100% of the global warming since pre-industrial levels is the result of human activity 
and that 20-40% of the global population live in regions that have already experienced 
warming of more than 1.5oC in at least one season.  The report projects that global average 
warming is likely to reach 1.5oC between 2030 and 2052.  Cutting emissions to meet a 1.5oC 
limit will require:

 “…rapid and far-reaching transitions in the way energy is used and the sources it comes 
from; the way land use and agricultural systems are organised; and the types and 
quantities of food and material that are consumed… With clear benefits to people and 
natural ecosystems, limiting global warming to 1.5ºC compared to 2ºC could go hand in 
hand with ensuring a more sustainable and equitable society.”

19. In November 2018, the Council published ‘Looking to the Future 2019-22’.  This sets out 9 
ambitions for the future of the county, adapted from those established through Vision 2050 
(para 5) to reflect the role the Council plays; including ‘A Sustainable county – More efficient 
use of resources and more use of sustainable energy’.

20. In December 2018, Cabinet approved signing up to government’s Emissions Reduction Pledge 
2020, committing to report annual carbon emissions performance to the Department for 
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy (BEIS), with emissions from maintained schools 
included but shown separately, and to publish this performance on the Council's website.  It 
also resolved to review the council’s ambition and the effectiveness of its policies in delivering 
sustainable development in Gloucestershire, with a stakeholder workshop to be held by the 
end of March 2019.  This was subsequently postponed to after the district council elections in 
May 2019.

21. In January 2019, Gfirst Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP, of which the Council is a board 
member) adopted the Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy, commissioned by the 
council on behalf of the LEP Energy Business Group, funded by BEIS.  It sets out the key 
changes required and a roadmap for securing a carbon neutral Gloucestershire by 2050.  The 
council’s commitment to this is set out in paragraph 24.

22. On 6 May 2019 the Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem 
Services (IPBES) reported that nature is being eroded at rates unprecedented in human 
history, with one million species currently threatened with extinction, and we are undermining 
the entire natural infrastructure on which our modern world depends.

23. On 14 May 2019 Gloucestershire Health and Wellbeing Board (of which the Council is a 
member) adopted the Air Quality Strategy for implementation through the Gloucestershire Air 
Quality and Health Partnership Group.  Its vision is “For organisations, professionals and the 
public across Gloucestershire to work together to improve air quality in the county and reduce 
the impact of air pollution on human health and the environment.  To contribute to the vision of 
Gloucestershire as a prosperous, happy, healthy, and sustainable county.”  It identifies six key 
strategic areas for delivery: public engagement; air quality monitoring and information; active 
travel; policy and planning; Ultra-Low Emission Vehicles (ULEVs); and cleaner fleets & public 
transport.  Many of the measures that will reduce harmful exhaust emissions will not only 
improve local air quality but will also reduce transport-generated carbon emissions and help 
mitigate global warming.

Page 373



24. On 15 May 2019 the council joined central government and 80+ other local authorities in 
declaring a Climate Change Emergency (Annex 3).  The council committed to:

 Reduce its own corporate carbon emissions by at least 80% by 2030; with the remaining 
being offset, resulting in a “net zero” organisation.  These include carbon emissions from 
council buildings and estate; street lighting, park & ride sites lighting, signs, signals and 
bollards; fleet fuel use; and staff and member business travel.

 Follow scientific advice of the Committee on Climate Change, and deliver a carbon 
neutral county (Gloucestershire) by 2050, and work with partners to identify what 
measures would be needed to deliver a stepped target of 80% carbon reduction by 2030 
to reflect the IPCC report on climate change.

 Do all in the council’s power to adopt, implement and strengthen the 
Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy.

25. On 21 May 2019 the council jointly hosted a Climate Change Summit on 21 May with GFirst 
Local Enterprise Partnership.  Around 120 passionate and innovative people from across the 
county joined the discussion at the University of Gloucestershire to talk about taking action on 
climate change.  The summit welcomed speakers from a variety of different points of view, 
including representatives from the planning, infrastructure, and construction industries, Public 
Health, young people and sustainable energy experts.  The day looked at how everyone in the 
county can contribute to creating a sustainable future, calling on communities to help deliver 
the ambitions of the Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy.  This included a 
presentation on development of the Air Quality & Health Strategy, where there is a lot of cross-
over with climate change issues and opportunities.  Notes, presentations and other information 
from the day can be found here.

Developing the Climate Change Strategy
26. The recent scientific reports, direct action and climate emergency declarations demonstrate 

the need and public demand for us to accelerate this work.
27. The council now needs to revise its Climate Change Strategy, in consultation with partner 

organisations, residents, and businesses.  The council needs young people to inform the 
updated strategy, and propose to form a Youth Climate Panel alongside asking schools to 
engage their students on this important issue.  The council’s Monitoring Officer and Head of 
Democratic Services have been consulted on the draft Terms of Reference for the Youth 
Climate Panel, which are attached for comment (Annex 2).

28. Following the consultation engagement, the campaign needs to raise awareness of the work 
the council is doing to tackle climate change/carbon emissions.  The campaign also needs to 
use this as an opportunity to influence behaviours of all audiences, demonstrating these 
points.

29. Because of the emergency statement and urgent need to act there is a very tight timeline over 
which to draft, consult on and amend the Climate Change Strategy in time to be considered 
alongside the council’s budget setting process.  The draft budget will be approved for public 
consultation by cabinet in December, for agreement by County Council in February 2020.

Page 374

https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/other-planning-and-environment-matters/gloucestershire-climate-change-summit-2019/


Ye
ar

 0
Yr

s 
1-

5

30. The proposed timeline for developing and implementing the strategy is shown in Figure 1.

May 2019  
Declaration, 

Summit 

Jul-Aug 2019 
Consultation, set 

up Youth 
Climate Panel

September 2019 
Draft strategy & 

action plan

November 2019 
Cabinet approval

Nov - Mar 2020 
Implement Yr0
Develop Yr 1 
action plan

2020/21
Implement Yr1, 
report & review

Develop Yr 2

2021/22
Implement Yr2, 
report & review

Develop Yr 3

2022/23
Implement Yr3, 
report & review

Develop Yr 4

2023/24
Implement Yr4, report 
& review, Develop Yr 5,

Draft new strategy

2024/25
Implement Yr5, Consult 
& adopt new strategy 

2025/26-2030/1

Figure 1: Proposed timeline for action, 2019/20 to 2024/25
Options

i. Do nothing – having declared a climate emergency and held a very successful summit, the 
council will lose credibility and be heavily criticised if it does not meet public expectation and 
be seen to act relatively quickly.

ii. Develop the strategy but without sufficient resources or real appetite for change – this will 
appear as tokenism, significantly undermining the council’s reputation and achieving little 
effect.

iii. Doing it properly – doing the best we possibly can within the resources available to bring 
about the required changes, working with others to secure additional resources, developing 
a detailed strategy and ongoing 5-year programme, where members can see what we are 
doing and is transparent to the community.

Risk Assessment
31. Having declared a climate emergency and held a very successful summit, the council will be 

heavily criticised if it does not meet public expectation and be seen to act relatively quickly.   
The third option ‘Doing it properly’ is the approach being taken – officers will draw up a 
detailed action plan for year 1 urgently, with headline actions for years 2-5 to be worked up.

Equalities considerations
32. There are no direct equalities implications arising from the recommendations of this report.  

However, climate change has the potential for significant implications for people’s health, 
wellbeing and safety; particularly for those on low incomes, vulnerable people especially the 
young and the elderly, and people with additional learning, physical and mental needs.  There 
is also the need to ensure effective engagement of all demographic groups.

Consultation feedback
33. The contents of this report will have been considered at Environment Scrutiny Committee on 

17 July.  At the time of writing this report the Environment Scrutiny meeting had not been held.  
Subject to the outcome of the Scrutiny meeting a verbal update may be provided by the 
cabinet member for Planning and Environment.

34. The council’s Monitoring Officer and Head of Democratic Services have been consulted on the 
draft Terms of Reference for the Youth Climate Panel (Annex 2).

Performance Management/Follow-up 
35. It is intended to produce a 5 year action plan to be updated annually, giving a rolling 

programme.  At the time of that update a full report will be given on the performance on the 
previous year’s action identified in the action plan and the outcomes achieved.

36. We will publicly report the council’s and Gloucestershire’s performance at least annually, to 
Environment Scrutiny Committee, on the council’s website and to Government.

Page 375



Title Responding to the Climate Emergency:
Gloucestershire Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25

Statutory Authority Education, Highways, Lead Local Flood, Public Health, 
Strategic Planning, Transport, Waste Disposal.

Relevant County Council 
policy

Corporate Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan, July 2008
Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, 2014
Local Transport Plan 2015-2031, 2016 (being revised)
Looking to the Future 2019-2022, 2018
Climate Change Emissions Reduction Pledge, 2018
Air Quality Strategy, 2019
Motion 836 – Carbon action plan motion, 2019

Sustainability checklist:
Partnerships Significant partnership working will be required to develop the 

action plan and deliver the strategy.
Decision Making and 
Involvement

The Cabinet will consider the future formulation of the strategy 
and the Council will determine the overall financial implications 
as part of the budget setting process.

Economy and Employment Significant positive implications for growing the low carbon 
economy in Gloucestershire and improving its resilience. 

Caring for people Reduced fuel poverty and better public health, from reduced 
emissions and better air quality, and improved resilience to the 
impacts of a changing climate, especially for vulnerable people.

Social Value Maximise the social, economic and environmental benefits to 
the local area from carbon reduction and climate resilience.

Built Environment Improved Green Infrastructure and climate resilience.

Natural Environment’ 
including Ecology 
(Biodiversity)

Improved Green Infrastructure and climate resilience.

Education and Information Establish Youth Climate Panel and schools engagement.

Tackling Climate Change Carbon Emissions Implications? Positive
Vulnerable to climate change? No; will improve resilience

Human rights Implications There are no direct implications arising from this report.  
However, the global impacts of climate change and likely 
conflicts over scarce resources (e.g. fresh water) are expected 
to result in significant population displacement (climate 
refugees), and risks of exploitation and human rights violations.

Consultation 
Arrangements

Public consultation will take place over July and August 2019, 
including setting up the Youth Climate Panel, followed by 
schools engagement in September 2019.

Page 376



Annex 1

Background Documents
Gloucestershire reports:
Cabinet (6 June 2007), Carbon Management Strategy Implementation Plan and 
Nottingham Declaration on Climate Change, Gloucestershire County Council.
Cabinet (9 July 2008), Corporate Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan: 
Responding to Climate Change, Gloucestershire County Council.
Cabinet (6 April 2011), Carbon Management Action Plan (Climate Change and Meeting 
the Challenge), Gloucestershire County Council.
Cabinet (2 February 2014), Local Flood Risk Management Strategy, Gloucestershire 
County Council.
County Council (29 June 2016), Local Transport Plan 2015-2031, Gloucestershire 
County Council.
County Council (14 February 2018), Minutes, 7. “Policy and Budget Framework - 
Medium Term Financial Strategy and the Council Strategy”, Gloucestershire County 
Council.
Cabinet (18 July 2018), Energy Procurement (Gloucestershire County Council Estate 
and Schools), Gloucestershire County Council.
Cabinet (6 June 2018), Air Pollution Scrutiny Task Group, Gloucestershire County 
Council.
Leadership Gloucestershire (22 October 2018), Gloucestershire Vision 2050 
Concordat.
Gloucestershire County Council (November 2018), Looking to the Future 2019-2022.
Cabinet (19 December 2018), Climate Change Government Emissions Reduction 
Pledge, Gloucestershire County Council.
GFirst Local Enterprise Partnership (January 2019), Gloucestershire Sustainable 
Energy Strategy.
Gloucestershire Health & Wellbeing Board (14 May 2019), Air Quality Strategy, 
Gloucestershire County Council.
County Council minutes (15 May 2019), Motion 836 – Carbon action plan motion, 
Gloucestershire County Council.
Gloucestershire County Council (21 May 2019), Gloucestershire Climate Change 
Summit, notes and presentations.
Other key documents:
HM Government (November 2008), Climate Change Act 2008
HM Government (April 2010), Flood & Water Management Act 2010
HM Government (2017), The Clean Growth Strategy.
UN Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (October 2018), Special Report: 
Global Warming of 1.5°C.
Department for Business, Energy & Industrial Strategy (April 2018), Emissions 
reduction pledge 2020: emissions reporting in public and higher education sectors.

Page 377

http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CeConvert2PDF.aspx?MID=4995&F=CARBON%20MANAGEMENT%20STRATEGY%20IMPLEMENTATION%20PLAN%20AND%20NOTTINGHAM%20DECLARATION%20ON%20CLIMATE%20CHANGE.pdf&A=1&R=0
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/CeConvert2PDF.aspx?MID=4995&F=CARBON%20MANAGEMENT%20STRATEGY%20IMPLEMENTATION%20PLAN%20AND%20NOTTINGHAM%20DECLARATION%20ON%20CLIMATE%20CHANGE.pdf&A=1&R=0
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/other-planning-and-environment-matters/environment-strategies/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/other-planning-and-environment-matters/environment-strategies/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=216
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=216
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=498
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=333&MId=8124&Ver=4
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g8880/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2014-Feb-2018%2010.00%20County%20Council.pdf?T=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g8880/Printed%20minutes%20Wednesday%2014-Feb-2018%2010.00%20County%20Council.pdf?T=1
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=21269
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?AIId=21269
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=20749
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083983/gloucestershire-2050-concordat.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/media/2083983/gloucestershire-2050-concordat.pdf
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/council-and-democracy/corporate-plans-and-strategies/looking-to-the-future-new-council-strategy/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1211
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieDecisionDetails.aspx?ID=1211
https://www.gfirstlep.com/about-us/our-vision-gloucestershire-energy-strategy/
https://www.gfirstlep.com/about-us/our-vision-gloucestershire-energy-strategy/
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=653&MId=9031&Ver=4http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/s52342/Health%20and%20wellbeing%20Board%20paper%20-%20Air%20quality%20and%20health%20FINAL%20-%20May%202019.pdf
http://glostext.gloucestershire.gov.uk/documents/g9141/Public%20minutes%20Wednesday%2015-May-2019%2010.00%20County%20Council.pdf?T=11
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/other-planning-and-environment-matters/gloucestershire-climate-change-summit-2019/
https://www.gloucestershire.gov.uk/planning-and-environment/other-planning-and-environment-matters/gloucestershire-climate-change-summit-2019/
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2008/27/contents
http://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2010/29/contents/enacted
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/clean-growth-strategy
https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
https://www.ipcc.ch/sr15/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/emissions-reduction-pledge-2020-emissions-reporting-in-public-and-higher-education-sectors
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/emissions-reduction-pledge-2020-emissions-reporting-in-public-and-higher-education-sectors


Annex 1

UN Intergovernmental Science-Policy Platform on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services 
(May 2019), Global Assessment on Biodiversity and Ecosystem Services.
Committee on Climate Change (May 2019), Net Zero – The UK’s contribution to 
stopping global warming.
ADEPT, Defra and Local Adaptation Advisory Panel (June 2019), Preparing for a 
changing climate: Good Practice Guidance for Local Government.
Committee on Climate Change (July 2019), Reducing UK emissions – 2019 Progress 
Report to Parliament.
Committee on Climate Change (July 2019), Progress in preparing for climate change – 
2019 Progress Report to Parliament.

Page 378

https://www.ipbes.net/global-assessment-report-biodiversity-ecosystem-services
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/net-zero-the-uks-contribution-to-stopping-global-warming/
https://adeptnet.org.uk/system/files/documents/Good%20Practice%20Guide%20ADEPT%202019f.pdf
https://adeptnet.org.uk/system/files/documents/Good%20Practice%20Guide%20ADEPT%202019f.pdf
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-uk-emissions-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/reducing-uk-emissions-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/
https://www.theccc.org.uk/publication/progress-in-preparing-for-climate-change-2019-progress-report-to-parliament/


Annex 2

Youth Climate Panel
Terms of Reference (draft)
Vision 
The Youth Climate Panel will help to bring about a low carbon, resilient and attractive 
Gloucestershire where all people are proud to live.

Values 
 Accountability – we do what we say we will

 Integrity – we are honest, fair and speak up.  We will keep each other’s personal 
information confidential.

 Empowerment – we enable communities and each other to be the best they/ we can

 Respect – we value and listen to each other

 Excellence – we continually improve through listening, learning and innovation

1. Purpose of Group 
1.1. The purpose of the Youth Climate Panel is to:

 Give young people a voice on climate change issues, giving members the platform to 
influence and have their say on how we respond to the climate emergency together.

 Give Gloucestershire County Council feedback on their draft Climate Change Strategy.

 Give young people insight on how Leadership Gloucestershire organisations will tackle 
climate change issues. 

 Help Gloucestershire County Council fulfil its climate commitments; working with 
partners to collectively reduce Gloucestershire’s carbon emissions by 80 per cent by 
2030, when compared to 2005, and secure a carbon neutral (net zero) county by 2050. 

 Assist the council to empower residents to take action on Climate Change, providing 
insight into how to encourage people to take responsibility for their behaviours.

2. Terms of Reference 
2.1. The Youth Climate Panel will: 

 Promote and provide opportunities for young people to learn, engage and give feedback 
on climate change issues.

 Provide a forum to consult young people and raise ideas about improvements to the 
draft Climate Change Strategy 2020 – 2025 and action plan.

 Act as ambassadors for the actions which the council and partner organisations are 
taking regarding climate change issues, and carbon neutral plans. 

 Establish links with other community groups and external agencies representing young 
people

 Promote and demonstrate low carbon behaviours in their daily lives as much as 
possible  

Page 379



Annex 2

3. Membership 
 The Youth Climate Panel will be made up of 30 young people, ideally five from each 

district across the county.

 All Youth Climate Panel members will be aged between 16 and 25 years. 

 All panel members will be expected to attend at least one face to face meeting with 
council officers, and respond to emails regarding meeting arrangements and actions. 

 These positions will be held for a maximum of 2 years. 

 Members will advocate for Gloucestershire’s young people, representing thoughts and 
ambitions of the county’s younger generation. 

 We will seek to secure a diverse membership, as representative as possible of the 
demographics of young people in the county.

4. How the Panel will function
 Council officers will endeavour to arrange meetings for the panel in central and 

convenient locations for its members.

 Inductions will be face to face, and will take place in each of the district areas to make 
sure all members have access to this face to face briefing with council officers

 Training and development for specific panel roles will be agreed as needed, for 
example, chairing meetings effectively. 

 Council officers will seek to minimise the need to travel by utilising video conferencing 
facilities and social media such as WhatsApp and Facebook.

 Reasonable expenses to attend meetings will be covered. Members will be provided 
with a bus travel card. If meetings take place for three hours or more refreshments will 
be provided by the council. 

 A Gloucestershire Youth Council is being created and the mechanisms for this are still 
being agreed. 

5. Role Descriptions 
5.1. If the panel feel they are required, all roles have the following activities as part of their 
responsibilities: 

 Attend & contribute to meetings 

 Educate and raise awareness of related issues 

 Act as a role model, lead, support and guide fellow panel members 

 Be a public face of the Youth Climate Panel, taking part in promotion for the council 
where appropriate. Personal details will not be available to the public.

5.2. In addition to the above, individual roles have specific responsibilities as follows: 

5.2.1. Chair/Co-Chair 

 Direct and lead the panel, and act as the group’s representative with the council and 
senior leaders. This may also involve negotiating a successful conclusion to issues 
raised; 

 Agree a work program for the panel for the next year

Page 380



Annex 2

 Provide council officers with monthly/regular updates on the panel’s activities and 
actions

 Lead the feedback on the council’s Climate Change Strategy and Action Plan

 Chair meetings and represent the panel at key events and meetings with the council 
and partners, for example attending Environment Scrutiny Committee or presenting to 
Leadership Gloucestershire.

 Advise, guide and assist the council in securing views which are representative of 
Gloucestershire’s young people 

 Act as the Panel’s point of contact and attend/facilitate meetings & events; and 

 Answer queries and review & respond to relevant papers. 

5.2.2. Vice Chair 

 Co-ordinate & lead projects and events as required; 

 Support chair to produce feedback

 Support communications to the panel members; and 

 To deputise for the Chair. 

5.2.5. Secretary 

 Liaising with panel members and council officers to plan meetings 

 Circulating agendas and notes 

 Producing notes 

 Making sure agreed actions are carried out by panel members

 Make sure the group is governed and meetings are run according to agreed Terms of 
Reference 

6. Accountability 
6.1. The council will form the Panel and take part in initial governance and guidance. The 
longer term aim is for the panel to be a self-determined and self-sustaining group.
6.2. The Youth Climate Panel shall, at all times, be accountable to Gloucestershire County 
Council.
6.3. Panel meeting minutes will be made available upon request to any council officer. All 
other panel documentation will also be made available upon request. 

July 2019

Page 381



Annex 3

#glosclimate

GLOUCESTERSHIRE COUNTY COUNCIL COMMITS TO BECOMING 
CARBON NEUTRAL BY 2030 (Motion 836: 15.05.19)

Gloucestershire County Council will play its part in global carbon reduction following a 
motion on climate change, which was unanimously supported at Full Council on 15th 
May 2019.

As part of the motion, councillors agreed to:
 Welcome and endorse on behalf of Gloucestershire the declaration of a climate 

change emergency by parliament on behalf of the UK and urge other countries to do 
the same.

 Commit towards an 80 per cent reduction in the council`s corporate carbon 
emissions no later than 2030, striving towards 100 per cent with carbon offsetting by 
the same date.

 Commit the council to following the scientific advice of the Committee on Climate 
Change, and deliver a carbon neutral county by 2050, and work with partners to 
identify what measures would be needed to deliver a stepped target of 80 per cent 
carbon reduction by 2030 to reflect the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change 
(IPCC) report on climate change.

 To call on Central Government to provide additional powers and resources to 
support local and national action towards this 2030 target.

 Lobby national government to commit to 100 per cent carbon neutrality by 2050.
 Consider contracts going forward to oblige all contractors to report their carbon 

emissions and to place a ‘carbon/environmental cost’ on competing bids.
 Do all in the council’s power to adopt, implement and strengthen the 

Gloucestershire Sustainable Energy Strategy.
 Ensure that the council’s major plans, such as the local transport plan, have clearly 

identified strategies to reduce carbon emissions. 
 Work with district and borough councils to reduce the districts’ carbon footprint 

within their corporate strategies.
 Provide an annual report to the Environment Committee, with a performance update 

on a quarterly basis to the relevant committees including details of the resources 
required to meet the council’s 2030 carbon neutral target.

It was also agreed that this Council notes:
 That humans have already caused irreversible climate change, the impacts of which 

are being felt around the world.
 That global temperatures have already increased by 1°C from pre-industrial levels 

and atmospheric CO2 far exceeds levels deemed to be safe for humanity.
 The Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change (IPCC) special report on global 

warming of 1.5°C, published in January 2019, which tells us that limiting Global 
Warming to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action from national and sub-
national authorities, civil society, the private sector, indigenous peoples and local 
communities.

 That the world is on track to overshoot the Paris Agreement’s 1.5°C limit before 
2050.

Page 382



Annex 3

#glosclimate

 That the consequences of global temperature rising above 1.5°C are so severe that 
preventing this from happening must be humanity’s number one priority.

And that the Council further notes that:
 The UK is responsible for 1% of the world’s CO2 emissions, and whilst we have 

reduced those emissions more than any other developed country, this council notes 
that without global action we will not succeed.

 New Zealand, France, Belgium, Denmark, France, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, 
Portugal, Spain and Sweden have all committed to zero carbon by 2050.

 This is the recommended position of the independent Committee on Climate 
Change.

 This is the position of parliament, as first laid out by Alex Chalk MP, and later 
supported by Jeremy Corbyn MP in an opposition day debate last month.

 The IPCC has acknowledged that we must immediately reduce the amount of 
carbon emissions by 2030.

 Gloucestershire County Council recently appointed a Cabinet Member with specific 
responsibilities tied to climate change.

 Gloucestershire County Council is on target to reduce corporate carbon emissions 
by 60% by 2020/21 against its 2006/07 baseline.

 Bold climate action can deliver economic benefits Councils around the world are 
responding by declaring a ‘Climate Emergency’ and committing resources to 
address this emergency.

 The UK Parliament has recognised the climate emergency 
 The County Council has a leadership role, along with other public sector bodies, in 

reducing Carbon emissions across the whole county.

Next steps:
The Council has committed to revising its existing Climate Change Strategy & Action 
Plan, building on the outcomes from the Climate Change Summit, 21st May 2019:
 Draft Strategy by July 2019
 Public consultation, summer 2019
 Cabinet, for approval provisionally October 2019
 Inform the Council budget setting process up to February 2020

For more information contact:
glosclimate@gloucestershire.gov.uk 
#glosclimate

Page 383

mailto:glosclimate@gloucestershire.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	5 Financial Monitoring Report 2019/20
	5. Appendix A (Skillzone)

	6 To Consider the Future Provision of Care Homes in Gloucestershire and the Relevant Consultation
	Annex 1 GCP Estate May 19 (2)
	Annex 2 Southfield Care Home CQC report august 2017
	Annex 3 Wyatt House CQC report July 2018
	Annex 4 Southfield and Wyatt House Resident and Carer Engagement Report
	Annex 5 Evolving Communities Engagement Report EC Final2
	Annex 6 Stroud Care Homes  Data 01.07

	7 Delivery of Structural Maintenance Works 2020-2022
	8 Children and Families Capital Programme Update
	9 Targeted Family Support in Children and Family Centre Contract Extension
	Due Regard Statement Targeted Family Support Service Tewkesbury
	Due Regard Statement Targeted Family Support Service Stroud
	Due Regard Statement Targeted Family Support Service Gloucester City
	Due Regard Statement Targeted Family Support Service Forest of Dean
	Due Regard Statement Targeted Family Support Service - Cheltenham

	10 Establishing a Dynamic Purchasing System for the Procurement of Transport Contracts
	Due Regard Statement Establishing a dynamic purchasing system for the procurement of transport contracts

	11 Tender and Award of Transport Contracts under the Dynamic Purchasing System for Transport
	11. Table 1
	11. Table 2

	12 Commissioning of a Positive Behaviour Support Service for Children and Young People with a Learning Disability/Autism
	Due Regard Statement Positive Behaviour Support Service SIB

	13 A38/A419 Whitminster Roundabout Bridges and Canal Improvements (Contract Procurement and Ancillary Orders)
	13. Appendix A - Map

	14 Responding to the Climate Emergency: Draft Climate Change Strategy 2019/20 to 2024/25

